UNIVERSITY OF COPENHAGEN FACULTY OF HEALTH AND MEDICAL SCIENCES



PhD Thesis

Thea Helene Degett

Short-term outcome after acute colorectal cancer surgery -risk factors and prediction



Supervisors: Ismail Gögenur Lene Hjerrild Iversen Susanne Oksbjerg Dalton

This thesis has been submitted to the Graduate School of Health and Medical Sciences, University of Copenhagen. Submission date: 28.02.2019

REGION ZEALAND





Acknowledgements

I would like to thank my supervisors Ismail Gögenur, Lene Iversen and Susanne Dalton for being a continuous support throughout my PhD programme. Each of you have been a true academic and personal inspiration to me. Your diverse competences, professionalism and eager for creating important research has been the fundament of an extraordinary supervisor team. I admire all the work you do to improve the treatment of your patients both as doctors and as researchers. I sincerely hope for future clinical and academic collaboration.

During the last three years, I have been a part of two incredible research groups. I would like to thank all my colleges at Centre for Surgical Science and the Survivorship Unit for inspiring academic discussions, support on any level and for a fun social work-life. A special thanks to Ida Rask Moustsen for always being loving, supportive and wise.

I would like to thank the co-authors Jane Christensen, Ole Roikjær, Kristine Bossen, Jes Søgaard, Linda Aagaard Thomsen and Kirsten Frederiksen for their academic contributions to this thesis. Big thanks to Rasmus Bojesen for illustrating the front-page and figure 1, and to Nanna Volqvartz and Trille Kjær for great help.

I would also like to thank the Danish Cancer Society for financial support and the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group for letting me use the comprehensive database. Also thanks to the Department of Surgery at Zealand University Hospital.

Last, but not least, a special thanks to my beloved partner Lars for your curiosity, support and patience, and to my mother, father and sister for lifelong support and for believing in me.

Thea Helene Degett, February 2019

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	LIST OF PUBLICATIONS	4
2.	LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS	5
3.	INTRODUCTION	6
4.	BACKGROUND	8
	4.1 COLORECTAL CANCER	
	4.2 Acute colorectal cancer surgery	
	4.3 SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION	
	4.4 PREDICTION MODELS	
	4.5 DEVELOPMENT OF A PREDICTION MODEL	
5.	OBJECTIVE OF THE THESIS	
6.	METHODS	14
	6.1 DATA SOURCES (STUDY I-IV)	
	6.2 Setting (study I-IV)	
	6.3 DEFINITION OF ACUTE COLORECTAL CANCER SURGERY (STUDY II, III AND IV)	
	6.4 POPULATION SELECTION (STUDY I-IV)	
	6.5 INDICATORS FOR SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION (STUDY III)	
	6.6 PREDICTION MODELS (STUDY I AND IV)	
	6.7 STATISTICS	
7.	ETHICS	23
7. 8.	ETHICS RESULTS	23
7. 8.	ETHICS	
7. 8.	ETHICS	
7. 8.	ETHICS	23 24 24 27 30
7. 8.	ETHICS	23 24 24 27 30 33
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY II 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN.	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36 36
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY II 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN. 9.2 ACUTE ABDOMINAL SURGERY.	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36 36 38
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY III 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN. 9.2 ACUTE ABDOMINAL SURGERY. 9.3 SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 33 36 36 38 40
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY II 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN. 9.2 ACUTE ABDOMINAL SURGERY. 9.3 SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION 9.4 PREDICTION MODELS.	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 33 36 36 38 40 40
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY III 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN. 9.2 ACUTE ABDOMINAL SURGERY. 9.3 SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION 9.4 PREDICTION MODELS. 9.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36 36 38 40 40 40
7. 8. 9.	ETHICS RESULTS 8.1 STUDY I 8.2 STUDY II 8.3 STUDY II 8.4 STUDY IV DISCUSSION 9.1 BIAS DUE TO THE OBSERVATIONAL STUDY DESIGN. 9.2 ACUTE ABDOMINAL SURGERY 9.3 SOCIOECONOMIC POSITION 9.4 PREDICTION MODELS. 9.5 FUTURE PERSPECTIVES 0. CONCLUSION	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 33 36 36 38 40 40 41 41 42
 7. 8. 9. 10 11 	ETHICS RESULTS	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 33 36 36 38 40 40 40 41 41 42 43
 7. 8. 9. 10 11 12 	ETHICS	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36 36 36 36 38 40 40 40 41 41 42 43 43
 7. 8. 9. 10 11 12 13 	ETHICS RESULTS	23 24 24 27 30 33 33 36 36 36 38 40 40 40 41 41 42 42 43 43 45 47

1. List of publications

The following manuscripts are included in the thesis

Study I

Degett TH, Roikjær O, Iversen LH, Gögenur I. A model predicting operative mortality in the UK has only limited value in Denmark. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2018 33:141-147.

Study II

Degett TH, Dalton SO, Christensen J, Søgaard J, Iversen LH, Gögenur I. Mortality after emergency treatment of colorectal cancer and associated risk factors -a nationwide cohort study. Int J Colorectal Dis. 2019 34:85-95

Study III

Degett TH, Christensen J, Thomsen LA, Iversen LH, Gögenur I, Dalton SO. A nationwide cohort study of the impact of education, income and social isolation on survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. Submitted BJS open

Study IV

Degett TH, Christensen J, Dalton SO, Bossen K, Frederiksen K, Iversen LH, Gögenur I. Prediction of postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer – development and validation of a prediction model.

2. List of abbreviations

ACPGBI: Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland AIC: Akaike Information Criterion APE: Abdominoperineal excision ASA: American Society of Anaesthesiologists BMI: Body mass index CCI: Charlson Comorbidity Index CI: Confidence interval CRS: Civil Registration System DCCG.dk: Danish Colorectal Cancer Group DAG: Directed Acyclic Graph EWS: Early Warning Score ERAS: Enhanced Recovery After Surgery HR: Hazard Ratio MAR: Missing At Random MCAR: Missing Completely at Random MNAR: Missing Not At Random NCEPOD: National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death NPR: National Patient Registry OR: Odds Ratio POSSUM: Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the enumeration of Mortality and morbidity P-POSSUM: Portsmouth-POSSUM **CR-POSSUM:** Colorectal-POSSUM SEMS: Self-expanding Metallic Stent UICC: Union for International Cancer Control

3. Introduction

Colorectal cancer is a major global health problem with an annual incidence of 1.7 million worldwide [1]. Around 6.3 million people in the world live with colorectal cancer which is the second most diagnosed cancer estimated to have caused around 860,000 deaths in 2018 [1, 2]. It is also a disease associated with a high rate of morbidity and loss of healthy life years [3]. In Denmark, 4856 patients were diagnosed with colorectal cancer in 2017, and 3649 patients underwent surgery [4]. In some patients, the disease presents with acute symptoms caused by perforation, obstructions or bleeding, *Figure 1* [5, 6]. Of all patients operated for colorectal cancer, between 10%-30% present with acute symptoms of the disease; a life-threatening condition [7-12].



Figure 1. Acute presentation of colorectal cancer is caused by perforation, obstruction, or bleeding.

The postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery varies from 6%-22% [7, 10, 12-15]. In Denmark, the 30-day and 90-day mortality after acute surgery for colorectal cancer was 11% and 21% in 2016, respectively [8]. Compared with elective surgery, the 30-day and 90-day postoperative mortality was only 1.4% and 3% [8]. The risk of postoperative complications is also increased in acute surgery compared with elective surgery, and medical complications after acute surgery are highly correlated to postoperative mortality [10, 14]. In the long-term perspective, acute surgery is associated with lower overall survival, disease-free survival, and higher rate of recurrence of the cancer disease [10, 16-18]. Previous studies have found that patients with low social economic status have a higher risk of acute surgery compared with elective surgery compared with elective surgery acute surgery for colorectal cancer [19]. This PhD study was initiated to

improve knowledge about the acutely operated patients with colorectal cancer. Even though it is a relatively small group of patients, their risk of postoperative mortality is high and the literature lacked larger studies focusing on this patient group only.

Overall survival after colorectal cancer has improved over the last 10 years both on short- and long-term basis [4, 20-22]. However, the postoperative mortality rate remains high after acute surgery and continuous focus on how to improve survival is important. Prediction models could be useful to help physicians identify patients at high risk of postoperative mortality. The word prediction means to forecast a future event and knowing the operative mortality risk after colorectal cancer surgery has several benefits [23, 24]. First, it is a tool to strengthen the physician's clinical decision-making and not a substitute for medical knowledge and experience [23, 25, 26]. If the surgeon knows the absolute operative risk of an acute surgical procedure, it could influence the choice of timing of surgery, surgical approach, perioperative care, postoperative care, and follow-up. Furthermore, the estimated prediction of an event can help the patient understand the critical circumstances and strengthen shared decision-making. Prediction models can also help comparing outcome at different hospitals adjusted for case mix [23, 25-27].

4. Background

4.1 Colorectal cancer

Colorectal cancer is defined as malignant tumours in the colon or rectum, distributed on approximately 2/3 and 1/3 of diagnosed patients, respectively [22]. About 95% of the colorectal tumours are adenocarcinomas from glandular epithelium. In Denmark, 46% of patients with colon cancer and 37% of patients with rectal cancer are women [8]. The median age for the diagnosis of colon cancer is 72 years and 69 years for rectal cancer [8].

4.2 Acute colorectal cancer surgery

Acute colorectal cancer surgery in this thesis is defined as primary surgery of undiagnosed cancer due to obstruction, perforation, or bleeding. This is based on the definition in the primary data source in this thesis, the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) database [28, 29]. Only since 2014, is has been obligatory for the surgeon to register the intended time from decision to initiation of the acute surgical procedure with the options <6 hours or <36 hours in the database. In the UK, the National Confidential Enquiry into Patient Outcome and Death (NCEPOD) strictly defines acute surgery in two categories [30]. Immediate surgery is life, limb, or organ-saving and usually carried out within minutes of decision to operate [30]. Urgent surgery is performed in potentially life-threatening conditions within hours of decision to operate [30]. In a retrospective Swedish study, 40% of all patients registered with acute colorectal cancer surgery had the procedure more than three days after decision to operate [31]. These differences imply the importance of a well-defined terminology of acute colorectal cancer surgery, both in terms of symptoms and time from decision to initiation of the surgical procedure.

Surgical treatment of colorectal cancer presenting acutely depends on the symptoms and clinical condition. The most common symptom is tumour obstruction occurring in around 70%-80% of all acute onsets and is often located in the distal colon [7, 32-34]. Left-sided obstructive tumours are treated with either a diverting stoma, self-expanding metallic stent (SEMS), or bowel resection with primary anastomosis or end colostomy (Harman's procedure) [5, 35]. Meta-analysis of randomized, controlled trials have not shown differences in short or long-term survival comparing surgical resection with SEMS or diverting stoma [36, 37]. In right-sided obstruction, the most common surgical treatment is resection with primary anastomosis but SEMS is also an option; if technically possible [38]. Limited evidence show that there might be worse long-term oncological outcome with an

increased risk of recurrence after SEMS [39-41]. This should be kept in mind in younger patients with obstructive, non-metastatic disease. Perforation of the bowel is the second most common cause of acute surgery and associated with a high postoperative mortality risk and an increased risk of local recurrence [6, 14]. Treatment with SEMS is contraindicated in patients with perforation [5].

The pathophysiological mechanisms leading to development of colorectal cancer as an acute condition is not comprehensive [5, 42]. A diagnosis with acute symptoms can be interpreted as a result of delay in diagnosis of the disease; further divided into patient-related delay, disease-related delay or healthcare-related delay, and subsequently increased time for tumour progression, *Figure 2* [42, 43]. The patient's appraisal and management of symptoms may affect the delay [43]. Patient delay, also known as the patient interval, is the time between the patient's first notification of a symptom and first doctor consultancy [43-45]. In colorectal cancer, the most common reason for patient delay is not recognizing the seriousness of the first symptoms such as altered bowel habits and rectal bleeding [44]. Lack of knowledge about cancer symptoms, denial of symptoms, and fear of a cancer disease also prolong patient delay [44, 46]. Low educational level and living in rural areas are associated with increased patient delay in colorectal cancer patients, while having social support and comorbidities are associated with short patient delay [44, 47, 48]. Other known barriers to seeking healthcare include negative thoughts about cancer, e.g. cancer is a death sentence, worry about what the doctor might find, and worry about wasting the doctor's time [48, 49].



Figure 2. Possible mechanisms leading to acute colorectal cancer surgery.

The tumour itself is also suggested to be important in acute presentation of cancer due to variation in aggressiveness in tumour subtypes. Previous studies have shown that acute presentation of colorectal cancer is associated with high-grade tumours and advanced Union for International Cancer Control (IUCC) stage at the time of diagnosis compared with colorectal cancers electively operated [9, 10, 50]. Access to general healthcare could also affect the risk of having acute presentation of cancer due to delay in diagnosis and treatment. In colorectal cancer, tumours are thought to grow slowly and previous literature did not find an association between neither diagnostic nor treatment delay and overall survival [51-53].

Acute colorectal cancer surgery is associated with increased risk of short-term mortality and postoperative complications, both medical and surgical [10, 12, 14]. In addition, long-term prognosis is inferior after acute surgery with decreased long-term overall survival, decreased disease-free survival and increased risk of recurrence compared with elective surgery [10, 16-18]. Acute surgery also reduces the chances of getting the golden standard surgical and oncological treatment with removal of more than 12 lymph nodes and oncological treatment before or after surgery, if indicated [10, 29, 54, 55].

4.3 Socioeconomic position

Low socioeconomic position is associated with a higher risk of acute colorectal cancer surgery [56]. Socioeconomic position can be defined as a concept that aggregates both resource-based and prestige-based measures and refers to the position an individual or a group holds in the society [57, 58]. Measurements of socioeconomic position should not be interpreted as a risk factor, but rather interconnected pathways that help or harm health status in individuals or groups [57]. Different exogenous exposures can affect health such as living standards, social and psychological relations at work, at home or in society [57]. Some of the common measures of socioeconomic position are educational level and income [58]. Ten years ago, a Danish study showed that high income, high educational level and living in an owner-occupied versus rental housing were associated with improved 30-day mortality after elective colorectal cancer surgery [59]. The last 10 years, differences in 5-years relative survival from colorectal cancer between individuals with high and low socioeconomic position has increased to approximately 10%-units in Denmark [60]. Furthermore, a Danish study showed that individuals in the low-income groups with short educational level, unemployed persons, and non-western immigrants were less likely to join the screening programme for colorectal cancer [61]. Diagnosis via screening might improve the chances of having an early-diagnosed cancer and prevent acute presentation of the disease [4, 11]. In a

Swedish study, short education was associated with a decrease in five-year survival after colorectal cancer surgery [62]. The same association of socioeconomic position on long-term outcome has been investigated in the US where living in areas with a high poverty rate and being African-American are associated with a higher risk of acute surgery [9]. Another US study found an association between being African-American and presentation of more advance disease in colorectal cancer [19]. Results from a systematic review reported a global problem with increased mortality rate from colorectal cancer in individuals with low socioeconomic position [63].

4.4 Prediction models

With a prediction model, it is possible to estimate the absolute risk of a specific outcome based on several predictor variables [23, 64]. The main purpose of a prediction model is to help physicians in clinical, shared decision-making and give an objective estimation of e.g. the surgical risk [64]. Using prediction models in decision-making is not routinely applied in colorectal cancer [35, 65, 66]. In other medical specializations, prediction models are used as a tool to direct treatment strategies and guidelines. An example is the CHA₂DS₂-VASc score recommended worldwide to predict the risk of ischemic stroke in patients with atrial fibrillation [67, 68]. The Apgar score is widely used in new-borns to guide the health professionals in the level of monitoring and resuscitation [69]. Before initiating the studies included in this PhD, the author group made an overview of existing models predicting postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery [70]. A systematic review evaluated the use of the Physiological and Operative Severity Score for the enumeration of Mortality and morbidity (POSSUM) model and its modification colorectal (CR-POSSUM) and Portsmouth (P-POSSUM) models in the literature to predict the postoperative mortality and morbidity risk in colorectal cancer surgery [71]. The P-POSSUM model performed well with a rate of observed and estimated risk of 0.90 (95% CI: 0.88-0.92) [71]. Unfortunately, it was not possible to evaluate the performance of the POSSUM models with available data due to lack of data on predictor variables in the DCCG.dk database. In US, the Cleveland Clinic Foundation had also developed a promising model to predict 30-day mortality postoperatively that was not possible to validate with the DCCG.dk database [72]. The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI) model was developed in 2003 to predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery [24] and in 2007, the association updated the model [73]. All data in the original and revised ACPGBI model was available in the DCCG.dk database and the model was validated in study I.

4.5 Development of a prediction model

It is unlikely that one single variable can predict an outcome and a multivariable approach is essential when creating a prediction model [64]. In the development of a prediction model, the first consideration is how the model is to be used and the clinical context, e.g. if the model is not automatically retracting data from the patient file, the number of variables has to be limited to achieve compliance from physicians using it [74]. It is also essential that the predicted outcome in the model is important for the patient and not a proxy for an outcome the patients cannot relate to [64]. Prediction models deviate from classical epidemiological research in various ways. All variables that adds predictive value to the model could be included. If two variables describe comorbidity in two different ways and both add predictive value to the model, they could both be included. In prediction, no apriori assumption of causal inference is needed for a predictor to be included. However, if a changeable predictor variable is to change the risk of a predicted outcome there has to be a causal relation between the predictor variable and the outcome. E.g. if exercise before surgery might be a good predictor for postoperative survival, implementation of exercise before surgery will only change the risk of postoperative death if the exercise has an impact on survival. The appropriate statistical method in development of a prediction model depends on the outcome. Logistic regression is used in models with binary outcomes [75]. For time-to-event data, Cox proportional regression model, which includes adjustment of the baseline risk of the outcome over time, is the preferred model [74].

5. Objective of the thesis

The primary aim of this thesis was to identify predictors for short-term mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery. The four studies aimed to answer the following hypotheses separately:

- Study I. The aim was to validate the ACPGPI model in the Danish population and investigate if this model was able to predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery.
- Study II. The aim was to investigate if survival had improved in Denmark between 2005 and 2015 after acute colorectal cancer surgery and to identify factors associated with decreased survival.
- Study III. The aim was to investigate if low socioeconomic position was associated with increased risk of having acute surgery for colorectal cancer compared with elective surgery and subsequently if low socioeconomic position was associated with decreased survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery.
- Study IV. The aim was to develop a prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery and subsequently to validate the model in patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery in 2015.

6. Methods

6.1 Data sources (study I-IV)

In Denmark, there is a long history of registries dating back to 1875 where The Danish Register of Cause of Death was established [76]. Registries and databases in Denmark are linked together with a unique personal identification number (CPR-number) held by all persons with a permanent residence in Denmark [76]. The CPR-number contains information on sex and date of birth [77]. The Danish clinical quality databases were established with the aim to collect data within specific diseases and to monitor clinical quality [78]. Statistics Denmark is an administrative platform that holds data on some of the Danish administrative registries, all registered companies in Denmark, and data from taxation authorities among other things [79].

The Danish Civil Registration System (CRS) is a Danish register established in 1968 and was used to collect taxes from all citizens of Denmark and Greenland based on the personal CPR-number [77]. The register includes information on CPR-number, full name, date and place of birth, identity of parents and children, place of residence, date of migration and disappearing and is continuously updated on vital status. The register has a high validity and coverage with an ongoing validation of data contained in the register. It is required by law to have a CPR-number and the Danish Civil Registration System is interpreted as having complete coverage and it is not possible to be retracted from the register [77].

The Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) database is a clinical quality database established in 2001 and includes all Danish citizens aged >18 years diagnosed with colorectal adenocarcinoma and seen in a surgical department [80]. The database does not include information about recurrence, metachronous disease, and other histological cancer types than primary adenocarcinoma, mucinous adenocarcinoma, signet ring cell carcinoma, medullary carcinoma, and undifferentiated carcinoma. The database has a completeness proportion of all patients with colorectal cancer of 95% before 2010 and 99% since 2010 [80]. Data are collected at the surgical department where the patient is seen. Patients undergoing surgical procedures have data collected at three time points. Patient-related data are registered before surgery, intraoperative data are registered after surgery, and postoperative complications of any kind are registered 30 days after surgery. Follow-up on vital status after 30 days from a surgical procedure is carried out by linking to the CRS.

The Danish National Patient Register (NPR) was established in 1977 and holds both administrative and clinical data on all admissions and from 1994 also outpatient visits at somatic, psychiatric, and emergency wards [81]. Time and date of admission and surgery, and diagnosis at discharge are also registered in the NPR. The NPR was originally established to monitor diseases in Denmark. However, registration in the NPR was also the basis of payment for specific treatments at public and private hospitals from 2000 [81].

The Danish Education Registry holds information from all Danish educational programs, some established as early as 1910 [82]. Data are collected by the Danish Ministry of Education from several institutions and available through Statistics Denmark. The Income Statistics Register was established in 1970 and contains more than 160 variables on income composition of the Danish population, employment, taxation, and pension [83].

6.2 Setting (study I-IV)

All individuals included in this thesis had undergone surgery for colorectal cancer in a Danish hospital. In the full study period of inclusion, 29 public hospitals carried out acute colorectal cancer surgery, all financed by tax. No private hospitals perform colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark. The volume of patients per year at each hospital range from 1-425 in the years 2005-2015, when counting both elective and acute surgery. During the period of all four studies, several national initiatives were implemented to improve survival in colorectal cancer such as clinical guidelines and national cancer plans [84].

6.3 Definition of acute colorectal cancer surgery (study II, III and IV)

In the DCCG.dk database, only the definitive surgical procedure is registered resulting in suboptimal information about colorectal cancer surgery performed in more than one step. In patients with a primary acute procedure and subsequently tumour resection as an elective procedure (bridge to surgery), date of surgery and perioperative data are only registered for the elective procedure in the DCCG.dk database. Since most elective surgery is performed in one step, this is not a problem for the majority of the patients in the DCCG.dk database. However, perioperative data are not registered in patients with acute diverting stoma or SEMS as bridge to a definitive elective tumour resection and in patients with more than one acute procedure. In 2014, a new variable was introduced in the DCCG.dk database describing if SEMS, diverting stoma, damage control surgery, or any other procedure was performed

before the definitive procedure [28]. However, the date of this first acute procedure is not registered and it is not possible to use for calculating postoperative mortality. When initiating study II, an algorithm was developed to include the patients with diverting stoma or SEMS prior to definitive surgery in the population. It will be referred to as the acute population algorithm in this thesis. The acute population algorithm included patients registered in the NPR, with a SEMS or diverting stoma as the main procedure within 72 hours after an emergency admission at any department. Furthermore, the patient had to be registered in the DCCG.dk database with a diagnosis of colorectal cancer. The first procedure registered in either DGGG.dk or in the NPR was defined as the primary procedure. The operation codes included in the NPR for diverting stoma were KJFF10, KJFF11, KJFF20, KJFF21, KJFF23, KJFF24, KJFF26, KJFF27, KJFF30, and KJFF3; and for SEMS KJFA68 and KJGA58A. The acute population algorithm increased the completeness rate of patients with acute colorectal cancer surgery. No perioperative data is available in the DCCG.dk database regarding the procedures included via the acute population algorithm.

6.4 Population selection (study I-IV)

In all four studies, the populations were selected through the DCCG.dk database study and entry time was date of surgery. The particular population in each study varied according to the study question and available data. Data from the DCCG.dk database was continuously updated throughout this thesis and consequently the latest studies include more recent study years.

Study I

In study I, the original and the revised ACPBGI models were validated and patients were included according to inclusion criteria in both models [24, 85]. Patients who underwent elective or acute colorectal cancer surgery from 2007-2013 and registered in the DCCG.dk database were included (31,370 patients). Only patients who underwent procedures included in the revised ACPBGI model were included in the validation of both models (right hemicolectomy, transverse colectomy, left hemicolectomy, sigmoid colectomy, subtotal/total colectomy, anterior resection, abdomino-perineal excision of rectum (APE), Hartmann's procedure, palliative stoma, and only examination under anaesthesia/laparotomy/laparoscopy) [85]. We excluded patients with incomplete data on any predictor variable of both models (1437 patients).

Study II

In study II, it was investigated if postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery has improved within the last decade and the risk factors for decreased mortality were identified. All patients undergoing acute colorectal surgery according to the DCCG.dk database or the acute population algorithm from 2005-2015 and registered in the DCCG.dk database were included in the study (6147 patients). Patients were excluded if they underwent local procedures (transanal endoscopic microsurgery, polypectomy etc.) or abdomino-perineal excision (17 patients), if an elective procedure was registered prior to the acute procedure (226 patients), or if they had migrated or disappeared within the follow-up time of 90-days (2 patients).

Study III

In study III, we investigated the association between socioeconomic position and acute surgery and subsequently 1-year survival after acute surgery. All patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery from 2007-2015 according to the DCCG.dk database or the acute population algorithm and registered in the DCCG.dk database were included (35,661 patients). Only acutely operated patients were eligible for the survival analysis (5310 patients). Patients were excluded if they had missing information on surgical priority (11 patients), income (31 patients), cohabitation or urbanicity (85 patients), had migrated within one year after acute surgery (one patient), or were registered with a date of death prior to the date of surgery (12 patients).

Study IV

In study IV, a prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute surgery was developed and validated. Two populations were defined; one for development of the prediction model and one for validation of the developed model. For development of the model, all patients with acute colorectal cancer surgery in 2014 according to the DCCG.dk database and the acute population algorithm were included (535 patients). For validation of the developed model, all patients with acute colorectal cancer surgery in 2015 according to the DCCG.dk database and the acute population algorithm were included (554 patients). Exclusion criteria in both the development and validation population were elective surgical procedure prior to acute surgery (19 patients), registered with a death date prior to surgical date (two patients), migration or disappearing within the first 90-days after acute surgery (zero patients) and local resection or APE (two patients).

6.5 Indicators for socioeconomic position (study III)

In study III, education was selected as the primary investigated indicator for socioeconomic position based on the hypothesis that educational level is achieved early in adult life and affects other measurements of an individual's socioeconomic position, *Figure 3*. Education represents knowledge-related assets, which is strongly related to parental characteristics and reproduces through generations [58, 86]. The highest attained educational level is interpreted as a reflection of both material and intellectual resources of family origin and indirectly a measurement for health exposures in childhood [58]. It might also be related to cognitive functions and education can directly affect income level and place of residence, *Figure 3* [58]. Data on educational level were obtained from the Danish Education Registry October 1st, the year before the colorectal cancer surgery was performed [82]. Short educational was defined as seven or nine years of mandatory schooling for persons born before and after January 1st 1958, respectively. Medium educational level was 10-12 years of schooling corresponding to upper secondary school or vocational education. Long education was defined as more than 12 years of education corresponding to higher education, Appendix 1.



Figure 3: Hypothetical causal pathways between the four socioeconomic indicators.

Income was adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery and divided into quintiles for each income year to adjust for inflation and overall changes in income over the study period. To avoid the possible influence of a colorectal cancer diagnosis on income, the variable was retracted from the Income Statistics Registry the year before colorectal cancer surgery. Income represents financial capacity and the possibility of living a healthy lifestyle [58].

Urbanicity was the third socioeconomic indicator investigated. In Denmark, there are 98 municipalities and the Danish Business Authority (Erhvervsstyrelsen) made a

composite indicator for urbanicity after the previous municipal reform in 2007 [87]. The categorisation of the specific municipalities is published in the DMCG benchmarking report from 2000 [22], *Appendix II*. Urbanicity was divided into the four categories; city, town, rural, and peripheral based on a composite of indicators such as population density, employment rate, number of jobs, distance to a highway, age, income, educational level etc. [87]. Urbanicity represents the effect of living far from the main hospitals diagnosing colorectal cancer and performing colorectal cancer surgery.

The last indicator for socioeconomic position investigated in study III was cohabitation. This indicator represents social and structural support while receiving a cancer diagnosis and treatment. Living with a partner could influence the support and initiative to contact a doctor when early signs and symptoms of the disease occur. Cohabitation could also affect the psychological support while in hospital and after discharge. Cohabitation was divided into living with a partner (married or cohabitating) or living without a partner (single, widow or divorced).

Before investigating socioeconomic position, causal pathways between the four indicator variables were considered, *Figure 3*. The pathways were taken into account when building the models of association between socioeconomic position and both acute surgery and 1-year survival. Educational level was the primary exposure of interest tested in the first model step. In the second model, it was investigated if income had an isolated effect on acute surgery or survival after adjusting for educational level. In the third model step, we investigated if urbanicity was associated with acute surgery or survival, when educational level and income were taken into account. Due to cheaper housing in the peripheral areas, individuals with low income might be more likely to live in these areas. In the last model step, we investigated the effect of cohabitation when adjusting for the effect of all the other three socioeconomic indicators.

6.6 Prediction models (study I and IV)

Before developing a prediction model, it is important to investigate existing models and gain knowledge about universal predictors. Several existing models predicted postoperative risk after colorectal cancer [70]; however, due to lack of clinical variables in the DCCG.dk database, only the ACPBGI model was possible to validate. In study I, validation of the APPGBI model showed suboptimal ability to predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery, especially among the acutely operated (further details in section 8). The author group

decided to develop a new model for postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery (study IV). No model of this kind existed at the time study IV was initiated. Development (study IV)

In study IV, the predicted outcome was 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery. We chose 90-day mortality instead of 30-day mortality based on knowledge from study II showing a relevant increase in mortality between postoperative day 30 and day 90 from 16% to 25%. The model is thought to be implemented as a bedside score at the time it is decided to perform acute colorectal cancer surgery. Predictor variables were limited to factors known bedside at the time of arrival and no postoperative data could be included. Variables were selected for inclusion with backwards selection according to the minimum value of Akaike Information Criterion (AIC). The model was shrunken by bootstrapping to avoid over-fitting of the model in an external population [74]. A shrinkage factor and intercept were generated and added to the model before internal validation.

Validation (study I and IV)

An internal validation of a prediction model is an evaluation of how well the model predicts the outcome in the population the model was developed on. External validation is a test of the external validity of the prediction model in patients not included for development [88]. Validation is evaluated with various measurement, the most important being discrimination and calibration [88]. Discrimination is a measurement of the model's ability to predict the outcome in the patients who experience an outcome (sensitivity) and predict no outcome in patients who do not get an outcome event (specificity) [89]. Discrimination is measured by the area under the curve (AUC) of a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. An AUC from 0.90 to 1.00 is considered an excellent discrimination, an AUC from 0.8 to 0.9 is considered a good discrimination and an AUC of 0.70 to 0.8 is considered a fair discrimination [90]. Calibration is a measurement of how well the model managed to assign a correct probability of the outcome. A calibration plot illustrates the relation between the observed and predicted risk of the primary outcome. Patients are divided into deciles according to the predicted value plotted on the x-axis and the corresponding observed value of the outcome on the y-axis. The optimal calibration plot is a line with a slope of one and an intercept in (0, 0) [88]. To test a significant difference between the observed and the estimated outcome in ten risk groups, the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test is used in study I. However, in study IV, missing values were handled with multiple imputation which is not applicable in the goodness-of-fit test [88].

6.7 Statistics

Missing data

Before dealing with missing data, one first has to consider why data are missing and how this may bias the results [91, 92]. Missing data are classified in three groups depending on the reason for missing values. Data are missing completely at random (MCAR) if the missing data do not depend on neither unobserved nor observed data. Data are missing at random (MAR) if the missing values do not depend on the unobserved data conditional on the observed data. Data are missing not at random (MNAR) if the probability of data being missing depends on the unobserved data, conditional on the observed data [93]. It is not possible to test the mechanism behind missing values and knowledge about data collected is necessary to categorize missing in MCAR, MAR, or MNAR [94]. In the DCCG.dk database, missing values are most frequently seen in patient-related variables like BMI, alcohol, smoking, and performance status. There is no reason to believe that missing data depend on the unobserved data, e.g. that only the smokers were not asked about smoking status because they smoked, and the missing values are considered to be missing at random in all four studies.

Missing data can be handled by exclusion of all patients with missing values in any of the model variables, a complete case analysis (study I), by using a missing data indicator and categorize the missing values (study II), or by multiple imputation (study III and IV). In a complete case analysis and missing categorized as an indicator, there is a risk of biased results if patients with missing data deviate from the complete cases [95]. Excluding a proportion of the complete population can also result in loss of power [92].

Multiple imputation (Study III and IV)

In multiple imputation, the distribution of observed values are used to generate plausible values for missing data multiple times, which assimilate variation of the missing value [92]. Multiple imputation is a three-step process, *Figure 4*. In the first step, the original data set is copied *n* times with *n* imputed values for each missing. In this process, all other covariates included in the final model and the outcome are included. In the second step, the parameter estimated for each imputed data set is analysed. In the third step, the estimates from all *n* imputed data sets are combined using the Rubin's rule to generate one parameter estimate with a 95% confidence interval (94% CI) [91].



Figure 4. The three steps in multiple imputation

Logistic regression model and Cox proportional Hazard

In all four studies in this thesis, the primary outcomes were binary and subsequently all associations were investigated with either a logistic regression model or a Cox proportional Hazard regression model. Logistic regression was the statistical model used when time-to-event was not considered important, e.g. postoperative 90-day mortality. In study III, Cox proportional Hazard regression model was used to investigate the association between socioeconomic position and 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery because time-to-event was considered important.

In model testing, all continuous variables were tested for linearity and modelled as splines or in categories if not linear. Interactions between the primary exposure and prespecified other covariates were considered in each study. An interaction between covariates indicates that the effect of the exposure depends on the another covariate [96], e.g. the effect of a treatment depend on the sex.

In study I, SPSS version 22 was used for statistical analysis. In study II-IV, data management, analysis, and graphs were conducted using SAS software 9.4. In study III, Rstudio was used to create the figures.

7. Ethics

All data in this thesis originate from registries and databases. We obtained approval for the project from the Danish Data Protection Agency, Statistics Denmark and the DCCG.dk database before initiation of the studies. Danish law does not require approval from The Danish National Committee on Health Research Ethics in register-based studies. All data were handled with strict confidentiality; data were stored safely and pseudo-anonymously with restricted access only for people involved in statistical analysis or data management. In register-based studies, it is not required to collect informed consent from the included patients according to Danish law [97]. However, it is required to present the result without the possibility to identify individual patients. In this thesis, patients with surgical procedures are included from 2005 and onwards. It would be impossible to obtain informed consent in a patient group with a high operative mortality risk.

8. Results

8.1 Study I

Aim

The aim of study I was to investigate if the original and revised ACPGBI model could predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark.

Methods

Patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery from 2007 to 2013 were included, restricted to surgical procedures included in the revised ACPGBI model. Only patients registered in the DCCG.dk database were included. The predicted 30-day mortality was calculated according to the original model by information on age, American Society of Anaesthesiologist (ASA) score, cancer stage, cancer resection, and operative urgency, and with the revised model by information on age, ASA score, cancer stage, operative urgency and operative procedure. The discrimination of both models was evaluated with the AUC. Calibration was evaluated with the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test. A subgroup analysis of only acutely operated patients was performed (only presented in the thesis).

Results

In total, 21,370 patients were included for analysis and 1437 patients were excluded due to missing values of minimum one of the model predictors. Thirty-day mortality was 5%, estimated to be 7% with the original model and 4% in the revised model. The ratio of observed over estimated mortality was 0.71 in the original model and 1.25 in the revised model. This indicates that the original model had a tendency of overestimating mortality while the revised model underestimated the mortality risk. A significant difference between the observed and estimated mortality was found in both models with the goodness of fit test. In the original ACPGBI model, no difference in observed and estimated 30-day mortality was found in high-risk patients with an estimated risk of more than 25%. Discrimination was good in both models with an AUC of 0.83 (95% CI 0.82-0.84) in the original model and 0.84 model.

Among the included patients, 12% underwent acute colorectal cancer surgery. The 30-day mortality was 17% after acute surgery. In the subgroup analysis, a significant difference between observed and estimated 30-day mortality risk was found with the goodness-of-fit test in both models, p = 0.0002 in the original and p < 0.0001 in the revised

model, *Figure 5 and Figure 6*. The AUC decreased to 0.77 (95% CI 0.75-0.79) for the original model and AUC of 0.78 (95% CI 0.76-0.80) in the revised model when restricting the analysis to patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer, *Figure 5 and Figure 6*.



Figure 5. Calibration and discrimination of the original ACPGBI model, only for acutely operated patients.



Figure 6. Calibration and discrimination of the revised ACPGBI model in, only for acutely operated.

Conclusion

In conclusion, neither the original nor the revised ACPGBI model had the ability to predict the 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark. However, both models had good discrimination both in the total population and in the subgroup of acutely operated patients.

Strengths and limitations

In the ACPGBI model, the primary outcome is 30-day mortality. This is not an optimal measure for operative mortality risk. In study II, we found that the mortality increased from 16% to 25% from postoperative day 30 to day 90. Our hypothesis is that improved intensive care treatment keeps patients alive longer postoperatively and that 90-day mortality is a better measure of surgical mortality risk. It is a strength in this study that we validated an existing prediction model already promising in other external validations [73, 85, 98-100]. Studies from Turkey, UK, China and the Netherlands all found good discrimination with an AUC from 0.70 to 0.87 and good calibration with no difference between the observed and the ACPBGI-model estimated 30-day mortality in four out of five studies [73, 85, 98-100]. This implicates good external validity of the model. The ACPBGI model was developed more than ten years ago and postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery has improved in this period [8]. It is a limitation of study I that we did not recalibrate the original and revised model in our population to predict 30-mortality more accurately. Since the predictors are promising in external validation, a recalibration of the model could improve the calibration in a Danish context. The ACPGBI models are not possible to use preoperatively because the variable UICC stage is not known at the time of surgery. If this model was to be recalibrated in the Danish population to predict the operative mortality risk before surgery, the UICC has to be removed from the model.

It is a major limitation in study I that patients with missing data on any of the variables were excluded. A total of 6% of eligible patients were excluded due to missing data which is acceptable in terms of power when the population is already large. The main problem was that the excluded patients had a 30-day mortality of 14% versus 5% in the included patients. This difference indicates a selection bias of the healthiest patients for inclusion. It would have been better to include all patients and handle missing values with multiple imputation if the model was to be implemented in a clinical setting. Thus, the excluded patients had a high mortality risk and would be the most important to identify with a prediction model.

8.2 Study II

Aim

The aim of this study was to investigate if 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery has improved from 2005 to 2015 in Denmark and to identify risk factors for 90-day postoperative mortality.

Methods

Patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery according to the DCCG.dk database or the acute population algorithm and registered in the DCCG.dk database with a colorectal cancer diagnose from 2005 to 2015 were included in study II. We defined a surgical procedure as either a surgical resection, stent or diverting stoma. The association between year of surgery and postoperative mortality was investigated in a logistic regression model including possible confounding factors. Missing data were handled by categorizing the missing values within each variable. A subgroup analysis was performed in patients who underwent surgery excluding diverting stoma and SEMS. It was investigated if surgical specialization, operative approach or hospital volume was associated with 90-day mortality in patients undergoing surgical procedures other than SEMS and diverting stoma.

Results

In study II, 6147 patients were included for analysis. The overall 90-day mortality was 25% whereof 16% died within the first 30 days. The 90-day mortality rate improved with a yearly odds ratio (OR) trend of 0.94 (95% CI: 0.92-0.95, P< 0.0001). In 2015, the odds ratio for 90-day mortality was 0.65 (95% CI: 0.48-2.89) compared with 2005. The mortality rate improved already within the first 30 days after acute surgery from 2005 to 2015. Age was associated with 90-day mortality with an increased OR in the four age groups of 1.03 (95% CI: 1.02-1.05), 1.09 (95% CI: 1.06-1.12), 1.08 (95% CI: 1.02-1.13), and 1.07 (95% CI: 1.03-1.11) per year; thus, age was non-linear and included in the model as splines with 3 knots. Comorbidity also increased the risk of 90-day mortality for patients with a Charlson comorbidity index (CCI) score of one, two, and 3+ compared with a CCI score of zero with an OR of 1.57 (95% CI: 1.32-1.87), 1.86 (95% CI: 1.52-2.28), and 1.96 (95% CI: 1.66-2.31), respectively. Metastatic colorectal cancer (OR = 3.10, 95% CI: 1.80-5.36) compared with surgery as the primary procedure was also associated with 90-day postoperative mortality. SEMS as

primary procedure was inversely associated with postoperative mortality (OR = 0.53, 95% CI: 0.45-0.64) compared with surgery. Having open surgery compared with minimal invasive surgery, was the only factor associated with 90-day mortality in the subgroup analysis (OR = 1.66, 95%CI: 1.23-2.23).



Figure 7. Kaplan-Meier curve for 90-day mortality according to year of surgery

Conclusion

In conclusion, the 90-day postoperative mortality have improved in Denmark from 2005 to 2015. High age, comorbidity, metastatic disease and diverting stoma as primary procedure were all associated with postoperative mortality. SEMS improved the operative mortality risk.

Strengths and limitations

It was a limitation in study II that missing data were categorized within each variable. In the variables with a high rate of missing values, information is lost about the effect of the variable, which may bias the results and warrant careful interpretation. Multiple imputation would have been a more accurate way to handle missing data, even though not a perfect solution.

Another limitation in study II was that the investigated risk factors could represent confounding by indication [101]. In this case, the variable itself is not a risk but it is rather the pathways in treatment, e.g. the patients characterized by this variable were selected to a specific treatment. An example from study II, is the increased mortality risk in patients with diverting stoma as the primary procedure. If diverting stoma is a risk factor, this procedure should not be recommended. However, if diverting stoma is the primary procedure chosen for the patients in a bad clinical condition, it might be the right approach. In conclusion, recommendation of the choice of primary procedure cannot be given by this observational study due to the risk of confounding by indication. In the DCCG.dk treatment guidelines diverting stoma and SEMS are recommended equally in acute obstruction of colorectal cancer [35].

The risk of residual confounding in study II is also a limitation. Patients included with this algorithm did not have the same detailed perioperative information, as did the patients with registration of acute surgery in DCCG.dk. The reason for acute surgery is one of the variables important for short-term survival and lacking this information could cause residual confounding. Patients who have a perforation of the colon or rectum are at high risk of postoperative mortality [14]. The increased risk of 90-day mortality in patients with diverting stoma as the primary procedure could have been confounded by the reason for acute surgery if patients with perforation was more likely to have diverting stoma than patients with obstruction. Lifestyle factors such as BMI, smoking and alcohol intake were not included in the model due to a high rate of missing values. This might also create residual confounding in our results.

It is a strength in study II that we had a high completeness of all patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery as primary procedure due to the acute population algorithm. In the yearly report of the DCCG.dk database, it seems like the rate of acutely operated is decreasing. In contrast, our study shows that the annual number of acutely operated patients was quite stable from 2005 to 2015. In concordance, the proportion of patients included through the acute population database increased over the study period. This probably reflects that more patients get bridge to elective surgery in 2015 compared with 2005 and only the final procedure is registered in the DCCG.dk database.

8.3 Study III

Aim

The aim of study three was to investigate if low socioeconomic position was associated with the likelihood of being operated acutely for colorectal cancer. Secondly, to investigate if low socioeconomic position was associated with 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery.

Methods

In study III, all patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery from 2007 to 2015 according to the acute population algorithm and registered with a diagnosis in the DCCG.dk database were included. Patients were excluded if they had missing information on surgical priority, income, urbanicity, or cohabitation; had migrated or disappeared within the first year after acute surgery, or were registered with a date of death before the date of surgery.

The association between social economic position and the likelihood of having acute surgery was investigated in a logistic regression model. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation, generating 10 imputed data sets. We tested for interaction between education and age and between education and CCI.

We applied a Cox regression to investigate the association between socioeconomic position and 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation with the generation of 10 imputed datasets. We tested for interaction between education and age and between education and CCI.

Results

In study III, 35,661 patients were included whereof 5310 patients (15%) underwent acute colorectal cancer surgery. We excluded 140 patients in accordance with the exclusion criteria. In patients aged < 65 years, short and medium educational level was associated with an increased risk of acute surgery. For short education the OR was 1.58 (95% CI: 1.32-1.91) and for medium educational level the OR was 1.34 (95% CI: 1.15-1.55) for acute surgery. Independently of age, being in the second lowest income quintile and living alone were also associated with acute colorectal cancer surgery (OR =1.12, 95% CI: 1.01-1.24 and OR=1.35, 95% CI: 1.26-1.46, respectively), *Figure 8*.

Short education, low income and living alone were associated with decreased 1year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. The hazard ratio (HR) for 1-survival for short education was 1.18 (95% CI: 1.03-1.36), for the lowest income quintile the HR was 1.16 (95% CI: 1.01-1.34), and for patients living alone the HR was 1.25 (95% CI: 1.13-1.38).

Conclusion

Low socioeconomic position measured by education, income and cohabitation was associated with a higher likelihood of acute surgery and subsequently a decreased risk of 1-year survival among patients treated with acute surgery.



Figure 8. Association between socioeconomic position and 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery.

Blue line: adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery. Red line: Adjusted for sex, age, year of surgery, Charlson Comorbidity Index score, BMI, smoking, drinking, UICC stage, and localization. Income additionally adjusted for education. Urbanicity additionally adjusted for education and income. Cohabitation additionally adjusted for education, income and urbanicity.

Strengths and limitations

Study III is the first to show socioeconomic disparities in survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. Previous studies have primarily focused on mortality after elective colorectal

cancer surgery or on the socioeconomic gradient in acutely versus electively operated patients with colorectal cancer [56, 59].

Socioeconomic position is an indicator for unequal health conditions and is associated with particular health outcome. In study III, we tested if UICC stage at surgery, smoking, alcohol, or BMI could explain the socioeconomic gradient. None of these variables had a high impact on the estimate neither in the association with acute surgery nor with 1-year survival after acute surgery. We may lack identification on other factors potentially mediating the socioeconomic gradient and thus explain why patients with a short education live shorter after acute colorectal cancer surgery. This introduces residual confounding or mediation in our results. The clinical condition at the time of surgery is a possible unmeasured confounder. If patients with short education, low income, and living alone wait longer from onset of acute symptoms to contact of medical support, the acute condition can become more critical leading to a poor postoperative outcome [14]. However, the mortality also increase remarkably in the acutely operated from 24% 90 days after surgery to 41% 1 year postoperatively and unmeasured confounding or mediation in this time-gab should be investigated. In order to investigate the causal relation between the socioeconomic gradient and 1-year survival, the cause of death is needed. To prevent early and 1-year mortality it is crucial to find out what patients died from.

8.4 Study IV

Aim

The aim of study IV was to develop a prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery and subsequently validate the model.

Methods

The prediction model was developed and validated in patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery in 2014 and 2015, respectively. We tested age, sex, performance status, BMI, smoking, alcohol, educational level, cohabitation, localization of the tumour and primary procedure as possible predictor variables. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation, by generating 10 imputed data sets. The model was developed with a logistic regression model and variables included in the model were selected with backwards selection according to the lowest AIC. After variable selection, the model was shrunken by 1000 bootstrapping samples creating a shrinkage factor and intercept integrated in the final model to minimize the risk of overfitting. The model was validated both internally, on the patients the model was developed on and externally on the patients operated in 2015. Accuracy was evaluated with a Brier score, discrimination with the AUC and calibration was evaluated with a calibration plot.

Results

In study IV, 535 patients were included for development of the prediction model, while 554 patients were included for validation. In the final model, the predictor variables age, performance status, smoking, alcohol and primary procedure were included, *Figure 9*. The 90-day mortality was 18% in 2014 and 24% in 2015. In the internal validation, the Brier score was 0.12, and the AUC was 0.80. The calibration slope had an intercept of 1.0 and the slope 1.0. In the external validation, the Brier score was 0.16 and the AUC was 0.72. The calibration slope had an intercept of 1.0 and the slope 1.0.

	Risk group	Score
Age		
	<65	0.00
	>65-70	0.92
	>70-75	1.08
	>75	1.67
Performance Score		
	0	0.00
	1	1.11
	2	1.45
	3-4	2.14
Alcohol (weekly recommendation) ¹		
	Below	0.00
	Above	0.78
Smoking		
	Never smoked	0.00
	Former smoker ²	0.45
	Smoker	0.89
Primary procedure		
	Stent	0.00
	Surgery	0.48

Figure 9. Model for predicting 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery

1. Above weekly recommendation is defined as >14 units/week for women and >21 units/week for men. 2. Not smoked for minimum weeks.

In(R/1-R) = -4.66788 + (score), where R is the risk of death

Conclusion

We developed a prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery. The final predictor variables included in the model were age, performance status, smoking, alcohol, and primary procedure. The internal validation showed a good Brier score, good discrimination and poor calibration. In the external validation, the Brier score was good, the AUC was only acceptable and the calibration was poor.

Strengths and limitations

A major limitation of this study is that predictor candidates are limited to the variables collected by the DCCG.dk. Previous prediction models have shown that paraclinical tests such as haemoglobin and leucocytes are important predictors for postoperative outcome after colorectal cancer surgery [71, 72]. It would have been relevant and possible to test some of these predictor variables in the model if the predictor variables were collected prospectively

for the purpose of this study. Another limitation of the study is that patients might already have been selected to surgery or no surgery. If the model is to be used as a tool in shared, clinical decision-making, this selection of patients is relevant if the surgeon and patients decide to withdraw from surgery. When we have not included patients with acute presentation who were not operated, the mortality risk was probably underestimated assuming that the oldest patients with comorbidities were the ones selected for no surgery. There is a problem with the power in the development of the prediction model. In total, 94 patients died within the first 90-days postoperatively and 11 predictor variables with 31 degrees of freedom are tested eligible for the model. The general rule of thumb is that there should be 10 cases for each degree of freedom in the development of a prediction model. This might explain the suboptimal calibration.

In study IV, the first prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery was developed. It is a strength that we have including all patients undergoing colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark. The model had a good ability to discriminate between patients who died and patients who survived 90 days after surgery with an AUC of 0.72 in the external validation. The developed model was not ideal but a reasonable basis for further development.

In future studies it might be interesting to include patients with benign abdominal emergencies as well. Even though the cancer is important for the surgical procedure, many preoperative predictors for postoperative mortality are probably the same in benign acute colorectal surgery. From a clinician's perspective, it would be meaningful to treat patients with an abdominal emergency the same and then include the information about malignancy in the model. It is also more likely that the model will be used, if it involves all patients with obstruction and perforation and not only the few cases where cancer is causing the symptoms.

9. Discussion

The overall findings of this PhD thesis were that 90 day-mortality among patients operated acutely for colorectal cancer has improved in Denmark within the last 10 years, but the 90-day mortality rate remains as high as 25% in 2015. High age, comorbidity measured with the Charlson Comorbidity Index, metastatic diseases, and diverging stoma were associated with increased risk of postoperative 90-day mortality. Socioeconomic indicators associated with decreased 1-year survival mortality were short education, low income and living alone. The same socioeconomic indicators were associated with the likelihood of acute versus elective surgery for colorectal cancer.

In order to predict the postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery, the ACPGBI prediction model was tested inferior, especially among the acutely operated. In this thesis, we developed the first prediction model for postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery. The external validation showed a model with acceptable discrimination and poor calibration. The accuracy measured by the Brier score was also good.

9.1 Bias due to the observational study design.

A strength in this thesis is that the internal validity was high due to the data of registers and a database. First, all studies have a relatively large sample size and study II-IV are some of the largest published cohorts regarding acute colorectal cancer only. Furthermore, there is a high completeness rate of 95%-99% of all colorectal cancer patients in Denmark in the DCCG.dk database [80]. The acute population algorithm improved the completeness rate of the acutely operated. This resulted in a minimized risk of selection bias and very few exclusion criteria, which is only possible when the whole population constitutes the base population [102]. All studies had an almost complete follow-up of vital status on all included patients continuously updated in the NPR, which strengthened the internal validity. Only the few patients who migrated or disappeared were lost to follow-up. A strength of this thesis is also that data were registered prospectively in the registries independently of the study hypotheses, which eliminated the risk of recall bias. In retrospective studies, recall bias is an important bias risk and describes the phenomena that patients developing a disease remember an exposure better than the control group [103].

Confounding by indication is a relevant potential bias in all four observational studies of this thesis. This type of bias indicates that patients were not randomly designated to one treatment or the other, as is the case in a randomized controlled trial [101, 104]. The
selection of treatment is rather subjective and depends on the patient characteristics, the disease characteristics and the surgeon's clinical experience or preferences. Keeping confounding by indication in mind is important when interpreting the results of all four studies. The variable "primary surgical procedure" is an example of how to interpret carefully. In study II, diverting stoma was a risk factor for increased postoperative mortality. It is not possible to recommend one treatment over the other based on this finding due to the risk that the patients at high operative risk were selected for this treatment. In study IV, diverting stoma was also identified as an important predictor variable for postoperative 90-day mortality. This indicates that patients selected for diverting stoma were predicted to have a higher risk of postoperative mortality. However, we cannot conclude that a change of procedure from diverting stoma to resection would give the patient a better postoperative survival because we believe that the relation between diverting stoma and mortality is not causal.

It is a limitation in this thesis that data were restricted to the variables available in the databases and registries, but a strength that data were not pre-collected by the research group with the purpose of answering the specific project hypotheses which minimize the risk of information bias [102]. The registries and databases collected the variables and controlled the completeness and accuracy of data. There could have been mistakes in the registered data that are hard to identify and correct. In the acute population algorithm, it was conditioned that the patient was registered with an acute admission. The variable "type of admission" had many missing values in the NPR and this might have affected the completeness of the population. Important confounders or mediators may also be unavailable in the registries or databases causing residual confounding. In our studies, it would have been valuable to collect data on the clinical condition of the patient at the time of surgery [105, 106]. Some of the known mediators for poor survival in acute colorectal surgery are sepsis, colon perforation, and white blood cell count [14, 107]. These mediators could have affected the results in study II-IV. Some variables available in the DCCG.dk, like perforation, has a high proportion of missing values and the patients included with the acute population algorithm did not have perioperative data. Unmeasured confounding is less important in randomized trials because randomization in principle should ensure equally distributed of known and unknown confounders in the groups. If a suspected confounder is available in some of the patients in observational studies, a sensitivity analysis with this subgroup is a way of testing for residual confounding [108].

Unfortunately, it was not possible to validate the acute population algorithm. All data were pseudo-anonymized and data from Statistics Denmark cannot be retracted. It would have been valuable to validate the algorithm by going into patient files and investigate the validity of the algorithm.

In the external validity of the study results, it is important to be aware that the studies only concern patients who undergo colorectal cancer surgery and cannot be extrapolated to generalize anything about patients who had acute presentation of colorectal cancer but did not undergo surgery.

9.2 Acute abdominal surgery

This thesis has confirmed that acute surgery for colorectal cancer is a major risk for operative mortality. It is crucial to establish what treatment strategies can improve survival in these patients. There is a lack of literature about perioperative treatment to improve survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. Inspiration must be sought in the literature regarding acute surgery for non-malignant major abdominal crises. A Danish study initiated in 2013 implemented a standard care, multidisciplinary and multimodal intervention, on all patients admitted to a single centre with major abdominal pathology requiring acute surgery [109]. They included 600 consecutive patients and compared them with 600 historical controls. In the intervention group, standard of care was improved by early resuscitation after admission, early high-dose antibiotics, initiation of surgery within 6 hours after arrival, standardized analgesic treatment, early postoperative ambulation and nutrition. With these simple changes in perioperative care and management, the 30-day mortality rate decreased from 21.8% to 15.5% (p = 0.005) and 180-day mortality decreased from 29.5% to 22.2% (p= 0.004) [109]. In UK, a similar study on all acute laparotomies was conducted in 2015 with implementation of improved perioperative care [110]. This included Early Warning Score (EWS), early antibiotics, initiation of surgery less than six hours after decision, gold directed fluid therapy, and postoperative intensive care. This intervention reduced postoperative mortality from 15.6% to 9.6% (p= 0.003) comparing 427 patients in the intervention group with 299 historical controls. The relative mortality rate was 0.61 (95% CI: 0.45-0.85) [110]. A Chinese study investigated the effect of enhanced recovery after surgery (ERAS) programme after acute abdominal surgery [111]. They compared 556 patients in a modified ERAS programme with 483 patients treated with standard care and found an improved function of the intestine measured by time to first flatus (P=0.002), time to first defecation (P=0.008), and decreased

prolonged ileus (p=0.016). Patients in the ERAS programme also had less surgical complications (P = 0.002) [111].

The overall experience from previous studies indicate that a multimodal and multidisciplinary intervention probably is a substantial part of the solution to improve survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. In study III, the mortality rate increased from 24% on day 90 postoperatively to 41% one year after surgery. With these findings, we have identified an important window for improvement of mortality. Some of the deaths might be unpreventable and caused by progression of the cancer disease. Further studies should investigate if some deaths could be prevented with close long-term follow-up or rehabilitation.

It is also important to investigate the core solution to avoid mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery, which is how to prevent an acute presentation of the disease by identifying the patients earlier. Improving the screening of colorectal cancer in patients at high risk of acute presentation is one way of approaching this. In the annual report from the DCCG.dk from 2017, the crude 1-year and 4-year survival were improved in patients diagnosed through screening compared with patients diagnosed through other pathways, e.g. due to symptoms [4]. A British study from 2017 investigated the risk factors for acute colorectal cancer surgery in 286,591 patients diagnosed from 1997 to 2012 [11]. Introduction of screening in 2016 reduced by 40% the proportion of acutely operated from 23% to 15% (p<0.001). In Denmark, a screening program for colorectal cancer was implemented in 2014 including individuals aged 50 to 74 years. However, it is too early to evaluate a decrease in the proportion of acutely operated in our data in study II-IV. Previous studies found socioeconomic disparities in participation of colorectal cancer screening. Patients with a short education, low income and living alone were less likely to participate in the screening programme [61, 112]. This implies that even though the total number of acutely operated might be decreasing due to screening, this will probably not be to the benefit of the socioeconomically deprived. In 2017, the DCCG.dk registered only 250 patients with acute surgery as final procedure [4]. The decreased number could either be due to less acutely operated or because more patients are bridged to elective surgery. Another way of increasing the cancers diagnosed earlier, before acute symptoms occurs, is primary prevention such as national health campaigns for the population and for the doctors in primary care [42].

9.3 Socioeconomic position

In study III, we found that living alone was associated with both the likelihood of acute surgery for colorectal cancer and for a decreased risk of 1-survival subsequently. This can be interpreted as lack of social and psychological support encouraging an individual to seek medical advice. The decrease in 1-year survival, even after adjusting for cancer progression, might reflect the ability of self-care after discharge. A study from Ireland including 2750 patients with rectal cancer, similarly found that marriage was protective for acute presentation (OR = 0.85, 95% CI: 0.74-0-98) pointing to the importance of social support [50].

In the known literature on disparities in socioeconomic position, most studies found that the difference in cancer survival is partly mediated by comorbidity and cancer stage and to a lesser degree by treatment. One study regarding prostate cancer found that patients with low socioeconomic position had a decreased cancer specific survival (HR = 1.48, 95% CI: 1.03-2.13). The association was eliminated when adjusting for comorbidity and cancer stage which thought to mediate the association between short education and survival [113]. Also in cervical cancer, decreased overall survival in patients with short education level (HR = 1.46, 95% CI 1.20-1.77) was explained mainly by differences in screening participation, cancer stage and life style and no effect of socioeconomic position could be observed in the fully adjusted analysis [114]. In study III, none of the variables included in the models seemed to explain differences in socioeconomic position. We would have expected that advanced cancer stage, comorbidity or lifestyle factors would have mediated the socioeconomic gradient; however, the mechanism of difference in acute surgery and survival remains unknown in study III.

9.4 Prediction models

A prediction model should preferably be developed from a prospective cohort in order to include all variables known to be predictive from the literature [64]. In study IV, the predictor variables were restricted to those variables available in the DCCG.dk database. From the Cleveland Clinic Foundation and the POSSUM models, we know several paraclinical measures, like haemoglobin, lymphocytes, and haematocrit, which are predictors for postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer surgery. It is a limitation in study IV that data on blood tests are not available. However, it would be interesting to make a sensitivity analysis in a subpopulation to test the additive predictive value of known predictive blood tests. It is also possible that the developed prediction model in study IV should rather include

all patients having major abdominal acute surgery because these patients have some of the same risk factors for mortality.

In order to evaluate the external validity of the prediction model developed in study IV, it would be interesting to make a validation in other countries with similar organization of the health system, like Sweden or the Netherlands.

9.5 Future perspectives

In order to improve survival in patients with acute colorectal cancer surgery, it would be interesting to test the prediction model developed in study IV in a cluster randomized controlled trial. In some centres, a multimodal predefined perioperative care programe with focus on survival during and after hospitalization would then be applied according to the risk prediction. This is the only way to validate whether a prediction model have an impact on the clinical outcome. It would also be interesting to develop a separate prediction model for the patients who have undergone elective colorectal cancer surgery, since the existing models all include variables known after surgery.

In study III, we found a 41% mortality rate within the first year after acute colorectal cancer surgery. This is an alarming high mortality rate and further studies are needed to investigate the cause of death to initiate possible preventive studies. A Danish study introduced daily visits from a nurse to help with basic needs after insertion of metallic stents in patients with non-resectable oesophagus cancer in a randomized trial (MB Mortensen, not yet published). Survival was improved significantly in the intervention group. It should be investigated if routinely home visits in patients at high mortality risk after acute colorectal cancer surgery could improve survival. Home visits constitute a simple intervention, it is relatively cheap and should be easy to implement in Denmark where the system already exists for elderly people. It is reasonable to hypothesise that both instrumental and psychosocial support could improve survival and quality of life among also vulnerable patients who may be older, living alone and who have few socioeconomic resources.

In study III, we found socioeconomic disparities in patients operated acutely for colorectal cancer. Previous studies have found socioeconomic disparities in participation of colorectal cancer screening. In some cases, acute presentation of colorectal cancer is possibly due to patient-delay and could be prevented if the cancer was detected in a screening programme. It would be interesting to make a more active screening surveillance in patients who do not attend the screening program and who are at high risk of acute surgery, e.g. individuals living alone and individuals with a short education.

41

10.Conclusion

This thesis has contributed with knowledge about patients operated acutely for colorectal cancer and identified predictors for 90-day postoperative survival. We have showed that survival has improved the last ten years, but that the 90-day mortality rate remains unacceptably high of 24%, increasing to 41% one year after surgery. Age, comorbidity, cancer stage, and diverting stoma was identified to increase the risk of postoperative mortality. This thesis is the first to show socioeconomic disparities in survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery. Short education, low income and living alone were associated with the likelihood of an acute operation and subsequently decreased 1-year survival. The studies have demonstrated a need to enhance focus on the patients acutely operated. To improve survival in patients operated acutely, it is beneficial to identify patients with a high risk of mortality. The ACPGBI prediction model was validated in this thesis and only showed acceptable discrimination and poor calibration. We developed a new model including age, performance score, smoking, alcohol and intended primary procedure to predict postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer. The discrimination was acceptable and the calibration showed underestimation of the mortality risk. The model will be adjusted further to improve the calibration before taking it into clinical practice.

11. English summary

Background

Colorectal cancer is one of the most common cancers with an estimated incidence of 1.7 million worldwide. Patients presenting with acute symptoms like tumour obstruction or bowl perforation, are operated acutely with a high risk of postoperative mortality. Around 10% of all colorectal cancer surgeries are performed as an acute procedure and the postoperative mortality varies from 6% to 22%.

Aim

The aim of this thesis was to investigate if the postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery has improved in Denmark within the last ten years and to identify risk factors for early death. We furthermore aimed to investigate whether low socioeconomic position was associated with the risk of having colorectal cancer surgery as an acute procedure and subsequently if low socioeconomic position was associated with decreased 1-year survival. We aimed to validate if the Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI) model could predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark. The final aim of this thesis was to develop a model to preoperatively predict the risk of postoperative 90-day mortality in acutely operated patients with colorectal cancer.

Methods and result

All four studies of this PhD thesis were register-based historical cohort studies. Data were mainly collected from the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database and the Danish National Patient Registry. Patients were included from 2005 to 2015. In the thesis, we found that the 90-day mortality has improved in Denmark within the last 10 years. Age, comorbidity, metastatic diseases and diverging stoma were associated with increased risk of postoperative mortality. Socioeconomic indicators associated with increased 90-day postoperative mortality were low educational level, low income and living alone. The same socioeconomic indicators were associated with the likelihood of acute versus elective surgery for colorectal cancer. The ACPGBI prediction model was not appropriate to identify patients at high mortality risk. In this thesis, the first model to preoperatively predict mortality in acutely operated patients with colorectal cancer is presented. In the external validation the model had a good accuracy, an acceptable discrimination and a calibration with underestimation of mortality.

43

Conclusion

The overall finding of this PhD thesis was that 90 day-mortality has improved in Denmark within the last 10 years but has remained as high as 24% in 2015. This thesis was the first to present the association between low socioeconomic position and decreased 1-year survival in acute colorectal cancer surgery. It was confirmed that also in Denmark, individuals with low socioeconomic position are more likely to have acute colorectal cancer surgery compared with elective. Finally, a model to predict 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery was presented in this PhD thesis.

12. Danish summary

Baggrund

Kolorektalkræft er en af de mest almindelige kræftformer i verden med en anslået forekomst på 1,7 millioner om året. Patienter, hvis kræft debuterer med akutte symptomer som tumorobstruktion eller perforation, har en øget risiko for at dø postoperativt. Omkring 10 % af alle kolorektalkræft-operationer udføres som en akut procedure, og den postoperative dødeligheden er mellem 6% og 22%.

Formål

Formålet med denne Ph.d.-afhandling var at undersøge, om korttidsdødeligheden efter akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi har forbedret sig i Danmark de sidste ti år, og hvilke risikofaktorer der var forbundet med en høj dødelighed. Det var desuden et formål at undersøge, om lav socioøkonomisk position var forbundet med en øget risiko for at blive opereret akut efterfølgende og for nedsat 1-års overlevelse efter akut kirurgi. Det var i afhandlingen et formål at validere om prædiktionsmodellen fra Association of Coloproctology of Britain og Ireland (ACPGBI) kunne forudsige 30-dages overlevelsen for patienter opereret for kolorektalkræft samt i en undergruppe af kun akutopererede. Det sidste formål med denne afhandling var at udvikle en model til præoperativt at forudsige risikoen for 90-dages dødelighed efter akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi.

Metoder og resultat

Alle fire studier i denne ph.d.-afhandling var registerbaserede, historiske kohortestudier. Data blev primært indsamlet fra den danske kolorektalkræftgruppe (Danish Colorectal Cancer Group, DCCG.dk) databasen og Landspatientregistret. Patienter blev inkluderet fra 2005 til 2015. I afhandlingen fandt vi, at 90-dages dødelighed efter akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi er forbedret i Danmark gennem de sidste 10. Alder, komorbiditet, metastaserende sygdomme og aflastende stomi som primær procedure var forbundet med øget risiko for død efter operationen. Socioøkonomiske indikatorer forbundet med øget 90-dages dødelighed var kort uddannelsesniveau, lav indkomst og det at bo alene. De samme socioøkonomiske indikatorer var forbundet med en øget sandsynlighed for akut versus elektiv kirurgi. ACPGBI-modellen var ikke optimal til at identificere patienter med høj dødelighed. I denne afhandling præsenteres den første model for præoperativ forudsigelse af dødelighed hos akutopererede patienter med kolorektalkræft. I den eksterne validering havde modellen en god nøjagtighed, en acceptabel diskrimination og en kalibrering med undervurdering af dødelighed.

Konklusion

Det overordnede fund i denne ph.d.-afhandling var, at 90-dages dødeligheden efter akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi er forbedret i Danmark gennem de sidste 10 år, men dødeligheden er forblevet så høj som 24% i 2015. Denne afhandling var den første til at præsentere at der er en sammenhæng mellem lav socioøkonomisk position og nedsat 1-års overlevelse efter akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi. Det blev bekræftet, at der også i Danmark er en association mellem lav socioøkonomisk position og akut kolorektalkræft-kirurgi sammenlignet med elektiv. Endelig præsenteres den første model til at forudsige 90-dages mortalitet efter akut operation for kolorektalkræft.

13. References

- 1. Vos T, Abajobir AA, Abbafati C et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease study 2016. Lancet 2017;390:1211-59.
- 2. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I et al. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018;68:394-424.
- 3. Tsilidis KK, Papadimitriou N, Capothanassi D et al. Burden of cancer in a large consortium of prospective cohorts in Europe. J Natl Cancer Inst 2016;108.
- 4. Annual report (2017) of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) 2017. https://dccg.dk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/DCCG-%C3%85rsrapport-2017.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 5. Baer C, Menon R, Bastawrous S et al. Emergency presentations of colorectal cancer. Surg Clin North Am 2017;97:529-45.
- 6. Brannstrom F and Gunnarsson U. Risk factors for local recurrence after emergency resection for colon cancer: scenario in Sweden. Dig Surg 2016;33:503-8.
- 7. Sjo OH, Larsen S, Lunde OC et al. Short term outcome after emergency and elective surgery for colon cancer. Colorectal Dis 2009;11:733-9.
- 8. Annual report (2016) of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) 2016. http://dccg.dk/pdf/2017/Aarsrapport_2016.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 9. Pruitt SL, Davidson NO, Gupta S et al. Missed opportunities: racial and neighborhood socioeconomic disparities in emergency colorectal cancer diagnosis and surgery. BMC Cancer 2014;14:927.
- 10. Aquina CT, Becerra AZ, Xu Z et al. Nonelective colon cancer resection: a continued public health concern. Surgery 2017;161:1609-18.
- 11. Askari A, Nachiappan S, Currie A et al. Who requires emergency surgery for colorectal cancer and can national screening programmes reduce this need? Int J Surg 2017;42:60-68.
- 12. Pucciarelli S, Zorzi M, Gennaro N et al. In-hospital mortality, 30-day readmission, and length of hospital stay after surgery for primary colorectal cancer: a national population-based study. Eur J Surg Oncol 2017;43:1312-23.
- 13. Askari A, Malietzis G, Nachiappan S et al. Defining characteristics of patients with colorectal cancer requiring emergency surgery. Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30:1329-36.

- 14. Iversen LH, Bulow S, Christensen IJ et al. Postoperative medical complications are the main cause of early death after emergency surgery for colonic cancer. Br J Surg 2008;95:1012-9.
- 15. Landsdækkende database for kræft i tyk- og endetarmen (DCCG). Årsrapport 2014. http://www.dccg.dk. Accessed February 2019.
- 16. McArdle CS and Hole DJ. Emergency presentation of colorectal cancer is associated with poor 5-year survival. Br J Surg 2004;91:605-9.
- 17. Osterman E and Glimelius B. Recurrence risk after up-to-date colon cancer staging, surgery, and pathology: analysis of the entire Swedish population. Dis Colon Rectum 2018;61:1016-25.
- 18. Paulson EC, Mahmoud NN, Wirtalla C et al. Acuity and survival in colon cancer surgery. Dis Colon Rectum 2010;53:385-92.
- 19. Askari A, Nachiappan S, Currie A et al. The relationship between ethnicity, social deprivation and late presentation of colorectal cancer. Cancer Epidemiol 2017;47:88-93.
- Iversen LH, Ingeholm P, Gogenur I et al. Major reduction in 30-day mortality after elective colorectal cancer surgery: a nationwide population-based study in Denmark 2001-2011. Ann Surg Oncol 2014;21:2267-73.
- Iversen LH, Green A, Ingeholm P et al. Improved survival of colorectal cancer in Denmark during 2001-2012 - the efforts of several national initiatives. Acta Oncol 2016;55 Suppl 2:10-23.
- 22. DMCG.dk Benchmarking II Consortium 2017 https://www.regioner.dk/media/4410/benchmarking-ii_rapport_final.pdf. Accessed February 2019
- 23. Moons KG, Royston P, Vergouwe Y et al. Prognosis and prognostic research: what, why, and how? Bmj 2009;338:b375.
- 24. Tekkis PP, Poloniecki JD, Thompson MR et al. Operative mortality in colorectal cancer: prospective national study. Bmj 2003;327:1196-201.
- 25. Hingorani AD, Windt DA, Riley RD et al. Prognosis research strategy (PROGRESS) 4: stratified medicine research. Bmj 2013;346:e5793.
- 26. Moons KG, Altman DG, Reitsma JB et al. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): explanation and elaboration. Ann Intern Med 2015;162:W1-73.
- 27. Moons KG, Altman DG, Vergouwe Y et al. Prognosis and prognostic research: application and impact of prognostic models in clinical practice. Bmj 2009;338:b606.
- 28. Variable description in the DCCG.dk database https://www.rkkpdokumentation.dk/Public/Variable.aspx?db=46&version=1. Accessed February 2019

- 29. Guidelines for registration in the DCCG database 2014 <u>https://dccg.dk/wp-</u>content/uploads/2018/06/DCCG-kirurgiskema-2014-vejledning.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 30. NCEPOD classification of intervention https://www.ncepod.org.uk/classification.html. Accessed February 2019
- 31. Gunnarsson H, Jennische K, Forssell S et al. Heterogeneity of colon cancer patients reported as emergencies. World J Surg 2014;38:1819-26.
- 32. Teixeira F, Akaishi EH, Ushinohama AZ et al. Can we respect the principles of oncologic resection in an emergency surgery to treat colon cancer? World J Emerg Surg 2015;10:5.
- Biondo S, Kreisler E, Millan M et al. Differences in patient postoperative and long-term outcomes between obstructive and perforated colonic cancer. Am J Surg 2008;195:427-32.
- 34. Tekkis PP, Kinsman R, Thompson MR et al. The Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland study of large bowel obstruction caused by colorectal cancer. Ann Surg 2004;240:76-81.
- 35. DCCG.dk clinical guidelines for acute surgery <u>https://dccg.dk/wp-</u> content/uploads/2017/08/2014_akut_final.pdf. Accessed February 2019
- 36. De Ceglie A, Filiberti R, Baron TH et al. A meta-analysis of endoscopic stenting as bridge to surgery versus emergency surgery for left-sided colorectal cancer obstruction. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2013;88:387-403.
- Huang X, Lv B, Zhang S et al. Preoperative colonic stents versus emergency surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction: a meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Surg 2014;18:584-91.
- 38. Amelung FJ, de Beaufort HW, Siersema PD et al. Emergency resection versus bridge to surgery with stenting in patients with acute right-sided colonic obstruction: a systematic review focusing on mortality and morbidity rates. Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30:1147-55.
- 39. Avlund TH, Erichsen R, Ravn S et al. The prognostic impact of bowel perforation following self-expanding metal stent as a bridge to surgery in colorectal cancer obstruction. Surg Endosc 2017.
- 40. Gorissen KJ, Tuynman JB, Fryer E et al. Local recurrence after stenting for obstructing left-sided colonic cancer. Br J Surg 2013;100:1805-9.
- 41. Sabbagh C, Browet F, Diouf M et al. Is stenting as "a bridge to surgery" an oncologically safe strategy for the management of acute, left-sided, malignant, colonic obstruction? A comparative study with a propensity score analysis. Ann Surg 2013;258:107-15.
- 42. Zhou Y, Abel GA, Hamilton W et al. Diagnosis of cancer as an emergency: a critical review of current evidence. Nat Rev Clin Oncol 2017;14:45-56.

- 43. Weller D, Vedsted P, Rubin G et al. The Aarhus statement: improving design and reporting of studies on early cancer diagnosis. Br J Cancer 2012;106:1262-7.
- 44. Mitchell E, Macdonald S, Campbell NC et al. Influences on pre-hospital delay in the diagnosis of colorectal cancer: a systematic review. Br J Cancer 2008;98:60-70.
- 45. Nichols S, Waters WE, Fraser JD et al. Delay in the presentation of breast symptoms for consultant investigation. Community Med 1981;3:217-25.
- 46. Macleod U, Mitchell ED, Burgess C et al. Risk factors for delayed presentation and referral of symptomatic cancer: evidence for common cancers. Br J Cancer 2009;101 Suppl 2:S92-s101.
- 47. Bergin RJ, Emery J, Bollard RC et al. Rural-urban disparities in time to diagnosis and treatment for colorectal and breast cancer. Cancer Epidemiology Biomarkers and Prevention 2018;27:1036-46.
- 48. Hvidberg L, Wulff CN, Pedersen AF et al. Barriers to healthcare seeking, beliefs about cancer and the role of socio-economic position. A Danish population-based study. Prev Med 2015;71:107-13.
- 49. Pedersen AF, Forbes L, Brain K et al. Negative cancer beliefs, recognition of cancer symptoms and anticipated time to help-seeking: an international cancer benchmarking partnership (ICBP) study. BMC Cancer 2018;18.
- 50. Comber H, Sharp L, de Camargo Cancela M et al. Causes and outcomes of emergency presentation of rectal cancer. Int J Cancer 2016;139:1031-9.
- 51. Hangaard Hansen C, Gogenur M, Tvilling Madsen M et al. The effect of time from diagnosis to surgery on oncological outcomes in patients undergoing surgery for colon cancer: a systematic review. Eur J Surg Oncol 2018;44:1479-85.
- 52. Ramos M, Esteva M, Cabeza E et al. Lack of association between diagnostic and therapeutic delay and stage of colorectal cancer. Eur J Cancer 2008;44:510-21.
- 53. Ramos M, Esteva M, Cabeza E et al. Relationship of diagnostic and therapeutic delay with survival in colorectal cancer: a review. Eur J Cancer 2007;43:2467-78.
- 54. Weixler B, Warschkow R, Ramser M et al. Urgent surgery after emergency presentation for colorectal cancer has no impact on overall and disease-free survival: a propensity score analysis. BMC Cancer 2016;16:208.
- 55. Le Voyer TE, Sigurdson ER, Hanlon AL et al. Colon cancer survival is associated with increasing number of lymph nodes analyzed: a secondary survey of intergroup trial INT-0089. J Clin Oncol 2003;21:2912-9.
- 56. Gunnarsson H, Ekholm A and Olsson LI. Emergency presentation and socioeconomic status in colon cancer. Eur J Surg Oncol 2013;39:831-6.

- 57. Krieger N, Williams DR and Moss NE. Measuring social class in US public health research: concepts, methodologies, and guidelines. Annu Rev Public Health 1997;18:341-78.
- 58. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA et al. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J Epidemiol Community Health 2006;60:7-12.
- 59. Frederiksen BL, Osler M, Harling H et al. The impact of socioeconomic factors on 30-day mortality following elective colorectal cancer surgery: a nationwide study. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:1248-56.
- 60. Dalton SO, Olsen MH, Johansen C et al. Socioeconomic inequality in cancer survival changes over time. A population-based study, Denmark, 1987-2013. Acta Oncol 2019:1-8.
- 61. Frederiksen BL, Jorgensen T, Brasso K et al. Socioeconomic position and participation in colorectal cancer screening. Br J Cancer 2010;103:1496-501.
- 62. Cavalli-Bjorkman N, Lambe M, Eaker S et al. Differences according to educational level in the management and survival of colorectal cancer in Sweden. Eur J Cancer 2011;47:1398-406.
- 63. Manser CN and Bauerfeind P. Impact of socioeconomic status on incidence, mortality, and survival of colorectal cancer patients: a systematic review. Gastrointest Endosc 2014;80:42-60.e9.
- 64. Moons KG, Kengne AP, Woodward M et al. Risk prediction models: I. Development, internal validation, and assessing the incremental value of a new (bio)marker. Heart 2012;98:683-90.
- 65. National guidelines from National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg131/evidence/full-guideline-pdf-183509677. Accessed February 2019.
- 66. National guidelines, Sweeden http://www.cancercentrum.se/globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/tjock--och-andtarmanal/vardprogram/nvpkolorektalcancer_2016-03-15.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 67. Camm AJ, Lip GY, De Caterina R et al. 2012 focused update of the ESC guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation: an update of the 2010 ESC guidelines for the management of atrial fibrillation. Developed with the special contribution of the European Heart Rhythm Association. Eur Heart J 2012;33:2719-47.
- 68. January CT, Wann LS, Alpert JS et al. 2014 AHA/ACC/HRS guideline for the management of patients with atrial fibrillation: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on practice guidelines and the Heart Rhythm Society. J Am Coll Cardiol 2014;64:e1-76.
- 69. Watterberg KL, Aucott S, Benitz WE et al. The Apgar score. Pediatrics. 2015;136:819-2

- 70. Degett TH, Iversen LH and Gogenur I. [Scoring systems for assessment of 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery]. Ugeskr Laeger 2015;177.
- 71. Richards CH, Leitch FE, Horgan PG et al. A systematic review of POSSUM and its related models as predictors of post-operative mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer. J Gastrointest Surg 2010;14:1511-20.
- 72. Fazio VW, Tekkis PP, Remzi F et al. Assessment of operative risk in colorectal cancer surgery: the Cleveland Clinic Foundation colorectal cancer model. Dis Colon Rectum 2004;47:2015-24.
- Ferjani AM, Griffin D, Stallard N et al. A newly devised scoring system for prediction of mortality in patients with colorectal cancer: a prospective study. Lancet Oncol 2007;8:317-22.
- 74. Steyerberg EW and Vergouwe Y. Towards better clinical prediction models: seven steps for development and an ABCD for validation. Eur Heart J 2014;35:1925-31.
- 75. Tolles J and Meurer WJ. Logistic regression: relating patient characteristics to outcomes. Jama 2016;316:533-4.
- 76. Thygesen LC, Daasnes C, Thaulow I et al. Introduction to Danish (nationwide) registers on health and social issues: structure, access, legislation, and archiving. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:12-6.
- 77. Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22-5.
- 78. Sorensen HT, Pedersen L, Jorgensen J et al. Danish clinical quality databases an important and untapped resource for clinical research. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:425-27.
- 79. Statistics Denmark, https://www.dst.dk/en. Accessed February 2019.
- 80. Ingeholm P, Gogenur I and Iversen LH. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:465-68.
- 81. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL and Rebolj M. The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:30-3.
- 82. Jensen VM and Rasmussen AW. Danish Education Registers. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:91-4.
- 83. Baadsgaard M and Quitzau J. Danish registers on personal income and transfer payments. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:103-5.
- 84. Iversen LH. Aspects of survival from colorectal cancer in Denmark. Dan Med J 2012;59:B4428.
- 85. Richards CH, Leitch EF, Anderson JH et al. The revised ACPGBI model is a simple and accurate predictor of operative mortality after potentially curative resection of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:3680-5.

- 86. Zajacova A and Lawrence EM. The relationship between education and health: reducing disparities through a contextual approach. Annu Rev Public Health 2018;39:273-89.
- 87. Danish Business Authority report on urbanicity municipalities 2017 https://www.livogland.dk/sites/livogland.dk/files/dokumenter/publikationer/rapportkommunetyper.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 88. Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ, Cook NR et al. Assessing the performance of prediction models: a framework for traditional and novel measures. Epidemiology 2010;21:128-38.
- 89. Pencina MJ and D'Agostino RB, Sr. Evaluating discrimination of risk prediction models: the c statistic. Jama 2015;314:1063-4.
- 90. Hanley JA and McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology 1982;143:29-36.
- 91. Rubin DB. Inference and missing data. Biometrika 1976;63:581-92.
- 92. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. Bmj 2009;338:b2393.
- 93. Morris TP, White IR, Royston P et al. Multiple imputation for an incomplete covariate that is a ratio. Stat Med 2014;33:88-104.
- 94. White IR, Royston P and Wood AM. Multiple imputation using chained equations: issues and guidance for practice. Stat Med 2011;30:377-99.
- 95. Vach W and Blettner M. Biased estimation of the odds ratio in case-control studies due to the use of ad hoc methods of correcting for missing values for confounding variables. Am J Epidemiol 1991;134:895-907.
- 96. Cox DR. Interaction. International Statistical Review 1984;52:1-24.
- 97. Danish law on ethics in healthcare research https://www.retsinformation.dk/Forms/r0710.aspx?id=192671. Accessed February 2019.
- 98. Teeuwen PH, Bremers AJ, Groenewoud JM et al. Predictive value of POSSUM and ACPGBI scoring in mortality and morbidity of colorectal resection: a case-control study. J Gastrointest Surg 2011;15:294-303.
- 99. Yan J, Wang YX and Li ZP. Predictive value of the POSSUM, p-POSSUM, cr-POSSUM, APACHE II and ACPGBI scoring systems in colorectal cancer resection. J Int Med Res 2011;39:1464-73.
- 100. Ozkan O, Guner A, Kaya U et al. Evaluation of CR-POSSUM, original ACPGBI and new ACPGBI scoring systems for colorectal cancer surgery. Chirurgia (Bucur) 2014;109:800-5.

- 101. Kyriacou DN and Lewis RJ. Confounding by indication in clinical research. Jama 2016;316:1818-19.
- 102. Thygesen LC and Ersboll AK. When the entire population is the sample: strengths and limitations in register-based epidemiology. Eur J Epidemiol 2014;29:551-8.
- 103. Coughlin SS. Recall bias in epidemiologic studies. J Clin Epidemiol 1990;43:87-91.
- 104. Schulz KF, Altman DG and Moher D. CONSORT 2010 statement: updated guidelines for reporting parallel group randomised trials. BMJ 2010;340.
- 105. Alvarez JA, Baldonedo RF, Bear IG et al. Presentation, treatment, and multivariate analysis of risk factors for obstructive and perforative colorectal carcinoma. Am J Surg 2005;190:376-82.
- 106. Alvarez JA, Baldonedo RF, Bear IG et al. Obstructing colorectal carcinoma: outcome and risk factors for morbidity and mortality. Dig Surg 2005;22:174-81.
- 107. Al-Temimi MH, Griffee M, Enniss TM et al. When is death inevitable after emergency laparotomy? Analysis of the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program database. J Am Coll Surg 2012;215:503-11.
- 108. Schneeweiss S. Sensitivity analysis and external adjustment for unmeasured confounders in epidemiologic database studies of therapeutics. Pharmacoepidemiol Drug Saf 2006;15:291-303.
- 109. Tengberg LT, Bay-Nielsen M, Bisgaard T et al. Multidisciplinary perioperative protocol in patients undergoing acute high-risk abdominal surgery. Br J Surg 2017;104:463-71.
- 110. Huddart S, Peden CJ, Swart M et al. Use of a pathway quality improvement care bundle to reduce mortality after emergency laparotomy. Br J Surg 2015;102:57-66.
- 111. Shang Y, Guo C and Zhang D. Modified enhanced recovery after surgery protocols are beneficial for postoperative recovery for patients undergoing emergency surgery for obstructive colorectal cancer: a propensity score matching analysis. Medicine (Baltimore) 2018;97:e12348.
- 112. Deding U, Henig AS, Salling A et al. Sociodemographic predictors of participation in colorectal cancer screening. Int J Colorectal Dis 2017;32:1117-24.
- 113. Larsen SB, Brasso K, Christensen J et al. Socioeconomic position and mortality among patients with prostate cancer: influence of mediating factors. Acta Oncol 2017;56:563-68.
- 114. Ibfelt EH, Kjaer SK, Hogdall C et al. Socioeconomic position and survival after cervical cancer: influence of cancer stage, comorbidity and smoking among Danish women diagnosed between 2005 and 2010. Br J Cancer 2013;109:2489-95.

14. Appendix

Appendix 1	. Categorisation	and translation of highest attained education
11	0	

Catego	orisation:	Definition		
i.	Short (10,15)	Mandatory school, corresponding to a maximum length of		
		education of seven years for persons born before 1 January		
		1958, and nine years for persons born at or after this date.		
ii.	Medium (20, 25, 35, 39)	Secondary school and vocational education, which		
		approximate to a maximum of 10-12 years of schooling.		
iii.	Higher (40, 50, 60, 65, 70)	Short, medium or long-term higher education, approximately		
		over 12 years of education.		

Translation to the Danish education vocabulary (references in the categorization)

Category	Type of education				
Short	10 Grundskole				
	15 Forberedende uddannelser				
Medium	20 Almene gymnasiale uddannelser 22 Grundskole længere end obligatorisk, for personer født før 1958.				
	30 Erhvervsfaglige grundforløb				
	35 Erhvervsfaglige praktik og hovedforløb 39 Efteruddannelse af faglærte				
Higher	40 Korte videregående uddannelser 50 Mellemlange videregående uddannelser				
	60 Bachelor 65 Lange videregående uddannelser 70 Forskeruddannelse				

Appendix 2. Specification of the categorisation of urbanicity for each municipality from the bench marking report [22].

In translation of the Danish terminology the following word are used in the thesis Bykommune equals city, Mellemkommune equals town, Landkommune equals rural, Yderkommune equals peripheral.

Kommune	Kommune	Region	Region	Geokode
Kode 101	Vahanhaun	Kode 084	Navn	Pukommuno
101	Epoderikahora	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
147	Frederiksberg	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
151	Ballerup	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
153	Brøndby	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
155	Dragør	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
157	Gentofte	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
159	Gladsaxe	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
161	Glostrup	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
163	Herlev	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
165	Albertslund	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
167	Hvidovre	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
169	Høje-Taastrup	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
173	Lyngby-Taarbæk	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
175	Rødovre	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
183	lshøj	084	Hovedstaden	Mellemkommune
185	Tårnby	084	Hovedstaden	Mellemkommune
187	Vallensbæk	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
190	Furesø	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
201	Allerød	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
210	Fredensborg	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
217	Helsingør	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
219	Hillerød	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
223	Hørsholm	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
230	Rudersdal	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
240	Egedal	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
250	Frederikssund	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
253	Greve	085	Sjælland	Bykommune
259	Køge	085	Sjælland	Bykommune
260	Halsnæs	084	Hovedstaden	Mellemkommune
265	Roskilde	085	Sjælland	Bykommune
269	Solrød	085	Sjælland	Bykommune
270	Gribskov	084	Hovedstaden	Bykommune
306	Odsherred	085	Sjælland	Landkommune
316	Holbæk	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
320	Faxe	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
326	Kalundborg	085	Sjælland	Landkommune
329	Ringsted	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
330	Slagelse	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
336	Stevns	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
340	Sorø	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune

350	Lejre	085	Sjælland	Bykommune
360	Lolland	085	Sjælland	Yderkommune
370	Næstved	085	Sjælland	Mellemkommune
376	Guldborgsund	085	Sjælland	Landkommune
390	Vordingborg	085	Sjælland	Landkommune
400	Bornholm	084	Hovedstaden	Yderkommune
410	Middelfart	083	Syddanmark	Mellemkommune
411	Christiansø	084	Hovedstaden	Yderkommune
420	Assens	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
430	Faaborg-Midtfyn	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
440	Kerteminde	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
450	Nyborg	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
461	Odense	083	Syddanmark	Bykommune
479	Svendborg	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
480	Nordfyns	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
482	Langeland	083	Syddanmark	Yderkommune
492	Ærø	083	Syddanmark	Yderkommune
510	Haderslev	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
530	Billund	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
540	Sønderborg	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
550	Tønder	083	Syddanmark	Yderkommune
561	Esbjerg	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
563	Fanø	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
573	Varde	083	Syddanmark	Yderkommune
575	Vejen	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
580	Aabenraa	083	Syddanmark	Landkommune
607	Fredericia	083	Syddanmark	Mellemkommune
615	Horsens	082	Midtjylland	Mellemkommune
621	Kolding	083	Syddanmark	Bykommune
630	Vejle	083	Syddanmark	Mellemkommune
657	Herning	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
661	Holstebro	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
665	Lemvig	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune
671	Struer	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune
706	Syddjurs	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
707	Norddjurs	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune
710	Favrskov	082	Midtjylland	Mellemkommune
727	Odder	082	Midtjylland	Mellemkommune
730	Randers	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
740	Silkeborg	082	Midtjylland	Mellemkommune
741	Samsø	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune
746	Skanderborg	082	Midtjylland	Bykommune
751	Aarhus	082	Midtjylland	Bykommune
756	Ikast-Brande	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
760	Ringkøbing-Skjern	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune

766	Hedensted	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
773	Morsø	081	Nordjylland	Yderkommune
779	Skive	082	Midtjylland	Yderkommune
787	Thisted	081	Nordjylland	Yderkommune
791	Viborg	082	Midtjylland	Landkommune
810	Brønderslev-Dronninglund	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune
813	Frederikshavn	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune
820	Vesthimmerlands	081	Nordjylland	Yderkommune
825	Læsø	081	Nordjylland	Yderkommune
840	Rebild	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune
846	Mariagerfjord	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune
849	Jammerbugt	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune
851	Aalborg	081	Nordjylland	Bykommune
860	Hjørring	081	Nordjylland	Landkommune

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



A model predicting operative mortality in the UK has only limited value in Denmark

Thea Helene Degett¹ · Ole Roikjær^{2,4} · Lene Hjerrild Iversen^{3,4} · Ismail Gögenur^{1,4}

Accepted: 19 November 2017 / Published online: 26 December 2017 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2017

Abstract

Purpose Postoperative mortality from colorectal cancer varies between surgical departments. Several models have been developed to predict the operative risk. This study aims to investigate whether the original and the revised Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI) model can predict 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark.

Methods Data were collected from the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database which has >95% completeness. All patients operated on from January 2007 to December 2013 were included. The individual estimated operative risk was calculated with the original and revised ACPGBI models. Discrimination and calibration were evaluated with a Receiver Operating Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis and a Hosmer-Lemeshow test, respectively.

Results In total, 22,807 patients underwent open or laparoscopic colorectal cancer surgery. After excluding 1437 patients because of missing data, 21,370 patients were left for the analyses. The observed 30-day mortality was 5.0%. The original and revised ACPGBI models estimated an operative risk of 7.0 and 4.0%, respectively, with a significant difference in observed and estimated mortality in both models. However, in patients with an estimated risk of at least 26%, i.e., high-risk, good calibration was found with the original ACPGBI model. Discrimination was good with an AUC of 0.83 (95% CI 0.82–0.84) in both models.

Conclusion The original and revised ACPGBI models are not suitable prediction models for postoperative mortality in the Danish colorectal cancer population. However, the original model might be applicable in predicting mortality in high-risk patients.

Keywords Calibration · Colorectal cancer · Study population · Prediction model · ACPGBI · 30-day mortality

Introduction

Colorectal cancer is responsible for more than 700,000 deaths annually worldwide [1, 2]. In Denmark, more than 5000 people were diagnosed with colorectal cancer in 2015, of whom 85% underwent surgical resection of the primary tumor [3].

Thea Helene Degett theadegett@gmail.com

- ¹ Centre for Surgical Science (CSS), Zealand University Hospital, Lykkebækvej 1, 4600 Køge, Denmark
- ² Department of Surgery, Zealand University Hospital, Roskilde, Denmark
- ³ Department of Surgery, Section of Coloproctology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark
- ⁴ Danish Colorectal Cancer Group, Copenhagen, Denmark

The postoperative mortality varies widely among European countries [4, 5]. In Denmark, the 30-day mortality rate in 2014 was 1.6% after elective surgery, but as high as 15.0% after acute surgery [3].

There is increasing focus on tailored surgical therapy and prehabilitation in patients with cancer scheduled for surgery. An increasing number of non-operative and endoscopic treatment options may challenge even further the process of shared decision-making for clinicians and patients. Therefore, knowing the operative risk is beneficial not only in order to optimize perioperative treatment, but also to improve counseling and guidance of the individual patient. Prediction models to estimate postoperative mortality may accomplish these tasks, but would also be useful for comparisons of mortality between hospitals, regions, and countries.

Several prediction models have been developed to estimate the risk of postoperative death from colorectal surgery [6–8]. In 2003, the Association of Coloproctology of Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI) developed a promising model based on a UK cohort [9]. A revised version of the model was available online in 2010 [10] and evaluated as an accurate prediction model in an external validation in 2011 [7]. No models have been tested in the Danish population, and we hypothesized that the ACPGBI model might be valuable in the Danish context to identify high-risk patients.

The aim of this study was to validate the original and revised ACPGBI prediction models in a Danish nationwide cohort.

Methods

Data source

Data were collected from a nation-wide database established in 2001 by the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG) including all colorectal cancer patients diagnosed and/or treated at any surgical department in Denmark. Data for each patient concerning the disease, comorbidity, treatment, and

 Table 1
 Parameters for calculating mortality for the ACPGBI models

postoperative complications are registered prospectively into the database with a national completeness rate of >95% [3, 11]. Mortality data are continuously updated from the Danish National Registry of Patients (DNRP) by linkage with the unique, personal 10-digit Central Population Registry (CPR) number assigned to all Danish citizens.

The study population

The population consists of patients in the DCCG database operated on for primary colorectal cancer from January 2007 to December 2013. Only patients who underwent operative procedures included in the revised ACPGBI model were included (see Table 1), irrespective of surgical approach (open or laparoscopic) and operative priority (emergency or elective). Thus, patients undergoing minor procedures such as polypectomies or other kinds of local excisions were not included.

Patients with data insufficient to calculate either the original or the revised ACPGBI score were excluded.

Risk factor		Score original ACPGBI		Score revised ACPGBI
Age (vrs)	≤65	0		0
0 0 1	65–74	0.7		0.356
	75–84	1.1		0.959
	85–94	1.3		1.347
	≥ 95	2.6		1.866
ASA status		Cancer resected ^a	Cancer not resected ^a	
	ASA I	0	1.7	0
	ASA II	0.8	1.8	0.462
	ASA III	1.6	2.1	1.159
	ASA IV/V	2.5	2.4	2.196
Cancer staging	Dukes A	0		0
	Dukes B	0		0.314
	Dukes C	0.2		0.498
	Dukes D or any	0.6		0.809
Operative urgency	Elective	0		0
	Urgent/emergency ^c	0.8		0.866
Operative procedure ^b	Right hemicolectomy			0
	Transverse colectomy			0.522
	Left hemicolectomy			0.039
	Sigmoid colectomy			0.301
	Subtotal/total colectomy			0.022
	Anterior resection			0.293
	APER			0.337
	Hartmann's procedure			0.129
	Palliative stoma			0.467
	EUA/laparotomy/laparoscopy only			0.286

^a In the original ACPGBI model only

^b In the revised ACPGBI model only

^c We cannot distinguish between emergency and urgent in our data and assign the urgent score to all patients registered as "acute surgery" *APER* Abdomino Perineal Excision of Rectum, *EUA* examination under anesthesia

Equation for calculation of risk of death:

Original ACPGBI score: ln(R/1-R) = -4859 + (total ACPGBI score)

Revised ACPGBI score: ln(R/1-R) = -5123 + (total ACPGBI revised score)

Data extraction

For each patient, we extracted data regarding age, American Society of Anesthesiology (ASA) grade, cancer stage according to the UICC classification, priority of operation (emergency or elective), surgical procedure, 30-day postoperative mortality, and surgical approach (open or laparoscopic).

The ACPGBI model categorizes acute surgery into two groups, emergency surgery (surgery within 1 hour) [12] and urgent surgery (surgery within 24 h), according to the classification of the National Confidential Enquiry into Perioperative Deaths (NCEPOD) in 2000 [12]. The DCCG database does not distinguish between these two categories; hence, all patients with acute presentation were given a score equivalent to urgent surgery.

Statistical analyses

The mortality risk was calculated for each patient using the original and the revised ACPGBI models [9, 10], see Table 1. Observed mortality was compared with estimated mortality, according to the original and revised ACPGBI models, by two statistical methods. First, we investigated the calibration of the model with the Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test [13]. Calibration refers to the model's ability to predict the correct mortality risk. Patients were divided into ten groups according to the estimated mortality with an increase of approximately 10% risk in each group. The mean rate of observed and estimated mortality (O/E ratio) was calculated for each group. When the estimated risk did not differ significantly from the observed risk, the O/E ratio was close to one with a p value of more than 0.05, indicating a good calibration. Secondly, discrimination was investigated with a Receiver Operated Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis [13, 14] that describes how well the model classifies patients who die within 30 days postoperatively. An area under the curve (AUC) between 0.7 and 0.8 is regarded as "fair discrimination," and values higher than 0.8 are regarded as "good discrimination" [14].

Subgroup analyses on laparoscopic and open surgery were assessed for both models. We also investigated if 30-day mortality of patients excluded because of missing values differed from that of included patients.

IBM SPSS version 22, Chicago, Illinois, USA was used for statistical analyses. The study was reported to the Danish Data Protection Agency with registration number 2014-331-0777. Under Danish law, registration with the Danish Ethical Committee was not required.

Results

A total of 22,807 patients registered in the DCCG database underwent operations for colorectal cancer between 2007 and 2013. Due to missing data for at least one variable in either of the models, 1437 (6%) of the patients were excluded from all statistical analysis, hence, the operative risk was estimated for 21,370 patients with the original and revised ACPGBI models.

The 30-day mortality was 5.0% for the included patients and 14% for the excluded patients. Demography of the included population is illustrated in Table 2. The median age was 71 years (25–75 percentile ranged from 63 to 78 years), and 5007 patients (23%) were in ASA classes III or IV. The number of patients included each year varied from 2949 to 3200. In total, 9874 (46%) of the surgical procedures were performed by laparoscopy, with a gradually increased implementation from 26% of all procedures in 2007 to 62% in 2013. The 30-day mortality rate was significantly higher after open surgery (7.2%) than after laparoscopy (2.4%), p < 0.01.

 Table 2
 Demographic characteristics of the study population

	Number of patients (%)	
Age (yrs)		
<65	6075	(28.4)
65-84	13,395	(62.7)
> 84	1900	(8.9)
Sex		
Female	10,035	(47.0)
Male	11,335	(53.0)
Operative priority		
Elective	18,836	(88.1)
Acute	2534	(11.9)
Clinicopathologic stage ^a		
UICC I	3492	(16.3)
UICC II	7731	(36.2)
UICC III	6250	(29.3)
UICC IV	3897	(18.2)
ASA		
ASA I–II	16,363	(76.6)
ASA III–V	5007	(23.4)
Cancer site		
Colon	14,552	(68.1)
Rectum	6818	(31.9)
Surgical approach		
Open	11,496	(53.8)
Laparoscopy	9874	(46.2)
Observed mortality (all patients)		
30-day mortality	1062	(5.0)

ASA American Society of Anesthesiologists

^a In the risk estimation, UICC stage was converted to Dukes stage. UICC I equals Dukes A, UICC II equals Dukes B, UICC III equals Dukes C, and UICC IV equals Dukes D

Calibration of the models

In the total population, the original ACPGBI model overestimated the risk of postoperative mortality, while the revised model underestimated this risk, see Table 3. There was no evidence of good calibration in either model when testing with the Hosmer-Lemeshow test (p < 0.001). This is illustrated in Fig. 1 by the bars of each risk group deviating from O/E = 1. Both the original and revised ACPGBI model lack the ability to predict the 30-day mortality for patients, with an estimated risk of up to 25%. However, in high-risk patients, i.e., those with an estimated risk of at least 26%, the original ACPGBI model was a good predictor for 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery. Thus, there was a good calibration with no significant difference in observed and estimated mortality when analyzing only those patients with an estimated risk of 26% or more. The revised ACPGBI model did not have the same good calibration; thus, there was also a significant difference in observed and estimated mortality in the subgroup analysis of patients with an estimated risk of operative death of 26% or more. The high-risk cases comprised 1185 patients in the original model and 634 patients in the revised model.

In the stratified analyses by surgical approach (open or laparoscopic), the Hosmer-Lemeshow test showed significant difference in both models (p < 0.001) between the observed and estimated mortality after open surgery. In patients operated on with a laparoscopic approach, the revised ACPGBI model had a good calibration; thus there was no significant difference between the observed and estimated mortality, see Table 3. As for the total population, the original ACPGBI model showed good calibration in separate subgroup analyses

of the open- and laparoscopic surgical approaches for highrisk patients.

Discrimination of the models

Discrimination was good in both the original and the revised ACPGBI models with an AUC of 0.83 (95% CI 0.82–0.84) and 0.83 (95% CI 0.82–0.84), respectively, see Table 2 and Fig. 2. In stratified analyses by surgical approach, both the original and revised models performed better in open surgery compared with a laparoscopic approach, with a "good" and "fair" discrimination, respectively, see Table 3.

Discussion and conclusions

This study is the first to validate the ACPGBI models in a Danish population-based cohort. We found that the original model overestimated the risk of postoperative mortality, while the revised model underestimated this risk, irrespective of the surgical approach. The original model, but not the revised one, was a good prediction model in high-risk patients. The revised model had good calibration in the stratified analysis of only those patients undergoing the laparoscopic approach. Discrimination was good in both models, indicating a good ability to identify the patients likely to die after surgery.

Previous studies have validated both the original and the revised ACPGBI models. The original model has been validated in two UK studies with 618 and 423 patients [6, 7], one Dutch study with 190 patients [15], and one Chinese study with 1695 patients [16] operated for colorectal cancer. Calibration was calculated in three of the studies [6, 7, 16],

 Table 3
 Comparison of the original and revised ACPGBI model for all patients, and subgroup analyses for patients undergoing open or laparoscopic surgery

Model	Observed 30-day mortality	Mean estimated 30-day mortality	Overall O/E	AUC	Calibration ^a (sum, <i>p</i> value with 8 degrees of freedom)
Original ACPGBI	5.0%	7.0%	0.71	0.83 (95% CI 0.82–0.84)	174.9, <i>p</i> < 0.001*
Revised ACPGBI		4.0%	1.25	0.83 (95% CI 0.82-0.84)	85.0, <i>p</i> < 0.001*
Open surgery Original ACPGBI	7.2%	8.6%	0.84	0.83 (95% CI 0.81–0.84)	54.5, <i>p</i> < 0.001*
Open surgery Revised ACPGBI		5.1%	1.41	0.83 (95% CI 0.82–0.84)	124.3, <i>p</i> < 0.001*
Laparoscopic Original ACPGBI	2.4%	5.2%	0.46	0.78 (95% CI 0.75–0.81)	148.2, <i>p</i> < 0.001*
Laparoscopic Revised ACPGBI		2.8%	0.88	0.78 (95% CI 0.75–0.81)	11.3, NS

NS not significant

*Indicates that observed mortality is significantly different from the estimated mortality, when divided into ten risk groups

^a Calibration was calculated with a Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test after dividing the population into ten risk groups according to estimated mortality



Fig. 1 Calibration of the model with a Hosmer-Lemeshow goodness-of-fit test

all showing a significant difference between the observed and estimated mortality. Discrimination was good in the Dutch and Chinese studies with an AUC of 0.85 (95% CI not reported) [15], and 0.87 (95% CI 0.87–0.91) [16], respectively. In the two UK studies, the discrimination was only fair with an AUC of 0.70 (95% CI 0.66–0.73) [6], and 0.76 (95% CI 0.68–0.84) [7], respectively. One of these studies also validated the revised ACPGBI model on 423 patients with a 30-day postoperative mortality rate of 4% [7]. The model showed good calibration with no significant different in observed and estimated mortality, and a fair discrimination with an AUC of 0.73 (95% CI 0.63–0.82) [7].

A model developed using UK patients might not be applicable in patient populations from other countries because of variations in postoperative mortality and causes of postoperative death [4, 5, 17]. Geographical differences are likely due to variations in organization of the health systems, perioperative care, access and quality of treatment, quality of reporting systems, and in general health in the population, such as high smoking rate, a high prevalence of obesity, comorbidity, and widespread low socioeconomic status [4, 5]. Organizational structures and perioperative optimization are important for improved postoperative survival. A recent Danish cohort study attributes the observed improvement in colorectal cancer survival in Denmark the past 15 years to several national initiatives [18]. Introduction of national guidelines, laparoscopic surgery, multi-disciplinary team conferences prior to elective surgery, specialization of colorectal cancer surgeons, and concentration of hospitals performing colorectal cancer surgery are some of the factors suggested to be responsible for the improved outcome. Geographical variations in national health care organization and treatment strategy of colorectal cancer are assumed to be the main reasons why results from validation of the ACPGBI models vary among the studies from the UK, the Netherlands, China, and Denmark. The different results emphasize the importance of an individual prediction model for each country tailored to the composition of the population and complexity of the treatment quality and access.

The first ACPGBI model was developed more than 10 years ago. Both perioperative and surgical standards have changed within that time [19]. One example is that the models were developed for open surgery; however, laparoscopy is gaining increasing ground as the standard surgical approach in Danish colorectal cancer surgery [3]. In 2014, 78% of colorectal cancer surgery was initiated with a laparoscopic



1 - Specificity

ROC curve open surgery



1 - Specificity

ROC curve laparoscopic surgery



1 - Specificity

Fig. 2 Discrimination of the model with a ROC curve

approach in Denmark [3]. A previous study showed that the replacement of open surgery by laparoscopy was associated with a reduction of the 30-day mortality rate in Denmark [20]. Since the ACPGBI models were developed on patients undergoing open surgery [9], we would have expected the models to fit better in this subpopulation. In contrast, the revised ACPGBI model estimated the risk of death more accurately

in the subpopulation undergoing laparoscopic surgery. An explanation for this might be that the laparoscopic subgroup had a low mortality rate of 2.4%, and the revised ACPGBI model performed well in estimating patients at low risk of operative death.

Both ACPGBI models include variables collected postoperatively, such as cancer stage and operative procedure, and cannot be used as preoperative prediction models. To our knowledge, no preoperative models have been developed yet. A randomized controlled trial would have to clarify if an intervention with perioperative optimization in high-risk patients could improve postoperative survival. So far, all existing prediction models integrate both preoperative and postoperative risk factors, such as cancer stage; thus, none of them is suitable to identify high-risk patients before surgery.

The major strength of the present study is the nationalwide, population-based design with an almost complete coverage of clinical data. There is no loss to follow-up; thus, data on time of death are exact. The DCCG database provided almost complete data on all variables, however, with missing values in 1437 patients. This excluded group did not differ in any of the variables from the patients included for analyses. Data are collected prospectively for the DCCG database, thus minimizing the risk of recall bias. A weakness in our study is that the two models were developed more than 10 years ago, and might not represent current clinical practice. Furthermore, the excluded patients had a significantly higher mortality rate of 14.0 versus 5.0% in the included population. All the exclusions were due to missing data in at least one variable in either model; thus, a prediction score could not be calculated in these patients. Due to the power in this study, we do not expect the exclusion of 6% of the total population to affect our overall results.

In conclusion, both the original and revised ACPGBI models lack the ability to estimate the 30-day mortality in the majority of the population, i.e., those with a risk of operative mortality lesser than 26%. However, the original model succeeded in allocating a correct risk for patients at high risk of death within 30 days after colorectal cancer surgery. In order to predict the postoperative mortality in Denmark, a prediction model reflecting the multiple variables related to the Danish population and health care system is needed.

Author contribution Thea Helene Degett, Ole Roikjær, Lene Hjerrild Iversen, Ismail Gögenur; design

Ole Roikjær; statistics

Thea Helene Degett; manuscript writing

Thea Helene Degett, Ole Roikjær, Lene Hjerrild Iversen, Ismail Gögenur; manuscript reviewing

Thea Helene Degett, Ole Roikjær, Lene Hjerrild Iversen, Ismail Gögenur; final approval

Funding information The study was supported by grants from the Danish Council of Independent Research/Medical Science.

One co-author, Lene H. Iversen, has received funding from the Danish Council for Independent Research in 2014. No other financial support has been received from external sources.

Compliance with ethical standards

Conflict of interest The authors declare that they have no conflict of interest.

References

- Lozano R, Naghavi M, Foreman K, Lim S, Shibuya K, Aboyans V, 1. Abraham J, Adair T, Aggarwal R, Ahn SY, AlMazroa MA, Alvarado M, Anderson HR, Anderson LM, Andrews KG, Atkinson C, Baddour LM, Barker-Collo S, Bartels DH, Bell ML, Benjamin EJ, Bennett D, Bhalla K, Bikbov B, Abdulhak AB, Birbeck G, Blyth F, Bolliger I, Boufous S, Bucello C, Burch M, Burney P, Carapetis J, Chen H, Chou D, Chugh SS, Coffeng LE, Colan SD, Colquhoun S, Colson KE, Condon J, Connor MD, Cooper LT, Corriere M, Cortinovis M, de Vaccaro KC, Couser W, Cowie BC, Criqui MH, Cross M, Dabhadkar KC, Dahodwala N, de Leo D, Degenhardt L, Delossantos A, Denenberg J, Des Jarlais DC, Dharmaratne SD, Dorsey ER, Driscoll T, Duber H, Ebel B, Erwin PJ, Espindola P, Ezzati M, Feigin V, Flaxman AD, Forouzanfar MH, Fowkes FGR, Franklin R, Fransen M, Freeman MK, Gabriel SE, Gakidou E, Gaspari F, Gillum RF, Gonzalez-Medina D, Halasa YA, Haring D, Harrison JE, Havmoeller R, Hay RJ, Hoen B, Hotez PJ, Hoy D, Jacobsen KH, James SL, Jasrasaria R, Jayaraman S, Johns N, Karthikeyan G, Kassebaum N, Keren A, Khoo JP, Knowlton LM, Kobusingye O, Koranteng A, Krishnamurthi R, Lipnick M, Lipshultz SE, Ohno SL, Mabweijano J, MacIntyre MF, Mallinger L, March L, Marks GB, Marks R, Matsumori A, Matzopoulos R, Mayosi BM, McAnulty JH, McDermott MM, McGrath J, Memish ZA, Mensah GA, Merriman TR, Michaud C, Miller M, Miller TR, Mock C, Mocumbi AO, Mokdad AA, Moran A, Mulholland K, Nair MN, Naldi L, Narayan KMV, Nasseri K, Norman P, O'Donnell M, Omer SB, Ortblad K, Osborne R, Ozgediz D, Pahari B, Pandian JD, Rivero AP, Padilla RP, Perez-Ruiz F, Perico N, Phillips D, Pierce K, Pope CA III, Porrini E, Pourmalek F, Raju M, Ranganathan D, Rehm JT, Rein DB, Remuzzi G, Rivara FP, Roberts T, de León FR, Rosenfeld LC, Rushton L, Sacco RL, Salomon JA, Sampson U, Sanman E, Schwebel DC, Segui-Gomez M, Shepard DS, Singh D, Singleton J, Sliwa K, Smith E, Steer A, Taylor JA, Thomas B, Tleyjeh IM, Towbin JA, Truelsen T, Undurraga EA, Venketasubramanian N, Vijayakumar L, Vos T, Wagner GR, Wang M, Wang W, Watt K, Weinstock MA, Weintraub R, Wilkinson JD, Woolf AD, Wulf S, Yeh PH, Yip P, Zabetian A, Zheng ZJ, Lopez AD, Murray CJL (2012) Global and regional mortality from 235 causes of death for 20 age groups in 1990 and 2010: a systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2010. Lancet 380(9859):2095-2128. https://doi.org/10. 1016/s0140-6736(12)61728-0
- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A (2015) Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 65(2):87– 108. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21262
- Annual report of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG) 2015. http://www.dccg.dk/pdf/Aarsrapport_2015. Accessed 26 January 2017
- Munro AJ (2014) Interpretation of EUROCARE-5. Lancet Oncol 15(1):2–3. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(13)70566-7

- Iversen LH (2012) Aspects of survival from colorectal cancer in Denmark. Dan Med J 59(4):B4428
- Ferjani AM, Griffin D, Stallard N, Wong LS (2007) A newly devised scoring system for prediction of mortality in patients with colorectal cancer: a prospective study. Lancet Oncol 8(4):317– 322. https://doi.org/10.1016/s1470-2045(07)70045-1
- Richards CH, Leitch EF, Anderson JH, McKee RF, McMillan DC, Horgan PG (2011) The revised ACPGBI model is a simple and accurate predictor of operative mortality after potentially curative resection of colorectal cancer. Ann Surgical Oncol 18(13):3680– 3685. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-011-1805-1
- Richards CH, Leitch FE, Horgan PG, McMillan DC (2010) A systematic review of POSSUM and its related models as predictors of post-operative mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer. J Gastrointest Surg 14(10):1511–1520. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-010-1333-5
- Tekkis PP, Poloniecki JD, Thompson MR, Stamatakis JD (2003) Operative mortality in colorectal cancer: prospective national study. BMJ 327(7425):1196–1201. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.327. 7425.1196
- 10. The reviesed ACPBGI colorectal cancer model http://www. riskprediction.org.uk/index-crc.php. Accessed 26 November 2016
- Ingeholm P, Gogenur I, Iversen LH (2016) Danish colorectal cancer group database. Clin Epidemiol 8:465–468. https://doi.org/10. 2147/clep.s99481
- The 2003 report of the national confidential enquiry into perioperative deaths. http://www.ncepod.org.uk/2003report/Downloads/ 03full.pdf. Accessed 26 November 2016
- Royston P, Moons KG, Altman DG, Vergouwe Y (2009) Prognosis and prognostic research: developing a prognostic model. BMJ 338(mar31 1):b604. https://doi.org/10.1136/bmj.b604
- Hanley JA, McNeil BJ (1982) The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology 143(1):29–36. https://doi.org/10.1148/radiology.143.1.7063747
- Teeuwen PH, Bremers AJ, Groenewoud JM, van Laarhoven CJ, Bleichrodt RP (2011) Predictive value of POSSUM and ACPGBI scoring in mortality and morbidity of colorectal resection: a casecontrol study. J Gastrointes Surg 15(2):294–303. https://doi.org/10. 1007/s11605-010-1354-0
- Yan J, Wang YX, Li ZP (2011) Predictive value of the POSSUM, p-POSSUM, cr-POSSUM, APACHE II and ACPGBI scoring systems in colorectal cancer resection. J Int Med Res 39(4):1464– 1473. https://doi.org/10.1177/147323001103900435
- Justice AC, Covinsky KE, Berlin JA (1999) Assessing the generalizability of prognostic information. Ann Intern Med 130(6):515– 524. https://doi.org/10.7326/0003-4819-130-6-199903160-00016
- Iversen LH, Green A, Ingeholm P, Osterlind K, Gogenur I (2016) Improved survival of colorectal cancer in Denmark during 2001-2012—the efforts of several national initiatives. Acta Oncol 55(Suppl 2):10–23. https://doi.org/10.3109/0284186x.2015. 1131331
- Moons KG, Altman DG, Vergouwe Y, Royston P (2009) Prognosis and prognostic research: application and impact of prognostic models in clinical practice. BMJ 338(jun04 2):b606. https://doi. org/10.1136/bmj.b606
- Iversen LH, Ingeholm P, Gogenur I, Laurberg S (2014) Major reduction in 30-day mortality after elective colorectal cancer surgery: a nationwide population-based study in Denmark 2001-2011. Ann Surg Oncol 21(7):2267–2273. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3596-7

ORIGINAL ARTICLE



Mortality after emergency treatment of colorectal cancer and associated risk factors—a nationwide cohort study

Thea Helene Degett ^{1,2} · Susanne Oksbjerg Dalton ³ · Jane Christensen ¹ · Jes Søgaard ^{1,4} · Lene Hjerrild Iversen ^{5,6} · Ismail Gögenur ^{2,6}

Accepted: 26 September 2018 © Springer-Verlag GmbH Germany, part of Springer Nature 2018

Abstract

Purpose The aim of this study was to investigate if postoperative mortality after acute surgical treatment of colorectal cancer has decreased in Denmark during this period and to investigate risk factors associated with early death.

Methods This is a nationwide and population-based cohort study. From the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database and National Patient Registry, we collected data on all patients operated with bowel resection, diverting stoma only, or placement of an endoscopic stent from 2005 to 2015. Year of surgery was the main exposure variable and 90-day postoperative mortality the primary outcome.

Results We included 6147 patients. The incidence of patients per year was stable during 2005–2015. The 90-day mortality decreased from 31% in 2005 to 24% in 2015 with a significant time trend (p < 0.0001). Other factors associated with postoperative mortality were increasing age, presence of comorbidity (measured as Charlson comorbidity index score ≥ 1), and stage IV disease. Insertion of self-expanding metallic stent was protective for 90-day postoperative mortality compared with other surgical procedures.

Conclusion Ninety-day postoperative mortality from acute colorectal surgery has improved in Denmark from 2005 to 2015. Nevertheless, almost one out of four patients undergoing acute surgery for colorectal cancer dies within 90 days.

Keywords Colorectal · Cancer · Emergency · Surgery

Introduction

Worldwide, colorectal cancer is the third most common cancer with an incidence of around 1.4 million per year and an estimated 700,000 deaths annually [1]. In Denmark, the incidence is 5000

Thea Helene Degett theadegett@gmail.com

- ¹ Documentation and Quality Department, Danish Cancer Society, Copenhagen, Denmark
- ² Centre for Surgical Science (CSS), Zealand University Hospital, Lykkebækvej 1, 4600 Køge, Denmark
- ³ Unit of Survivorship, Danish Cancer Society Research Centre, Copenhagen, Denmark
- ⁴ Institute of Clinical Medicine, University of Southern Denmark, Odense, Denmark
- ⁵ Department of Surgery, Section of Coloproctology, Aarhus University Hospital, Aarhus, Denmark
- ⁶ Danish Colorectal Cancer Group, Copenhagen, Denmark

of which approximately 10% undergo acute therapy [2], due to complete obstruction, perforation, abscess formation, or diffuse peritonitis. Acute onset of colorectal cancer is associated with a high short-term mortality risk [3, 4]. In Denmark, postoperative 90-day mortality from acute colorectal cancer surgery is 21% versus only 3% after elective surgery [1]. Besides surgical intervention and diverting stoma, insertion of self-expandable metallic stents (SEMS) can be performed in chosen cases to recreate intestinal continuity as the only treatment or as bridge to surgery.

During the past 10 years, both short- and long-term survival after elective colorectal cancer surgery has improved in Denmark [5, 6]. Changes in short-term mortality after surgery depend on patient-related factors, clinical factors, and structural factors. For instance, changes in mortality can be a result of patient selection and perioperative treatment. The Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) and the Danish health authorities have since the 1990s taken several national initiatives to improve survival in patients with colorectal cancer [6]. Initiatives such as evidence-based guidelines, fast-track cancer pathways, cancer plans, and centralization of colorectal cancer surgery in fewer high-volume units [6].

The aim of this study was to evaluate 90-day mortality rate after acute treatment of colorectal cancer within a period of 11 years in Denmark and associated risk factors. Resection, SEMS, and diverting stoma as bridge to surgery, and palliative surgery are all included as treatment strategies.

Method

Study design and setting

This study is a nationwide and population-based historical cohort study. Data are collected prospectively in the Danish national registries. We report the results according to the STROBE statement for cohort studies [7]. The study is based on data from the DCCG.dk database and the National Patient Registry (NPR) [8, 9]. All patients included in the study were operated at a surgical department in a public hospital in Denmark between 1 January 2005 and 31 December 2015.

All Danish residents have access to tax financed, free of charges hospital care. Information on services are registered for all residents and linked with a unique identification number in national registries, e.g., the NPR and population-based clinical quality databases, e.g., the DCCG.dk database. All patients were followed up for 90 days after acute surgery or stent placement. Information about postoperative mortality within this period was collected from the Danish Civil Registration Registry [10].

Registries

Data were collected from the DCCG.dk database, a national population-based, clinical quality database with a completeness proportion of 95–99% of all incident colorectal cancer patients in Denmark [9]. Patients included in the database were treated or diagnosed with colorectal cancer in a surgical department in Denmark. Patients with metachronous cancer, recurrence, and tumors of other histological origin than primary adenocarcinoma, mucinous adenocarcinoma, signet ring cell carcinoma, medullary carcinoma, or undifferentiated carcinoma are not registered in the DCCG.dk database. All clinical and pathological data are registered prospectively.

Only the definitive surgical procedure is registered in DCCG.dk [9]. Thus, patients who are acutely relieved with a diverting stoma or SEMS prior to an elective surgical resection, will only have a registration of the elective procedure in DCCG.dk, and data on these patients were extracted from the Danish NPR. The Danish NPR is the most comprehensive nationwide register worldwide [8]. From the Danish NPR, we use date of emergency admission, stoma as only procedure (KJFF10, KJFF11, KJFF20, KJFF21, KJFF23, KJFF24, KJFF26, KJFF27, KJFF30, and KJFF31), and insertion of endoscopic stent in colon or rectum (KJFA68 and KJGA58A) to

include patients with diverting stoma or SEMS prior to elective resection. None of the codes for these variables changed within the study period. Using the unique identification number we obtained information on vital status by linking to the Danish Civil Registration System that holds continuously updated information on name, sex, date of birth, vital status, etc. on all Danish residents alive [10]. All patients included via the Danish NPR were also diagnosed with colorectal cancer in the DCCG.dk within the study period.

Participants

All patients registered in the DCCG.dk database with an acute surgical procedure between 2005 and 2015 were included. Procedures included right hemicolectomy, transverse colectomy, left hemicolectomy, sigmoid colectomy, Hartmann's procedure, other colectomy \pm stoma, diverting stoma, intestinal bypass, subtotal/total colectomy, explorative laparotomy/diagnostic laparoscopy only, anterior resection \pm stoma, proctocolectomy with ileostomy, or insertion of SEMS in colon or rectum. Furthermore, we included all patients registered in the Danish NPR with an acute insertion of SEMS or diverting stoma within 72 h after acute admission at any department from 2005 to 2015. If a patient was registered with more than one acute procedure in, e.g., one in the NPR and one in DCCG.dk, the first procedure was used for this analysis. All patients registered in the Danish NPR also needed to have a date of diagnosis in DCCG.dk within the study period. Patients were excluded if they emigrated within 90 days after the surgery, or had an elective surgical procedure for colorectal cancer before the acute procedure. Furthermore, we excluded all patients registered in the DCCG.dk database with acute surgery and one of the following procedures: abdominoperineal excision of rectum, transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM), and other local procedures including polypectomy.

Variables

The primary outcome was 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery including insertion of SEMS. The secondary outcome was 30-day mortality. Acute surgery is defined in the DCCG.dk as indication of surgery due to suspected ileus, perforation, bleeding, or other acute reasons. Year of surgery was the primary exposure variable. We consider the following to be confounders: age, sex, comorbidity estimated with Charlson comorbidity index (CCI), UICC stage, and tumor localization (right, transverse or left colon, and rectum). Additionally, we adjusted for primary surgical procedure (SEMS insertion, acute surgery with resection, or acute surgery with only diverting stoma).

Subgroup analysis

Patients that directly undergo surgery, and not SEMS, represent a certain risk group and we therefore performed a subgroup analysis of these patients. We did a stepwise analysis, first including surgical specialization, then operative approach and finally hospital volume to investigate if the effect of these variables on 90-day postoperative mortality. Surgery was performed by a specialist if either the surgeon, or the assistant, was specialized in surgical gastroenterology or was a certified colorectal cancer surgeon. The operative approach was either laparotomy or minimal invasive (laparoscopic or robotassisted). Hospital volume was calculated as the total numbers of surgical colorectal cancer procedures per year, both acute and elective. Volume intervals were based on quartiles of the procedures with 25%, 50%, and 75%, which gave the cut points: <150 per year, 150-220 per year, 220-280 per year, and > 280 per year.

Additionally, we described the subgroup of patients who had an acute stent or diverting stoma as either bridge to elective surgery with curative attend or compromised resection, or as a palliative procedure without bridge to elective surgery.

Statistical analysis

Association between year of surgery and 90-day postoperative mortality was analyzed using a logistic regression model. We reported the *p* value of the trend in year of surgery with the chi square test. *P* values < 0.05 were considered significant. We adjusted analyses for sex, age, CCI score, primary procedure, tumor localization, and UICC stage. Missing data were

Fig. 1 Flowchart of patient exclusion

categorized within each variable. Quantitative variables were tested for linearity by inserting a squared term in the model. Age was found non-linear and was included as a linear spline with cut points at the tertiles. Kaplan-Meier curves were used to illustrate the survival over the calendar periods, after diverting the study period in to four groups.

Interaction was tested in the full model between age and comorbidity (CCI), and between year of surgery and comorbidity (CCI).

A subgroup analysis was performed to investigate the association between 90-day mortality and hospital volume, surgical specialization, and surgical approach with a multiple regression model adjusting for year of surgery, sex, age, CCI, year of surgery, primary procedure, tumor localization, and UICC stage.

All analyses were performed using SAS software, version 9.3. This study was reported to the Danish Data Protection Agency with registration number 2015-41-3726. Under Danish law, registration with the Danish Ethical Committee was not required.

Results

Participants

We included 6147 patients admitted and treated with acute surgery for colorectal cancer in Denmark in 2005 through 2015. We excluded 245 patients, Fig. Fig. 1. No difference was found in the gender distribution, and the mean age was 72 years (SD \pm 12). Nineteen percent had a CCI score of three or more, while 52% of the participants had



* Abdomino perineal excision of rectum, transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM), and other local procedures including polypectomy

no comorbidity. The number of patients operated each year varied from 501 to 631 with a median of 560. Surgical resection was the most common surgical procedure, and most tumors were localized in the left side. Metastatic disease was found in 42% of the patients and local disease (stage I-II) in only 26%. Of the right-sided tumors, 86% were treated with surgery as primary procedure, 3% with SEMS and 11% with diverting stoma. Among the left-sided tumors, 47% were treated with surgery, 44% with SEMS and 9% with diverting stoma. The tumors localized in transverse colon and rectum were mainly treated with surgery (64%) and diverting stoma (45%), respectively. As expected, few variables included in the analysis had missing values. The variables sex, age, CCI, year of surgery, and 90-day mortality had no missing values, while stage had most missing values (8%).

Mortality

The 90-day overall mortality was 25% after acute surgery, insertion of SEMS, or diverting stoma, whereas 30-day mortality was 16%, Table 1. Of the patients, aged 85 years or more, 46% died within 90 days after the acute procedure, whereas this rate was 14% for patients less than 70 years old.

The Kaplan-Meier plot illustrates the unadjusted 90-day survival in the four different periods, Fig. Fig. 2.

Risk factors for postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery

The year of surgery was associated with 90-day postoperative mortality also when adjusting for confounders, Table 2. From 2012 to 2015, the mortality was reduced significantly compared with 2005 and the trend in the total period was significantly reduced with an OR of 0.94 per year (95% confidence interval, 0.92–0.96, p < 0.0001).

Increasing age, comorbidity, and UICC stage IV were all significant independent risk factors for postoperative 90-day mortality, Table 2. SEMS, as the primary treatment of acute colorectal cancer, was protective for postoperative mortality compared with other surgical interventions, Table 2.

No interaction was found between age and comorbidity nor year of surgery and comorbidity.

Subgroup analysis

When adjusting for specialization of the surgeon, open surgery was associated with an increased risk of 90-day postoperative mortality, OR = 1.66 (95% CI, 1.23–2.23). There was a decreased 90-day mortality in hospitals with a low annual volume of colorectal cancer surgery; however, only significant in hospitals with 150–220 procedures per year, Table 3.

We described the demography of 854 patients in the second subgroup of patients undergoing acute stent or diverting stoma prior to elective resection with a curative intent or compromised resection, and the 1777 patients with stent or stoma as palliative procedure, Table 4. The 90-day mortality in patients with further bridge to surgery 2% compared with 38% in the palliative procedure group. In the patients having bridge to surgery, mean age was 69 years (SD \pm 11), 64% had no comorbidity (CCI=0), 76% of the patients had stage II or III disease, 75% of the tumors were localized in left colon, and the majority had an SEMS procedure (98%). In comparison, patients having a stent procedure or diverting stoma as a palliative procedure mean age was 73 (SD \pm 12), 48% had no comorbidity (CCI = 0), 89% had stage IV disease or missing stage, 53% of the tumors were localized in the rectum, and 58% had SEMS as primary procedure.

Discussion

In this present Danish population-based study, 6147 patients operated in an acute setting for colorectal cancer from 2005 to 2015 and the overall postoperative 90-day mortality decreased from 31 to 24%. The 90-day mortality decreased significantly in the latest years from 2012 to 2015 and mortality was reduced with an OR of 0.94 per year (95% CI, 0.92–0.95). Other risk factors for postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery were high age, comorbidity, stage IV disease, and diverting stoma. SEMS was associated with reduced risk of mortality.

The primary limitation in this study is the observational design enabling a description of correlation between the year of surgery and postoperative mortality without proving causality. Several individual factors could determine how the patients were treated which can introduce confounding by indication. One example of this is that our results indicate that patients treated with SEMS have a reduced risk of postoperative mortality than the patients treated with surgical resection or diverting stoma. This result could reflect confounding by indication meaning that the patients in the less acute clinical condition like bowel obstruction only were chosen for SEMS and the high-risk patients with, for instance, perforation and peritonitis needed surgical resection or a diverting stoma only. However, there could also be an actual benefit of SEMS in short-term survival, which is a less invasive procedure that prolong the period for medical optimization. Surprisingly, diverting stoma did not have the same protective effect on

Table 1Demography of thepopulation

	Patients		Deaths within 90 days	
	No	(%)	No	(%)
Total	6147			
90-day mortality	1530	(25)		
30-day mortality	966	(16)		
Year or surgery				
2005	501	(8)	154	(31)
2006	542	(9)	165	(30)
2007	521	(8)	133	(26)
2008	558	(9)	158	(28)
2009	511	(8)	129	(25)
2010	607	(10)	149	(25)
2011	631	(10)	158	(25)
2012	578	(9)	130	(22)
2013	563	(9)	114	(20)
2014	575	(9)	105	(18)
2015	560	(9)	135	(24)
Sex				
Men	3015	(49)	734	(24)
Women	3132	(51)	796	(25)
Age				
Mean (SD)	72	(±12)		
< 70	2637	(43)	376	(14)
> 70-80	1869	(30)	473	(25)
> 8085	866	(14)	322	(37)
> 85	775	(13)	359	(46)
ASA				
1	893	(15)	83	(9)
2	2741	(45)	433	(16)
3	1841	(30)	685	(37)
4–5	356	(6)	221	(62)
Missing	316	(5)	108	(34)
CCI				
0	3192	(52)	564	(18)
1	1128	(18)	326	(29)
2	673	(11)	220	(33)
≥3	1154	(19)	420	(36)
Tumor localization				
Right colon ^a	1857	(30)	476	(26)
Transverse colon	557	(9)	155	(28)
Left colon ^b	2991	(49)	678	(23)
Rectum	666	(11)	193	(29)
Missing	76	(1)	28	(37)
Stage				
Ι	107	(2)	18	(17)
II	1501	(24)	251	(17)
III	1504	(24)	229	(15)
IV	2570	(42)	820	(32)
Missing	465	(8)	212	(46)

Table 1 (continued)

	Patients		Deaths within 90 days	
	No	(%)	No	(%)
Primary procedure ^c				
Surgery ^d	3516	(57)	836	(24)
Stent insertion	1793	(29)	319	(18)
Diverting stoma	838	(14)	375	(45)

^a Includes the cecum, ascending colon and hepatic flexure

^b Includes the splenic flexure, descending colon and sigmoid colon

^c The initial treatment regardless of later surgical interventions

^d Includes right hemicolectomy, transverse colectomy, left hemicolectomy, sigmoid colectomy, Hartmann's procedure, other colectomy \pm stoma, intestinal bypass, subtotal/total colectomy, examination under anesthesia only, anterior resection \pm stoma, proctocolectomy with ileostomy

mortality even though it is an alternative procedure to SEMS and have the same benefits of postponing the final procedure. This could reflect confounding by indication between patients who get SEMS and diverting stoma. For instance, diverting stoma may be chosen in more severe cases if SEMS was not possible and/or in case of an advanced tumor or massive carcinomatosis. Two previous meta-analysis of 334 and 382 patients, and overlapping studies, showed that treatment of malignant, left-sided colon obstruction did not find any advantages of SEMS compared with emergency surgery [11, 12]. A Dutch cohort study with 1860 treated for obstruction of the proximal colon showed that stent was possible in 2.4% as bridge to surgery and resulted in improved in the unadjusted 30-day mortality and morbidity [13]. In the long-term perspective, some studies have, however, reported an increased risk of recurrence and decreased disease-free survival after SEMS [14–16].

Lack of information about the clinical condition at the time of surgery, e.g., sepsis or perforation of the tumor associated with a high postoperative mortality [17], can introduce residual confounding in our results. Furthermore, information about life style factors such as smoking, alcohol intake, and BMI could also affect postoperative mortality. Sufficient data on these variables were not available in our study. However, through adjusting for comorbidity, we indirectly account for some of the effect of lifestyle factors.

Previous studies have focused on acute colorectal cancer surgery as a risk factor for early postoperative death and analyzed differences in patient and clinical related characteristics in acute versus elective surgery [18–20]. This study is, to our

Fig. 2 Kaplan-Meier plot illustrating the unadjusted 90-day survival in the four different periods



	Adjusted analysis 90-day mortality		Adjusted a	nalysis 30-day mortality		
	OR	(95% CI)	р	OR	(95% CI)	р
Per year	0.94	(0.92–0.95)	< 0.0001	0.94	(0.92–0.96)	< 0.0001
Year or surgery						
2005	1	Ref	< 0.0001	1		< 0.0001
2006	1.14	(0.85 - 1.52)		1.18	(0.85 - 1.63)	
2007	0.77	(0.57 - 1.04)		0.78	(0.55 - 1.09)	
2008	1.00	(0.74 - 1.34)		0.97	(0.70 - 1.35)	
2009	0.85	(0.63 - 1.15)		0.92	(0.65 - 1.29)	
2009	0.81	(0.60 - 1.08)		0.75	(0.54 - 1.05)	
2010	0.83	$(0.60 \ 1.00)$		0.70	$(0.54 \ 1.05)$	
2012	0.65	(0.02-1.11) (0.40-0.80)		0.74	(0.53 - 1.05)	
2012	0.00	(0.45 - 0.83)		0.74	(0.35 - 1.05) (0.45 - 0.02)	
2013	0.01	(0.43 - 0.83)		0.03	(0.43 - 0.93)	
2014	0.43	(0.32 - 0.39)		0.47	(0.33 - 0.07)	
2015	0.65	(0.48–0.89)		0.67	(0.4/-0.96)	
Sex	1	D C	0.11(0			
Men	1	Ref	0.1168			
Women	0.90	(0.79 - 1.03)				
Age						
Mean (SD)						
< 70	1.03°	(1.02 - 1.05)	< 0.0001			
>70-80	1.09 ^c	(1.06 - 1.12)	< 0.0001			
> 80-85	1.08 ^e	(1.02 - 1.13)	0.0055			
> 85	1.07 ^e	(1.03 - 1.11)	0.0009			
CCI						
0	1	Ref	< 0.0001			
1	1.57	(1.32–1.87)				
2	1.86	(1.52–2.28)				
≥ 3	1.96	(1.66-2.31)				
Tumor localization						
Right colon ^a	0.94	(0.80-1.11)	0.0545			
Transverse colon	1.22	(0.98 - 1.54)				
Left colon ^b	1	Ref				
Rectum	1.00	(0.80 - 1.25)				
Missing	1.80	(1.05 - 3.09)				
Stage						
I		Ref	< 0.0001			
П	1.11	(0.64 - 1.94)				
Ш	1.15	(0.66 - 2.01)				
IV	3.10	(1.80 - 5.36)				
Missing	3.43	(1.93-6.12)				
Primary procedure ^c		()				
Surgerv ^d	1	Ref	< 0.0001			
Stent insertion	0.53	(0.45 - 0.64)				
Diverting stoma	1.86	(1.53-2.27)				

Table 2 The risk factors associated with 90- and 30-day mortality after initial treatment with surgery, diverting stoma or SEMS, analyzed with a multiple logistic regression model

All variables were included in the adjusted analysis

^a Includes the cecum, ascending colon and hepatic flexure

^b Includes the splenic flexure, descending colon and sigmoid colon

^c The initial treatment regardless of later surgical interventions

 d Includes right hemicolectomy, transverse colectomy, left hemicolectomy, sigmoid colectomy, Hartmann's procedure, other colectomy \pm stoma, intestinal bypass, subtotal/total colectomy, examination under anesthesia only, anterior resection \pm stoma, proctocolectomy with ileostomy

e Increase in OR per year

knowledge, the largest study investigating if postoperative mortality has improved over the past decade, and which factors are associated with 90-day mortality. It is a major strength of this study that it is nationwide and population-based using a highquality database with a completeness of 95–99% of all patients treated for colorectal cancer in Denmark. Data are collected prospectively, eliminating the risk of recall bias. Follow-up is almost complete (97%) and validity is high on primary outcome and exposure variables. All clinical data have an almost complete coverage with missing values on tumor localization or
	No. of patients (%)		Unadjus	ted analysis 90-day 1	mortality	Adjusted analysis 90-day mortality			
			OR	95% CI	p (Chisq)	OR	95% CI	p (Chisq)	
Total	4354								
Surgical specialization ^a	1								
Yes	2501	(57)	1	Ref	< 0.0001	1	Ref	0.0683	
No	1709	(39)	1.32	(1.15–1.51)		1.16	(0.99–1.35)		
Missing	144	(3)							
Operative approach ^b									
Minimal invasive	453	(10)	1	Ref	0.0001	1	Ref	0.0008	
Open	3897	(90)	1.64	(1.27–2.11)		1.66	(1.23–2.23)		
Missing	4	(0)							
Hospital volume ^c									
<150	982	(23)	1.01	(0.83–1.22)	0.5856	0.84	(0.67–1.06)	0.1703	
150-220	1086	(25)	1.07	(0.89–1.30)		0.79	(0.62-0.99)		
220-280	1121	(26)	0.94	(0.78–1.14)		0.81	(0.65–1.01)		
>280	1098	(25)	1	Ref		1	Ref		
Missing	67	(2)							
30-day mortality	797	(18)							
90-day mortality	1211	(28)							

 Table 3
 Subgroup analysis of volume, operative approach, and surgical specialization in all patients operated acutely for colorectal cancer (SEMS excluded). Analysis of patients with complete data

^a Adjusted for year of surgery, sex, age, Charlson comorbidity index, tumor localization, UICC stage, and primary procedure

^b Adjusted for year of surgery, sex, age, Charlson comorbidity index, tumor localization, UICC stage, primary procedure, and surgical specialization ^c Adjusted for year of surgery, sex, age, Charlson comorbidity index, tumor localization, UICC stage, primary procedure, surgical specialization, and operative approach

stage in only 532 patients (9%) and the validity on all variables included in the model is considered very high [9, 10].

The European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy recommends SEMS as an alternative to emergency surgery only in patients at high operative risk, e.g., $ASA \ge III$ and/or age > 70 years, and not as standard treatment in left-sided obstructive tumors [21]. In England, 24% of the all patients with colorectal cancer from 2006 to 2013 presented as an emergency [22]. The relative 90-day survival was 65% after acute diagnosed colorectal cancer. In the English national guidelines, it is recommended to use SEMS in left-sided colorectal cancers with complete or nearly complete bowel obstruction [23]. However, guidelines are not clear in defining the indication for emergency surgery versus SEMS [23]. In Sweden, handling of acute colorectal cancer patients is more precise [24]. Treatment with SEMS is not recommended in patients with potential curable resection unless surgical intervention is considered a high risk. They argue that the risk of stent-related perforation increases the risk of postoperative mortality and of tumor spread. If curative surgery cannot be guaranteed, it is recommended to perform diverting stoma and no resection [24].

In the subgroup analysis based on 4354 patients undergoing surgical resection, there was a tendency to decreased 90-day mortality with low hospital volume of yearly surgical colorectal cancer procedures. This result deviate from both previous Danish and American studies on acute colorectal cancer surgery [18, 25], and a meta-analysis with both acute and elective surgical mode [26]. In a Danish study from 2011, 4.3% of the variation in 30-day postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery was explained by the hospital volume level [18]. They did not adjust for operative approach or specialization of the surgeon [18]. This could explain differences in the results from the same population. In the American study, they evaluated the load of operation for the individual surgeon with the maximum level of > 10 annually resections [25]. In a Danish context, ten resections per year are low for a specialized surgeon. Furthermore, it is plausible that some severe cases have been removed to more specialized, high-volume departments for surgical intervention. In our data, we cannot adjust for this type of confounding by indication due to lack of clinical data.

We saw a positive effect on minimal invasive surgery versus open. Again, this could be a real effect due to reduced stress response in minimal invasive surgery [27, 28]. Alternatively, the result is caused by confounding by indication, if the more complex tumors, e.g., local advanced tumors were operated with an open approach, and the less complicated tumors where Table 4Characteristics ofpatients treated with stent ordiverting stoma as bridge tosurgery with curative intent orcompromised resection, and aspalliative procedure

	Bridge to surgery		Palliative surgery		
	No. of patients	(%)	No. of patients	(%)	
Total	854		1777		
Year for surgery					
2005	19	(2)	111	(6)	
2006	57	(7)	128	(7)	
2007	62	(7)	161	(9)	
2008	64	(7)	181	(10)	
2009	74	(9)	155	(9)	
2010	98	(11)	161	(9)	
2011	97	(11)	181	(10)	
2012	79	(9)	185	(10)	
2013	93	(11)	172	(10)	
2014	108	(13)	171	(10)	
2015	103	(12)	171	(10)	
Sex					
Men	460	(54)	935	(53)	
Women	394	(46)	842	(47)	
Age					
Mean (SD)	69	(±11)	73	(±12)	
CCI					
0	544	(64)	855	(48)	
1	159	(19)	286	(16)	
2	76	(9)	188	(11)	
≥3	75	(9)	448	(25)	
Stage					
I	23	(3)	9	(1)	
II	321	(38)	91	(5)	
III	324	(38)	95	(5)	
IV	156	(18)	1259	(71)	
Missing	30	(4)	323	(18)	
Tumor localization				(-)	
Right colon ^a	33	(4)	218	(12)	
Transverse colon	71	(8)	130	(7)	
Left colon ^b	643	(75)	935	(53)	
Rectum	107	(13)	421	(24)	
Missing	0	(15)	73	(4)	
Primary procedure	Ū		10	(1)	
Stent	758	(89)	1035	(58)	
Diverting stoma	96	(11)	742	(42)	
Time to elective resection	<i>)</i> 0	(11)	1-12	(42)	
Modian days (5, 95% percentile)	21	(0, 127)			
30 day mortality	<i>L</i> 1	()-12/)	_	—	
Vos	5	(1)	268	(21)	
105	5	(1)	300	(21)	
yu-day mortality	20	(2)	674	(20)	
105	∠0	(2)	0/4	(38)	

^a Includes the cecum, ascending colon, and hepatic flexure

^b Includes the splenic flexure, descending colon, and sigmoid colon

operated with minimal invasive surgery. However, we cannot explore this further in the current data.

In conclusion, the 90-day postoperative mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery, including SEMS, has improved significantly in Denmark from 2005 to 2015. However, postoperative mortality remains high at 24% in 2015 and further studies should investigate how the perioperative period could be optimized to improve survival even more.

References

- Torre LA, Bray F, Siegel RL, Ferlay J, Lortet-Tieulent J, Jemal A (2015) Global cancer statistics, 2012. CA Cancer J Clin 65:87–108. https://doi.org/10.3322/caac.21262
- Annual report of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) 2016. http://dccg.dk/pdf/2017/Aarsrapport_2016.pdf. Accessed Sep 24th 2018
- Kobayashi H, Miyata H, Gotoh M, Baba H, Kimura W, Kitagawa Y, Nakagoe T, Shimada M, Tomita N, Sugihara K, Mori M (2014) Risk model for right hemicolectomy based on 19,070 Japanese patients in the national clinical database. J Gastroenterol 49:1047– 1055. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00535-013-0860-8
- Sjo OH, Larsen S, Lunde OC, Nesbakken A (2009) Short term outcome after emergency and elective surgery for colon cancer. Color Dis 11:733–739. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1463-1318.2008.01613.x
- Iversen LH, Ingeholm P, Gogenur I, Laurberg S (2014) Major reduction in 30-day mortality after elective colorectal cancer surgery: a nationwide population-based study in Denmark 2001-2011. Ann Surg Oncol 21:2267–2273. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-014-3596-7
- Iversen LH, Green A, Ingeholm P, Osterlind K, Gogenur I (2016) Improved survival of colorectal cancer in Denmark during 2001-2012—the efforts of several national initiatives. Acta Oncol 55(Suppl 2):10–23. https://doi.org/10.3109/0284186x.2015. 1131331
- University of Bern https://strobe-statement.org/fileadmin/Strobe/ uploads/checklists/STROBE_checklist_v4_cohort.pdf Accessed Sep 24th 2018
- Lynge E, Sandegaard JL, Rebolj M (2011) The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 39:30–33. https://doi.org/ 10.1177/1403494811401482
- Ingeholm P, Gogenur I, Iversen LH (2016) Danish colorectal cancer group database. Clin Epidemiol 8:465–468. https://doi.org/10. 2147/clep.s99481
- Pedersen CB (2011) The Danish civil registration system. Scand J Public Health 39:22-25. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 1403494810387965
- Liu Z, Kang L, Li C, Huang M, Zhang X, Wang J (2014) Metaanalysis of complications of colonic stenting versus emergency surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction. Surg Laparosc Endosc Percutan Tech 24:73–79. https://doi.org/10. 1097/sle.0000000000000030
- Huang X, Lv B, Zhang S, Meng L (2014) Preoperative colonic stents versus emergency surgery for acute left-sided malignant colonic obstruction: a meta-analysis. J Gastrointest Surg 18:584–591. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11605-013-2344-9
- Amelung FJ, Consten ECJ, Siersema PD, Tanis PJ (2016) A population-based analysis of three treatment modalities for

malignant obstruction of the proximal colon: acute resection versus stent or stoma as a bridge to surgery. Ann Surg Oncol 23:3660–3668. https://doi.org/10.1245/s10434-016-5247-7

- Avlund TH, Erichsen R, Ravn S, Ciplys Z, Andersen JC, Laurberg S, Iversen LH (2017) The prognostic impact of bowel perforation following self-expanding metal stent as a bridge to surgery in colorectal cancer obstruction. Surg Endosc 32:328–336. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00464-017-5680-0
- Gorissen KJ, Tuynman JB, Fryer E, Wang L, Uberoi R, Jones OM, Cunningham C, Lindsey I (2013) Local recurrence after stenting for obstructing left-sided colonic cancer. Br J Surg 100:1805–1809. https://doi.org/10.1002/bjs.9297
- Sabbagh C, Browet F, Diouf M, Cosse C, Brehant O, Bartoli E, Mauvais F, Chauffert B, Dupas JL, Nguyen-Khac E, Regimbeau JM (2013) Is stenting as "a bridge to surgery" an oncologically safe strategy for the management of acute, left-sided, malignant, colonic obstruction? A comparative study with a propensity score analysis. Ann Surg 258:107–115. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA. 0b013e31827e30ce
- Al-Temimi MH, Griffee M, Enniss TM, Preston R, Vargo D, Overton S, Kimball E, Barton R, Nirula R (2012) When is death inevitable after emergency laparotomy? Analysis of the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program database. J Am Coll Surg 215:503–511. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.jamcollsurg.2012.06.004
- Osler M, Iversen LH, Borglykke A, Martensson S, Daugbjerg S, Harling H, Jorgensen T, Frederiksen B (2011) Hospital variation in 30-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark: the contribution of hospital volume and patient characteristics. Ann Surg 253:733–738. https://doi.org/10.1097/SLA.0b013e318207556f
- Gooiker GA, Dekker JW, Bastiaannet E, van der Geest LG, Merkus JW, van de Velde CJ, Tollenaar RA, Liefers GJ (2012) Risk factors for excess mortality in the first year after curative surgery for colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 19:2428–2434. https://doi.org/10. 1245/s10434-012-2294-6
- Jestin P, Nilsson J, Heurgren M, Pahlman L, Glimelius B, Gunnarsson U (2005) Emergency surgery for colonic cancer in a defined population. Br J Surg 92:94–100. https://doi.org/10.1002/ bjs.4780
- van Hooft JE, van Halsema EE, Vanbiervliet G, Beets-Tan RG, DeWitt JM, Donnellan F, Dumonceau JM, Glynne-Jones RG, Hassan C, Jimenez-Perez J, Meisner S, Muthusamy VR, Parker MC, Regimbeau JM, Sabbagh C, Sagar J, Tanis PJ, Vandervoort J, Webster GJ, Manes G, Barthet MA, Repici A (2014) Selfexpandable metal stents for obstructing colonic and extracolonic cancer: European Society of Gastrointestinal Endoscopy (ESGE) Clinical Guideline. Endoscopy 46:990–1053. https://doi.org/10. 1055/s-0034-1390700
- 22. National Cancer Registration and Analysis Service (NCRAS) http://www.ncin.org.uk/publications/routes_to_diagnosis# Accessed Sep 24th 2018
- National guidelines from National Institute for Health and Care Excellence (NICE) https://www.nice.org.uk/guidance/cg131/ evidence/full-guideline-pdf-183509677 Accessed Sep 24th 2018
- National guidelines, Sweeden http://www.cancercentrum.se/ globalassets/cancerdiagnoser/tjock%2D%2Doch-andtarm-anal/ vardprogram/nvpkolorektalcancer_2016-03-15.pdf. Accessed Sep 24th 2018
- Aquina CT, Becerra AZ, Xu Z, Boscoe FP, Schymura MJ, Noyes K, Monson JRT, Fleming FJ (2017) Nonelective colon cancer resection: a continued public health concern. Surgery 161:1609–1618. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.surg.2017.01.001

- Archampong D, Borowski D, Wille-Jorgensen P, Iversen LH (2012) Workload and surgeon's specialty for outcome after colorectal cancer surgery. Cochrane Database Syst Rev 14:CD005391. https://doi.org/10.1002/14651858.CD005391.pub3
- Kehlet H, Nielsen HJ (1998) Impact of laparoscopic surgery on stress responses, immunofunction, and risk of infectious complications. New Horiz 6:S80–S88
- Wichmann MW, Huttl TP, Winter H, Spelsberg F, Angele MK, Heiss MM, Jauch KW (2005) Immunological effects of laparoscopic vs open colorectal surgery: a prospective clinical study. Arch Surg 140:692–697. https://doi.org/10.1001/archsurg.140.7.692

A nationwide cohort study of the impact of education, income and social isolation on survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery.

Authors

Thea Helene Degett (TD)^{1,2}, Jane Christensen (JC)², Linda Aagaard Thomsen (LT)², Lene Hjerrild Iversen (LI)^{3,4}, Ismail Gögenur (IG)^{2,4} and Susanne Oksbjerg Dalton (SD)^{5,6}.

Affiliation

1. Documentation and Quality Department, Danish Cancer Society, Denmark

- 2. Centre for Surgical Science, Zealand University Hospital, Denmark
- 3. Department of Surgery, Aarhus University Hospital, Denmark.
- 4. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group, Denmark
- 5. Unit of Survivorship, Danish Cancer Society Research Centre, Denmark
- 6. Department of Clinical Oncology, Zealand University Hospital, Denmark

Corresponding author

Thea Helene Degett, MD, PhD student Centre for Surgical Science (CSS), Zealand University Hospital Lykkebækvej 1, 4600 Køge, Denmark Phone number: +45 22 42 28 92, Fax: +45 56 6315 35, Email: <u>theadegett@gmail.com</u> ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8224-6052 Requests for reprints should be addressed to Thea Degett (only corresponding author).

Abstract

Background Acute colorectal cancer surgery is associated with a high postoperative mortality. The aim of this observational study was to examine the association between socioeconomic position with the likelihood of undergoing acute versus elective colorectal cancer surgery and subsequently 1-year survival among patients treated with acute surgery. **Method** All patients who had undergone a surgical procedure according to the Danish Colorectal Cancer (DCCG.dk) database or registered with stent or diverting stoma in the National Patient Register from 2007 to 2015 were included. Socioeconomic position was measured by highest attained education, income, urbanicity, and cohabitation status obtained from administrative registries.

Results In total, 35 661 patients were included whereof 5 310 (15%) had an acute surgery. Short and medium education (patients < 65 years), (OR = 1.58, 95% CI: 1.32-1.91 and OR = 1.34, 95% CI: 1.15-1.55, respectively), low income (OR = 1.12, 95% CI: 1.01-1.24), and living alone (OR = 1.35, 95% CI: 1.26-1.46) were associated with acute surgery. Overall, 41% died within one year postoperatively. Short education (HR = 1.18, 95% CI: 1.03-1.36), low income (HR = 1.16, 95% CI: 1.01-1.34), and living alone (HR = 1.25, 95% CI: 1.13-1.38) was associated with reduced 1-year survival after acute surgery.

Conclusion Low socioeconomic position was associated with an increased likelihood of undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery and subsequently reduced 1-year survival after acute surgery. Lifestyle, comorbidity, and clinical factors did not explain the social gradient in survival. Attention to socioeconomic position in acute presentation of colorectal cancer is needed.

Introduction

Low socioeconomic position is associated with poor short-term and long-term survival after elective colorectal cancer surgery [1-3]. These socioeconomic inequalities in survival after colorectal cancer are observed even in countries with free health care services, such as the Scandinavian countries [1-3]. Socioeconomic position is an indicator of various social and economic factors that influence the position held in society on individual and area/group level [4]. Socioeconomic factors can have an impact on different health related exposures, both positive and negative, and on available economic resources that are important for a healthy lifestyle [4].

Patients, who present acutely with colorectal cancer with e.g. obstruction, perforation of the bowel, or bleeding, are at higher risk of poor outcome postoperatively and in the long term [5, 6]. It is crucial to identify risk factors for acute surgery in order to improve early detection of the disease, improve the perioperative care and initiate necessary rehabilitation.

The aim of this study was to investigate if the level of education, income, urbanicity, and cohabitation, as measures of different aspects of socioeconomic position, was associated with a greater likelihood of undergoing acute rather than elective colorectal cancer surgery. A further aim was to investigate whether the same socioeconomic factors were associated with 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery.

Methods

Study design and setting

In this nationwide, historical cohort study there were two primary study hypotheses. It was firstly investigated if socioeconomic position was associated with the likelihood of acute colorectal cancer surgery (first primary outcome) and with all-cause 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery (second primary outcome). All-cause survival included the complete 1-year survival after surgery and no patients were excluded or censored. Four socioeconomic factors were selected to cover different aspects of the influence on health. The primary factor being a knowledge-related asset (education), the secondary factor was economic resources reflecting the affordability of healthy lifestyle (income), the third factor was geographic aspects and structural support (urbanicity), and the last factor was social support (cohabitation) [4].

This is a register-based study linking data from the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) database and various Danish registries using the personal identification number (CPR) that incorporates information on date of birth and sex which is provided to all Danish citizens and people with a Danish residence permit [7, 8]. All primary care and hospital care expenses, including diagnostics, treatment, and rehabilitation, are free-of-charge in Denmark financed by a tax-based system. In this study, colorectal cancer surgery was performed in 17 public hospitals in Denmark, which included all hospitals performing the procedure in the study period. No private facilities treating colorectal cancer exist in Denmark. The study is reported according to the STROBE checklist and the extended RECORD checklist [9, 10]. All analyses were planned a priori and the study protocol was available at clinicaltrial.org before initiation of the study (NCT number: NCT03581890) [11].

Data sources

The DCCG.dk database is a nationwide clinical database established in 2001 registering all incident cases of colorectal cancer in Denmark fulfilling the database criteria, with a >95 per cent patient coverage [12]. Patients are registered in the database if they are diagnosed and/or treated for colorectal cancer at any Danish surgical department [12]. Data on patients undergoing a surgical procedure are collected prospectively by the surgical departments and documented through a web-based platform. In the perioperative period, patient-related and surgical-related data are registered. Pathological disease characteristics, such as T- and N-category, are registered postoperatively by a pathologist. In the database, only patients with primary adenocarcinoma, mucinous adenocarcinoma, signet ring cell carcinoma, medullary carcinoma, or undifferentiated carcinoma are included. Additionally, metachronous colorectal cancers are not registered [12].

The National Patient Register is a nationwide register established in 1977 with data regarding all patient contact to Danish hospitals [13]. The register is considered the most comprehensive of its kind [13] and includes data on diagnosis according to the ICD-10 (1994 up to today), time and date of admission and priority of the admission registered at the end of each hospital contact etc.

Data on socioeconomic factors were obtained from nationwide administrative registers updated annually by Statistics Denmark by linking the personal identification number to different institutions [14]. The Danish education registries include information on all educational programs in the country of which some data are dating back as far as 1910 [15]. Data on education is collected by the Danish Ministry of Education and is generated from the educational institutions. Data on disposable income were collected from registries on personal labour marked affiliation which contain information on employment status on all people registered on the Danish labour marked [16]. Address and family status were obtained from the Danish Civil Registration System established in 1968 with continuous information on all people living in Denmark with a CPR number [7].

Participants

Patients were included in this study if they had undergone colorectal cancer surgery from January 1st 2007 to December 31st 2015 and were registered with a colorectal cancer diagnosis in the DCCG.dk database within this period. In the analysis on likelihood of acute colorectal cancer surgery, all patients were included in the analysis. In the analysis on 1-year postoperative survival, only patients who had acute surgery were included. Acute surgery was defined as the patient being registered by the operating surgeon in the DCCG.dk database with an acute procedure or registered in the NPR with a diverting stoma or insertion of a selfexpanding metallic stent (SEMS) in colon or rectum within 72 hours after an acute admission at any department. ICD-10 codes were used to identify the procedures; diverting stoma (KJFF10, KJFF11, KJFF20, KJFF21, KJFF23, KJFF24, KJFF26, KJFF27, KJFF30, and KJFF31) and SEMS in colon or rectum (KJFA68 and KJGA58A). Vital status was registered in the Danish Civil Registration Register [7] and information on 1-year survival was linked to the DCCG.dk database in January 2017. Hence, all patients had 1-year follow-up unless they had migrated or disappeared. Patients were excluded if they had missing data on surgical priority (acute or elective), income up to three years before surgery, or cohabitation the year before surgery, if they migrated or disappeared within one year after acute surgery or registered with a surgical procedure dated after time of death.

Socioeconomic indicators

The highest obtained level of education was retracted from the Danish education registries [15]. The level of education was obtained by 1st of October the year before surgery. If information on educational level was missing, the level obtained up to three years before surgery was included, thus assuming that few patients would change educational level considering that colorectal cancer generally occurs at a relatively high age. Education was categorized into three standardized categories: short (seven or nine years mandatory primary school for persons born before and after 1 January 1958, respectively), medium (ten to twelve years of schooling corresponding to upper secondary school and vocational education) and

long (more than twelve years of education, higher education). This corresponds to the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED-2011) codes; short (ISCED codes $1-2, \le 9$ years), medium (ISCED 3–4, 10–12 years), and long (ISCED 5–8, >12 years) [17]. Disposable income level was obtained from the registries on personal labour marked affiliation in the year before surgery. A patient with missing value on income the year before surgery was registered with the income up to three years before surgery. Income was grouped into quintiles taking the annual average age and sex-adjusted income in Denmark into account. Urbanicity is a variable based on geographical resources in the area of the patients' home address such as number of inhabitants, distance to a main road etc. [18] This variable reflects structural support from the health care system and is categorized into city, town, rural, or peripheral rural areas. Cohabitation status was defined as living with a partner (married or cohabiting) or living without a partner (single, widowed or divorced) and reflects emotional and instrumental support. Urbanicity and cohabitation status were obtained from the Danish Civil Registration System at the beginning of the year of surgery for each patient.

Covariates

Sex, age and year of surgery were considered confounders. Data on confounders and the potential mediators were obtained from the DCCG.dk database. These include comorbidity (Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI score 0, 1, 2, and 3+)), smoking (never smoked, former smoker (not smoked for at least 8 weeks) or current smoker), weekly alcohol consumption (0, 1-14, 15-21 or over 21 units per week), Body Mass Index (BMI <18.9, 18.5-25, 25-30, >30), the Union for International Cancer Control stage (UICC stage I-IV), and localization of the tumour (right colon, transverse colon, left colon or rectum).

Statistical methods

The association between socioeconomic position and acute versus elective colorectal cancer surgery was analysed using a logistic regression model. There were no missing data on acute versus elective surgery. Missing data on highest education level, BMI, alcohol, smoking, stage, and localization were handled with multiple imputation using the fully conditional specification method. Ten imputed datasets were generated with all variables included in the multiple imputation, including the primary outcome, acute surgery. The model was adjusted for the confounders; age, sex, and year of surgery and in a second model the potential mediators; CCI score, BMI, smoking, alcohol, tumour localization, and UICC stage. Age was the only continuous variable. Linearity was tested by inserting a squared term in the model

finding age to be non-linear. Thus, in the model, age was included as a linear spline with cut points at the tertiles. Interactions between education, comorbidity, and age, respectively, were tested. There was an interaction between education and age, which was included in the results.

Among the patients who had acute surgery, the association between socioeconomic position and 1-year survival was investigated with cox-proportional hazards regression models with time since surgery as the underlying timescale. There were no missing data on 1-year survival. Missing data on highest attained level of education, BMI, alcohol, smoking, stage, and localization were handled with multiple imputation using the fully conditional specification method. Ten imputed datasets were generated with all variables included in the multiple imputation, including the primary outcome, 1-year survival. The model was adjusted for the confounders; age, sex, and year of surgery and in a second model the potential mediators; CCI score, BMI, smoking, alcohol, tumour localization, and UICC stage. All variables in the model and 1-year survival were included in the imputation.

Survival by education level was illustrated with Kaplan-Meier curves after multiple imputation.

In an additional analysis of patients who underwent acute surgery, it was tested whether there was a difference in survival already 90 days postoperatively with a cox proportional hazards regression model adjusted for age, sex, year of surgery, CCI score, BMI, smoking, alcohol, tumour localization, and UICC stage.

All results were presented with the corresponding 95 per cent confidence interval (CI). Analyses were performed using SAS software, version 9.3. This study was reported to the Danish Data Protection Agency with registration number 2015-41-3726. Under Danish law, registration with the Danish Ethical Committee was not required.

Results

Participant characteristics

In the study period, 35 801 patients were eligible for inclusion and 140 patients were excluded due to at least one exclusion criteria (*Figure 1*). Only one patient was excluded due to migration within one year after acute surgery. In total, 35 661 patients operated for colorectal cancer were included in the study whereof 30 351 (85 per cent) underwent elective surgery and 5 310 (15 per cent) underwent acute surgery. In total, 41 per cent died within the first year after acute surgery. The Kaplan Meier plot illustrates that the unadjusted 1-year survival after acute surgery is lower among the patients with a short education (*Figure 2*). This survival

difference between short versus medium and long education increases gradually with calendar time.

The proportion of acutely operated patients was 17 per cent among patients with a short education and 13 per cent among patients with a long education (*Table 1*). Overall, more patients with a short education smoked (17 per cent), had comorbidities (45 per cent), and a BMI above 30 (16 per cent) (*Table 1*). However, extensive alcohol intake of more than 21 units per week was more common among patients with a long education (7 per cent) (*Table 1*). UICC stage III and IV were distributed equally by education in all patients (*Table 1*); however, among patients who had acute surgery, there was a higher proportion of stage IV disease among patients with a long education (49 per cent) (*Table 2*). The majority of the acutely operated patients were extracted from the DCCG.dk database (73 per cent), while the remaining 27 per cent were included from the NPR.

Educational level was missing for 4 per cent of patients, with the majority (66 per cent) being more than 75 years old. The variables smoking and alcohol had the highest proportion of missing data with 17 per cent missing in both the variables (*Table 1*). Among patients who had acute surgery, information on BMI, smoking, and alcohol was missing in 26 per cent, 33 per cent and 32 per cent, respectively (*Table 2*).

Risk of acute versus elective surgery

There was an interaction between education and age in the model. Short and medium educational levels were associated with an increased risk of having acute colorectal cancer compared to a long education among patients younger than 65 years when adjusting for age, sex, year of surgery, comorbidity, BMI, smoking, alcohol, UICC stage, and tumour localization (Odds Ratio (OR) of 1.58 (95 per cent CI: 1.32-1.91) and 1.34 (95 per cent CI: 1.15-1.55), respectively, *Figure 1*). No association between education and the OR of acute surgery was observed for other age groups. Adjusting for potential mediating factors resulted in only slight changes of the effect estimates. Low income was associated with an increased risk of acute surgery, only significant in the second income quintile with an OR of 1.07 (95 per cent CI: 0.97-1.20) in the lowest and 1.12 (95 per cent CI: 1.01-1.24) in the second lowest income quintile group when adjusting for the same covariates and for education. There was no associated with an OR for acute surgery of 1.35 (95 per cent CI: 1.26-1.46) compared with patients living with a partner in the full-adjusted model (*Figure 1*). The association between confounders/mediators and the risk of acute colorectal cancer surgery is found in the

supplementary Table 1a.

One-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery

Short educational level was associated with poor 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery with a Hazard Ratio (HR) of 1.18 (95 per cent CI: 1.03-1.36) when adjusted for age, sex, year of surgery, comorbidity, BMI, smoking, alcohol, UICC stage, and tumour localization (*Figure 2*). Additionally, low income was associated with a reduced 1-year survival after adjustment. The HR was 1.16 (95 per cent CI 1.01-1.34) in the lowest income quintile and 1.17 (95 per cent CI 1.02-1.35) in the second lowest income quintile. Urbanicity did not have any association with one-year survival after full adjustment. Living alone was associated with poor survival with an adjusted HR of 1.25 (95 per cent CI 1.13-1.38) (*Figure 2*). The association between confounders/mediators and 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery is found in the supplementary Table 1b.

Survival 90 days postoperatively

In acutely operated patients, short education was associated with 90-day postoperative survival in the fully adjusted model, albeit failing to reach statistical significance (adjusted HR =1.14, 95 per cent CI 0.99-1.32).

Discussion

In this study, poor 1-year survival among patients who had acute colorectal cancer surgery was significantly associated with shorter education, low income, and living alone. In patients <65 years of age, education was a risk factor for acute versus elective surgery. In all age groups, low income and living alone were also associated with acute surgery.

Among patients who had acute surgery, there was not sufficient information about the clinical condition such as sepsis or tumour perforation at the time of surgery, which could affect postoperative survival [19, 20]. Lack of these data could introduce residual confounding or mediation in the present results and potentially lead to overestimating the effect of socioeconomic position on 1-year survival.

It is a limitation in this study that four per cent of the included participants had missing data on the main exposure; education, especially among the elderly patients. Missing data in the lifestyle factors BMI, smoking, and alcohol were also pronounced in patients undergoing acute surgery. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation and in the process of imputation, all variables and the primary outcome were included. Multiple imputation is the preferred way to handle missing data and allows uncertainty about the missing data [21].

A major strength of this study is that it is based on a clinical database with a completeness proportion of 95-99 per cent of all patients with colorectal cancer in Denmark. With a nationwide population and very few exclusion criteria, the risk of selection bias is minimal. Furthermore, all data in the study were collected prospectively into the registries, independently of the study hypothesis, minimizing the risk of recall bias.

Despite many structural changes in the treatment of colorectal cancer within the last 10 years in Denmark and a health care system free-of-charge [22, 23] there are still differences in the risk of acute surgery and in survival one year after acute surgery according to socioeconomic position. Ten years ago, a Danish nationwide study showed that long education and living in an owned house compared with a rented house, improved 30-day survival after elective colorectal cancer surgery [1]. Identifying patients via screening could reduce the proportion of acutely operated patients. A British study from 2017 found a 40 per cent reduction in acutely operated patients after introduction of colorectal cancer screening from 23 per cent to 15 per cent (p<0.001) [24]. Participation in a colorectal cancer screening programme also has a socioeconomic gradient. Three recent studies showed that participation in screening increases with level of education, with income, and in patients living with a partner [25-27]. Low socioeconomic position is also associated with the likelihood of submitting a stool sample ineligible for analysis [28]. Taken together, the present results and previous findings indicate that different approaches in screening and treatment of patients with low socioeconomic position might need to be considered in future studies. A French randomized trial from 2017 with 16 250 participants aimed to improve participation of colorectal screening by introducing a navigator programme. A specially trained social worker contacted the non-participant individuals by phone, mail or home visits [29]. The overall participation rate improved 3 per cent from 24 per cent to 21 per cent (p = 0.003) with a higher increase in the individuals livening in affluent areas (4 per cent increase) compared with deprived areas, 3 per cent increase [29]. This implies that navigation might be a strategy to improve participation in all groups but with a relatively small effect of a navigator, the intervention strategy should be improved.

In the present results, the risk estimate for a short education level on survival after acute surgery hardly changes when adjusting for UICC stage, comorbidity, and lifestyle factors. Thus, these potential mediating factors do not seem to explain the social gradient in survival after acutely treated colorectal cancer. One Dutch study from 2014 with 6 736

colorectal cancer patients found that age, comorbidity, and acute surgery explained the educational differences in postoperative 30-day mortality in patients with colon, but not in patients with rectal cancer [30]. A British study from 2006 with 7 290 operated colorectal cancer patients similarly showed that differences in postoperative 30-day mortality were explained by emergency surgery, stage of disease, and comorbidity [31]. In the full model, socioeconomic position was no longer associated with postoperative mortality [31]. No previous studies have specifically investigated the association between socioeconomic position and 1-year survival after acute presentation of colorectal cancer. A Danish nationwide study with data from 2001 to 2004 including 8 763 patients operated for colorectal cancer (85 per cent treated with elective procedures) showed improved long-term and overall survival in patients with a high education level in adjusted analysis [2]. However, in contrast to the present study, the association between educational level and survival was, to a high extent, mediated by lifestyle and particularly comorbidity [2] indicating that drivers of socioeconomic position on health outcomes may be different according to disease trajectory.

The results of this study may be generalized to other countries with a universal health care coverage across all social groups. The estimated effect of socioeconomic position is probably stronger in countries where access to timely and optimal healthcare is yet another barrier for patients with low socioeconomic position [32]. An American study from 2014 with 83 330 patients showed an increased risk of emergency diagnosis of colorectal cancer in African-Americans living in poor neighbourhoods [33].

The main findings in the present study were that short education, low income, and living alone were associated with a greater likelihood of acute colorectal cancer surgery compared with elective and with a decreased 1-year survival after acute colorectal cancer surgery in Denmark, a country with free and equal access to health care services. The social gradient did not seem to be mediated by lifestyle, comorbidity, or disease characteristics in this population and warrants further investigations in order to improve treatment possibilities and survival in patients with colorectal cancer and low socioeconomic position. An increased focus on perioperative optimization, rehabilitation, and surveillance within at least one year after acute surgery could be beneficial in this high-risk patient group in order to improve survival.

Disclosure

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

References

- 1. Frederiksen BL, Osler M, Harling H et al. The impact of socioeconomic factors on 30day mortality following elective colorectal cancer surgery: a nationwide study. Eur J Cancer 2009;45:1248-56.
- Frederiksen BL, Osler M, Harling H et al. Do patient characteristics, disease, or treatment explain social inequality in survival from colorectal cancer? Soc Sci Med 2009;69:1107-15.
- 3. Cavalli-Bjorkman N, Lambe M, Eaker S et al. Differences according to educational level in the management and survival of colorectal cancer in Sweden. Eur J Cancer 2011;47:1398-406.
- 4. Galobardes B, Shaw M, Lawlor DA et al. Indicators of socioeconomic position (part 1). J Epidemiol Community Health 2006;60:7-12.
- Annual report (2017) of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) 2017. https://dccg.dk/wp-content/uploads/2018/10/DCCG-%C3%85rsrapport-2017.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 6. Aquina CT, Becerra AZ, Xu Z et al. Nonelective colon cancer resection: a continued public health concern. Surgery 2017;161:1609-18.
- Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22-5.
- 8. Schmidt M, Pedersen L and Sorensen HT. The Danish Civil Registration System as a tool in epidemiology. Eur J Epidemiol 2014;29:541-9.
- 9. University of Bern https://strobestatement.org/fileadmin/Strobe/uploads/checklists/STROBE_checklist_v4_cohort.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 10. The RECORD checklist https://docs.google.com/viewer?url=http://www.recordstatement.org/Files/checklist/RECORD%20Checklist.docx. Accessed Feb 2019
- 11. https://clinicaltrials.gov/ct2/show/NCT03581890?cond=NCT03581890&rank=1 Accessed February 2019.
- 12. Ingeholm P, Gogenur I and Iversen LH. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:465-68.
- 13. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL and Rebolj M. The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:30-3.
- 14. Statistics Denmark, https://www.dst.dk/en. Accessed February 2019.
- 15. Jensen VM and Rasmussen AW. Danish Education Registers. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:91-4.

- 16. Baadsgaard M and Quitzau J. Danish registers on personal income and transfer payments. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:103-5.
- 17. UNESCO. International standard classification of education ISCED 1997. 2006 p.48.
- Danish Business Authority report on urbanicity municipalities 2017 https://www.livogland.dk/sites/livogland.dk/files/dokumenter/publikationer/rapportkommunetyper.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 19. Al-Temimi MH, Griffee M, Enniss TM et al. When is death inevitable after emergency laparotomy? Analysis of the American College of Surgeons National Surgical Quality Improvement Program database. J Am Coll Surg 2012;215:503-11.
- 20. Iversen LH, Bulow S, Christensen IJ et al. Postoperative medical complications are the main cause of early death after emergency surgery for colonic cancer. Br J Surg 2008;95:1012-9.
- 21. Sterne JA, White IR, Carlin JB et al. Multiple imputation for missing data in epidemiological and clinical research: potential and pitfalls. Bmj 2009;338:b2393.
- 22. Iversen LH. Aspects of survival from colorectal cancer in Denmark. Dan Med J 2012;59:B4428.
- 23. Iversen LH, Green A, Ingeholm P et al. Improved survival of colorectal cancer in Denmark during 2001-2012 the efforts of several national initiatives. Acta Oncol 2016;55 Suppl 2:10-23.
- 24. Askari A, Nachiappan S, Currie A et al. Who requires emergency surgery for colorectal cancer and can national screening programmes reduce this need? Int J Surg 2017;42:60-68.
- 25. Frederiksen BL, Jorgensen T, Brasso K et al. Socioeconomic position and participation in colorectal cancer screening. Br J Cancer 2010;103:1496-501.
- 26. Deding U, Henig AS, Salling A et al. Sociodemographic predictors of participation in colorectal cancer screening. Int J Colorectal Dis 2017;32:1117-24.
- 27. Larsen MB, Mikkelsen EM, Rasmussen M et al. Sociodemographic characteristics of nonparticipants in the Danish colorectal cancer screening program: a nationwide cross-sectional study. Clin Epidemiol 2017;9:345-54.
- 28. Deding U, Torp-Pedersen C and Boggild H. The association between immigration status and ineligible stool samples for colorectal cancer screening. Cancer Epidemiol 2018;57:74-79.
- 29. De Mil R, Guillaume E, Guittet L et al. Cost-effectiveness analysis of a navigation program for colorectal cancer screening to reduce social health inequalities: a French cluster randomized controlled trial. Value Health 2018;21:685-91.

- 30. Dik VK, Aarts MJ, Van Grevenstein WM et al. Association between socioeconomic status, surgical treatment and mortality in patients with colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2014;101:1173-82.
- 31. Smith JJ, Tilney HS, Heriot AG et al. Social deprivation and outcomes in colorectal cancer. Br J Surg 2006;93:1123-31.
- 32. Forrest LF, Sowden S, Rubin G et al. Socio-economic inequalities in stage at diagnosis, and in time intervals on the lung cancer pathway from first symptom to treatment: systematic review and meta-analysis. Thorax 2017;72:430-36.
- 33. Pruitt SL, Davidson NO, Gupta S et al. Missed opportunities: racial and neighborhood socioeconomic disparities in emergency colorectal cancer diagnosis and surgery. BMC Cancer 2014;14:927.

	Highest attained education									
	She	ort	Med	ium	Lo	ng	Miss	sing	Tot	al
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
	10 751	(30)	16 804	(47)	6 720	(19)	1 386	(4)	35 661	
Surgical mode										
Acute	1 791	(17)	2 302	(14)	847	(13)	370	(27)	5 310	(15)
Elective	8 960	(83)	14 502	(86)	5 873	(87)	1 016	(73)	30 351	(85)
Sex										
Men	4 981	(46)	9 622	(57)	3 890	(58)	629	(45)	19 122	(54)
Women	5 770	(54)	7 182	(43)	2 830	(42)	757	(55)	16 539	(46)
Age										
Median age (5%-95% range)									71 (50)-87)
<65	1 955	(18)	6 208	(37)	2 937	(44)	207	(15)	11 307	(32)
65-70	1 686	(16)	3 218	(19)	1 255	(19)	122	(9)	6 281	(18)
71-75	2 289	(21)	3 080	(18)	1 126	(17)	139	(10)	6 634	(19)
>75	4 821	(45)	4 298	(26)	1 402	(21)	918	(66)	11 439	(32)
CCI										
0	5 984	(56)	10 379	(62)	4 502	(67)	671	(48)	21 536	(60)
1	2 1 3 8	(20)	2 848	(17)	1 006	(15)	338	(24)	6 330	(18)
2	1 247	(12)	1 797	(11)	591	(9)	174	(13)	3 809	(11)
≥ 3	1 382	(13)	1 780	(11)	621	(9)	203	(15)	3 986	(11)
BMI										
<18.5	379	(4)	446	(3)	172	(3)	78	(6)	1 075	(3)
18.5-25	3 841	(36)	6 517	(39)	3 052	(45)	551	(40)	13 961	(39)
25-30	3 171	(29)	5 350	(32)	2 048	(30)	291	(21)	10 860	(30)
>30	1 677	(16)	2 535	(15)	718	(11)	116	(8)	5 046	(14)
Missing	1 683	(16)	1 956	(12)	730	(11)	350	(25)	4 719	(13)
Smoking										
Never smoked	3 229	(30)	5 221	(31)	2 379	(35)	433	(31)	11 262	(32)
Former smoker	3 565	(33)	5 895	(35)	2 433	(36)	373	(27)	12 266	(34)
Smoker	1 854	(17)	3 038	(18)	895	(13)	177	(13)	5 964	(17)
Missing	2 103	(20)	2 650	(16)	1 013	(15)	403	(29)	6 169	(17)
Alcohol (units/week)										
0	3 155	(29)	3 249	(19)	1 111	(17)	422	(30)	7 937	(22)
1-14	4 803	(45)	8 832	(53)	3 566	(53)	458	(33)	17 659	(50)
15-21	358	(3)	1 187	(7)	595	(9)	51	(4)	2 191	(6)
>21	337	(3)	1 029	(6)	498	(7)	62	(4)	1 926	(5)
Missing	2 098	(20)	2 507	(15)	950	(14)	393	(28)	5 948	(17)

Table 1. Descriptive characteristics of 35 661 persons treated with surgery for colorectalcancer in Denmark, 2007-2015.

Income										
1st quintile	2 788	(26)	3 286	(20)	569	(8)	320	(23)	6 963	(20)
2nd quintile	2 909	(27)	3 707	(22)	677	(10)	307	(22)	7 600	(21)
3rd quintile	2 012	(19)	3 771	(22)	1 310	(19)	250	(18)	7 343	(21)
4th quintile	1 177	(11)	3 354	(20)	2 325	(35)	271	(20)	7 127	(20)
5th quintile	1 865	(17)	2 686	(16)	1 839	(27)	238	(17)	6 628	(19)
Urbanicity										
City	3 280	(31)	7 393	(44)	3 511	(52)	672	(48)	14 856	(42)
Town	3 983	(37)	4 919	(29)	1 674	(25)	365	(26)	10 941	(31)
Rural	1 866	(17)	2 889	(17)	1 007	(15)	186	(13)	5 948	(17)
Peripheral	1 622	(15)	1 603	(10)	5 28	(8)	163	(12)	3 916	(11)
Cohabitation										
Living with a	5 840	(54)	11 406	(68)	4 760	(71)	509	(37)	22 515	(63)
partner Living alone	4 911	(46)	5 398	(32)	1 960	(29)	877	(63)	13 146	(37)
LICC Stage	7711	(40)	5 570	(52)	1 700	(2))	077	(05)	15 140	(37)
I	1 636	(15)	2 919	(17)	1 257	(19)	149	(11)	5 961	(17)
I	3 545	(33)	5 247	(17)	1 958	(29)	466	(34)	11 216	(17)
III	2 791	(26)	4 412	(26)	1 819	(27)	353	(2.5)	9 375	(26)
IV	1 882	(18)	2 790	(17)	1 169	(17)	244	(18)	6.085	(17)
Missing	897	(10)	1 436	(9)	517	(8)	174	(13)	3 024	(8)
Tumor						(-)	- / -	()		
localization										
Right colon	3 171	(29)	4 391	(26)	1 683	(25)	423	(31)	9 668	(27)
Transverse colon	645	(6)	872	(5)	311	(5)	126	(9)	1 954	(5)
Left colon	3 567	(33)	5 876	(35)	2 522	(38)	495	(36)	12 460	(35)
Rectum	3 344	(31)	5 626	(33)	2 180	(32)	338	(24)	11 488	(32)
Missing	24	(0)	39	(0)	24	(0)	4	(0)	91	(0)
Year of surgery										
2007-2010	4 3 5 0	(40)	5 799	(35)	2 257	(34)	805	(58)	13 211	(37)
2011-2013	3 190	(30)	5 027	(30)	1 946	(29)	316	(23)	10 479	(29)
2014-2016	3 211	(30)	5 978	(36)	2 517	(37)	265	(19)	11 971	(34)

CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index score; BMI, body mass index; UICC, Union for International Cancer Control

	Highest attained education									
	Short		Med	lium	Lo	ong	Mis	sing	Total	
	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)	n	(%)
	1 791	(34)	2 302	(43)	847	(16)	370	(7)	5 310	
1-year										
mortality Yes	807	(45)	828	(36)	300	(35)	225	(61)	2 160	(41)
90-day		()		()		()		(0-)		()
mortality										
Yes	486	(27)	446	(19)	165	(19)	156	(42)	1 253	(24)
Sex										
Men	759	(42)	1 210	(53)	480	(57)	146	(39)	2 595	(49)
Women	1 032	(58)	1 092	(47)	367	(43)	224	(61)	2 715	(51)
Age										
Median age (5%-95% range)									73 (5	0-90)
<65	312	(17)	798	(35)	321	(38)	36	(10)	1 467	(28)
65-70	227	(13)	417	(18)	140	(17)	19	(5)	803	(15)
71-75	283	(16)	367	(16)	131	(15)	17	(5)	798	(15)
>75	969	(54)	720	(31)	255	(30)	298	(81)	2 242	(42)
CCI										
0	846	(47)	1 284	(56)	483	(57)	144	(39)	2 757	(52)
1	353	(20)	394	(17)	125	(15)	91	(25)	963	(18)
2	229	(13)	229	(10)	81	(10)	51	(14)	590	(11)
≥ 3	363	(20)	395	(17)	158	(19)	84	(23)	1 000	(19)
BMI										
<18.5	100	(6)	101	(4)	28	(3)	23	(6)	252	(5)
18.5-25	634	(35)	926	(40)	388	(46)	131	(35)	2 079	(39)
25-30	367	(20)	514	(22)	197	(23)	53	(14)	1 1 3 1	(21)
>30	168	(9)	210	(9)	54	(6)	15	(4)	447	(8)
Missing	522	(29)	551	(24)	180	(21)	148	(40)	1 401	(26)
Smoking										
Never smoked	439	(25)	587	(25)	268	(32)	103	(28)	1 397	(26)
Former smoker	409	(23)	554	(24)	217	(26)	56	(15)	1 236	(23)
Smoker	311	(17)	486	(21)	118	(14)	36	(10)	951	(18)
Missing	632	(35)	675	(29)	244	(29)	175	(47)	1 726	(33)
Alcohol										
(units/week)	489	(27)	484	(21)	176	(21)	101	(27)	1 250	(24)
1-14	590	(33)	915	(40)	363	(43)	85	(23)	1 953	(37)
15-21	38	(2)	119	(5)	36	(4)	6	(2)	199	(4)
>21	46	(3)	121	(5)	48	(6)	8	(2)	223	(4)
Missing	628	(35)	663	(29)	224	(26)	170	(46)	1 685	(32)
0		()		(-)				(-)		<u>()</u>

Table 2. Descriptive characteristics by education of 5 310 persons undergoing acute surgeryfor colorectal cancer, Denmark, 2007-2015.

Income										
1st quintile	480	(27)	455	(20)	72	(9)	94	(25)	1 101	(21)
2nd quintile	481	(27)	554	(24)	88	(10)	93	(25)	1 216	23)
3rd quintile	356	(20)	504	(22)	184	(22)	67	(18)	1 111	(21)
4th quintile	172	(10)	429	(19)	301	(36)	64	(17)	966	(18)
5th quintile	302	(17)	360	(16)	202	(24)	52	(14)	916	(17)
Urbanicity										
City	589	(33)	1061	(46)	457	(54)	177	(48)	2 284	(43)
Town	636	(36)	637	(28)	200	(24)	98	(26)	1 571	(30)
Rural	315	(18)	379	(16)	123	(15)	49	(13)	866	(16)
Peripheral	251	(14)	225	(10)	67	(8)	46	(12)	589	(11)
Cohabitation										
Living with a	801	(45)	1376	(60)	524	(62)	98	(26)	2 799	(53)
partner	000	(55)	026	(10)	222	(20)	272	(7.4)	2 5 1 1	(17)
Living alone	990	(55)	926	(40)	323	(38)	212	(74)	2 511	(47)
UICC Stage										
Ι	27	(2)	38	(2)	15	(2)	8	(2)	88	(2)
II	449	(25)	564	(25)	169	(20)	86	(23)	1 268	(24)
III	438	(24)	552	(24)	193	(23)	82	(22)	1 265	(24)
IV	714	(40)	997	(43)	412	(49)	119	(32)	2 242	(42)
Missing	163	(9)	151	(7)	58	(7)	75	(20)	447	(8)
Tumor										
localization	670	(22)	60.4	(20)	267	(22)	100	(20)	1 (21	(21)
Right colon	572	(32)	684	(30)	267	(32)	108	(29)	1 631	(31)
Transverse colon	161	(9)	197	(9)	65	(8)	49	(13)	472	(9)
Left colon	826	(46)	1 124	(49)	413	(49)	175	(47)	2 538	(48)
Rectum	215	(12)	260	(11)	81	(10)	34	(9)	590	(11)
Missing	17	(1)	37	(2)	21	(2)	4	(1)	79	(1)
Year of surgery										
2007-2010	782	(44)	881	(38)	312	(37)	225	(61)	2 200	(41)
2011-2013	574	(32)	815	(35)	291	(34)	90	(24)	1 770	(33)
2014-2016	435	(24)	606	(26)	244	(29)	55	(15)	1 340	(25)

CCI, Charlson Comorbidity Index score; BMI, body mass index; UICC, Union for International Cancer Control

Figure 1. Flow chart of the study population of persons who were treated with surgery for colorectal cancer in Denmark, 2007-2015



Figure 2. Age-, sex- and year-adjusted and multivariate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) for acute surgery in 35 661 persons operated for colorectal cancer, Denmark, 2007-2015.



Blue line: adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery.

Figure 3. Age-, sex- and year adjusted and multivariate adjusted hazard ratios (HRs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) for 1-year mortality among 5 310 persons treated with acute surgery for colorectal cancer in Denmark, 2007-2015



Blue line: adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery.

Figure S1. Age-, sex- and year-adjusted and multivariate adjusted odds ratios (ORs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) for acute surgery in 35 661 persons operated for colorectal cancer, Denmark, 2007-2015.



Blue line: adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery.



Figure S2. Age-, sex- and year adjusted and multivariate adjusted hazard ratios (HRs) with corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CI) for 1-year mortality among 5 310 persons treated with acute surgery for colorectal cancer in Denmark, 2007-2015

Blue line: adjusted for sex, age and year of surgery.

Prediction of the postoperative 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery, model development and validation.

Authors

Thea Degett^{1,2}, Jane Christensen², Susanne O. Dalton³, Kristine Bossen[?], Kirsten Frederiksen³, Lene H. Iversen^{4,5}, Ismail Gögenur^{1,5}.

- 1. Centre for Surgical Science (CSS), Zealand University Hospital, Denmark
- 2. Documentation and Quality Department, Danish Cancer Society, Denmark
- 3. Unit of Survivorship, Danish Cancer Society Research Centre, Denmark
- 4. Department of Surgery, Section of Coloproctology, Aarhus University Hospital, Denmark.
- 5. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group, Copenhagen

Corresponding author

Thea Helene Degett, MD, PhD student Centre for Surgical Science (CSS), Zealand University Hospital Lykkebækvej 1, 4600 Køge, Denmark Phone number: +45 22 42 28 92, Fax: +45 56 6315 35, Email: <u>theadegett@gmail.com</u> ORCID ID: orcid.org/0000-0001-8224-6052

Abstract

Background Acute colon cancer surgery is associated with a 90-day postoperative mortality of 21%. The aim of this study was to develop and externally validate a model to predict the risk of 90-day mortality after acute colon cancer surgery.

Methods The model was developed by data from all patients undergoing acute colorectal cancer surgery in 2014 and registered in the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) database. The model was externally validated in patients undergoing the same surgery in 2015. The primary outcome was 90-day mortality and the tested predictor variables were age, sex, performance status, BMI, smoking, alcohol, education level, cohabitation, tumour localization, and primary procedure. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation. Selection of included variables was done with backwards selection according to smallest Akaike information criterion (AIC). Bootstrapping was used to shrink the model. Discrimination was evaluated with a Receiver Operated Characteristic (ROC) curve, calibration with a calibration slope, and the overall accuracy of the model was assessed with a Brier score.

Results 535 patients were included in the development of the model and 554 patients in the model validation. The 90-day mortality was 18% in 2014 and 20% in 2015. Age, performance status, alcohol, smoking, and primary procedure were the final variables included in the model. Accuracy and discrimination were acceptable in the internal validation with a Brier score of 0.12 and an area under the curve (AUC) of 0.80. Calibration was not well fitted with a calibration slope of 1.0 and an intercept of 1.0 in the internal validation. External validation shows a good accuracy (Brier score = 0.16), an acceptable discrimination (AUC = 0.72), and a poor calibration with a calibration slope of 1.0 and an intercept of 1.0 and an intercept of 1.0.

Conclusion We developed a prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colon cancer surgery with the variables age, performance status, alcohol, smoking, and diverting stoma. The model had an acceptable accuracy and discrimination in the external validation; however, a poor calibration.

Introduction

The annual incidence of colorectal cancer was estimated to be 1.7 million worldwide and caused around 860,000 deaths in 2018 [1, 2]. These numbers are expected to increase in the future affecting especially low and middle-income countries [3].

Acute colorectal cancer surgery is associated with a high postoperative 30-day mortality of 8%-12% [4-6]. In Denmark, the 90-day postoperative mortality was 21% in 2016 after acute colorectal cancer surgery [6]. The proportion of patients presenting with emergency presentation of colorectal cancer due to obstruction, perforation or bleeding, varies from 13%-26% [5, 7, 8]. In Denmark, around 10% of all colorectal cancer surgery is performed acutely [9].

Prognostic models to predict the postoperative mortality risk have several advantages. A prediction model can be used to improve patient and family counselling in shared decision-making. With an increasing focus on perioperative optimization after emergency surgery, it would be valuable to select the high-risk patients for a more comprehensive perioperative monitoring and treatment [10-13]. High-risk patients might also benefit from short and more spared surgery. Finally, it will be easier to compare the adjusted mortality risks between hospitals, regions and countries adjusting for case-mix. To our knowledge, no other existing model predicts preoperatively the postoperative mortality risk of acute colon cancer surgery.

The aim of this study was to develop and validate a model predicting the risk of 90-mortality after acute colon cancer surgery.

Methods

This article is reported according to the TRIPOD guidelines [14].

Source of data for development and validation

Data for development and validation were collected in the Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG.dk) database [15]. The DCCG.dk database registers the final procedure only, and information about diverting stoma or self-expanding metallic stents (SEMS) in patients getting elective surgery as the final procedure (bridge-to-surgery) was obtained from the National Patient Register (NPR) [16]. All Danish residence have a personal identification number that links information on care and healthcare services to the national registries and databases. All patients undergoing acute colon cancer surgery, according to the DCCG.dk or NPR, and registered with a diagnose in the DCCG.dk database from first of January to 31st of

December 2014 were included in the development dataset. End of follow-up was the first of April 2015. The model was externally validated in a temporal different cohort with all patients from first of January to 31st of December 2015 having the same procedure. End of follow-up was the 1st of April 2015 in the validation cohort. There were no changes in nationwide clinical guidelines concerning acute surgery in the development and validation study period.

DCCG.dk database

The DCCG.dk database is a nationwide, population-based clinical quality database with prospectively collected data [15]. The completeness proportion of all colorectal cancers was 99% in 2014-2015. The database includes all patients diagnosed with adenocarcinomas of the colon or rectum at a surgical department in Denmark. In the database, there is no registration of metachronous cancer or recurrences. In addition, the database only includes patients with tumours that histologically origin from primary adenocarcinoma, mucinous adenocarcinoma, signet ring cell carcinoma, medullary carcinoma, or undifferentiated carcinoma. Each surgical department registers prospectively clinical and pathological data into the DCCG.dk database.

The National Patient Registry

The NPR is a register established in 1977 and holds information on all admissions and outpatient visits at any hospital in Denmark [16]. The variables collected in the NPR are time and date of admission, surgical procedure and final diagnose at discharge [16].

Participants

All patients in both the development and validation cohort underwent an acute surgical procedure for colon cancer at a public surgical department in Denmark. All treatments and care were free-of-charge financed by taxes. In the development cohort, 23 hospitals throughout Denmark performed the surgical procedure, while 22 of the hospitals performed the procedure in the validation cohort.

Patients were eligible for inclusion in the development cohort if they were registered with a colorectal cancer diagnose in 2014 in DCCG.dk and a surgical procedure. Procedures included right hemicolectomy, transverse colectomy, left hemicolectomy, sigmoid colectomy, Hartmann's procedure, other colectomy +/- stoma, diverting stoma, intestinal bypass, subtotal/total colectomy, examination under anaesthesia only, anterior resection +/stoma, or insertion of SEMS. Patients registered in NPR in 2014 with a SEMS or diverting stoma as only procedure within 72 hours after admission were also included. Eligibility criteria were the same for the validation cohort except that the year of diagnose and surgery was 2015.

In both the development and the validation cohort, patients were excluded if they were registered with an elective surgical procedure prior to the acute procedure, if registered in the DCCG.dk with a local procedure or APE (abdominoperineal excision), if registered with a date of death prior to surgical date, or migrated or disappeared within 90 days after the acute surgical procedure.

Outcome

The primary outcome was postoperative 90-day mortality. The vital status was obtained from the Danish Civil Registration System (CRS) that holds continuously updated information on vital status on all Danish residents linked via the personal identification number assigned to all Danish residence [17].

Predictors

We aimed to develop a model to predict mortality bedside before acute colon cancer surgery. Thus, only variables known prior to surgery were eligible as candidate predictors. Two surgical professors in colorectal cancer selected a list of nine candidate predictors prior to model development based on the literature. The candidates included age, sex, WHO performance score, body mass index (BMI), smoking, alcohol, educational level, cohabitation, tumour localization, and primary procedure, *Table 1*. The surgeon registered patient-related factors during the perioperative period such as performance status, BMI, alcohol, smoking, tumour localization and surgical procedure. Age and sex were incorporated in the unique identification number.

Sample size

Based on previous annual reports from DCCG.dk, we expected the 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery to be around 20%. According to the rule of thumb, ten events are required per candidate predictor to reduce the risk of overfitting [18]. We expected around 400-500 patients undergoing surgical resection per year and tested ten candidate predictors.

Missing data

In the DCCG.dk database, there were no missing values in age, sex, procedure performed, mortality and date of mortality. This is due to the personal identification number and the

diagnose-based payment system in Denmark. Lifestyle variables had most missing values in the DCCG.dk database. We did not expect that missing values on lifestyle variables depended on the observed values and assumed missing values to be missing at random. Missing data were handled with multiple imputation.

In both the development and validation of the model, multiple imputation was performed independently with ten imputed datasets. There were missing values on performance score, BMI, smoking, alcohol, educational level, cohabitation, and tumour localization. In the imputation of the ten datasets, all candidate predictors and outcome were included (90-day mortality, age, sex, performance score, BMI, alcohol, smoking, education level, cohabitation, tumour localization, and primary procedure).

Model building

The model predicting 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery was conducted with a logistic regression model. After multiple imputation, predictor variables were selected by backwards selection according to the minimum Akaike information criterion (AIC). One thousand bootstrapping models were generated to create a shrinkage factor, including a slope and an intercept, and incorporated in the final model to minimize the risk of overfitting [18]. Quantitative variables were tested for linearity by inserting a squared term in the model. Age and BMI were found linear. The operative risk of each patient was calculated by adding the scores of each predictor variable in the development cohort, for internal validation, and in the validation cohort for external validation.

Performance of the model was evaluated similarly in development and validation of the prediction model. Accuracy of the prediction model was tested with a Brier score [19]. Discrimination was tested with c-statistics, Receiver Operated Characteristic (ROC) curve analysis [20]. An Area Under the Curve (AUC) between 0.7 and 0.8 was regarded as "fair discrimination", and values higher than 0.8 were regarded as "good discrimination" [21]. Calibration was tested with a calibration slope. When the slope is 1.0 and the intercept cuts zero in both axis, the calibration slope is optimal with concordance between the observed and predicted mortality risk in all risk groups.

All analysis were performed using SAS software, version 9.4.

Results

In the development cohort, we included 535 patients operated in 2014 and excluded eight patients based on one of the exclusion criteria, *Figure 1*. The mean age was 73 years, 52%

were women, 31% of the patients had a performance status ≥ 2 , 7% were underweight while 10% were obese, 49% smoked now or were former smokers, 4% drank more alcohol than recommended. A medium educational level was most common (49%) and cohabitation was equally distributed with 48% living alone. The tumours were primarily located to the left side (44%), rectum cancer counted for 11%, and 70% had a surgical procedure as primary intervention. The 90-day mortality rate was 18% in the development cohort, *Table 1*.

In the validation cohort, 554 patients were included of the 568 patients eligible for inclusion. The reason for exclusion of 14 patients was mainly registration of elective surgery prior to acute surgery, *Figure 1*. With some exceptions, the demographics was almost similar. The mean age was 72 years and 51% were women. Performance status was overall better than in the development cohort with 20% having a score of ≥ 2 . More patients in the development cohort were overweight and 38% had a BMI >25. Weekly alcohol intake was the same (4% drank more than recommended) and 46% smoked now or previously. Medium educational level was also the most frequent (42%) and 45% lived without a partner. Forty percent of the tumours were localized in the left colon and 9% in the rectum. Surgery was the most common primary procedure (68%). The 90-day postoperative mortality rate was 24% in the validation cohort, *Table 1*.

The developed prediction model and internal validation

The variables selected in the prediction model were age, performance status, alcohol, smoking and primary procedure, *Table 2*. In the internal validation, the accuracy was good with a Brier score of 0.12. The model had a good discrimination with an AUC of 0.80. The calibration of the model showed a good slope of 1.0. However, the intercept was 1.0 indicating suboptimal baseline risk prediction, *Table 3*.

External validation

In the temporal, external validation of the prediction model, the accuracy was good with a Brier score of 0.16. The discrimination was acceptable with an AUC of 0.72. Also in the external validation, the calibration of the model showed a good slope of 1.0 and a suboptimal intercept of 1.0 meaning that the baseline risk was estimated too high, *Table 3*.

Discussion

With this study, we present the first preoperative prediction model for 90-day mortality after acute colorectal cancer surgery. The model was developed in 535 Danish patients and the

predictor variables selected were age, performance score, weekly alcohol intake, smoking status and primary surgical procedure. The internal validation showed good accuracy, good discrimination, but poor calibration due to overestimation of the background risk. In the external validation of all patients operated in 2015, the accuracy was good, the discrimination was acceptable, and the calibration was poor.

A limitation in the development of this prediction model was that there could be a power issue. In prediction models, there is a rule of thumb that the degree of freedom of candidate predictor variables should be less than one for each outcome event [22]. In the development, this only gives 9 degrees of freedom. A further limitation in this study is that data were not collected prospectively which limits the possible predictor variables to those available in the DCCG.dk dataset [23]. In the present study, lack of important predictor variables can cause residual confounding and decrease the performance of the prediction model [23]. Compared with regular retrospective studies, register-based studies have a minimal risk of recall bias due to prospective collection of data, a major strength in the present study [24]. It would still be better to use data from a randomized controlled trial (RCT) due to the risk of confounding by indication in observational studies in the choice of primary surgical procedure [25]. The primary surgical procedure was included in the final prediction model. However, due to the risk of confounding by indication and no assumption of a causal relation between procedure and outcome, changing the procedure from e.g. resection to SEMS might not change the risk of 90-day mortality. Previous studies have showed that SEMS and surgical resection are equivalent treatment strategies in the risk of short-term mortality [26, 27].

It is a major strength in this study that data are retracted from a nation-wide database with a completeness proportion of 99% [15]. It reduces selection bias and improves similarities between the cohort the model was developed on and the target population it should be extrapolated to. It is a main issue in development of prediction models to choose an appropriate and representative population for the study question [23, 28]. The register-based data also enable us to follow all patients 90 days postoperatively and no patients had missing data on the outcome. We chose a clearly defined primary outcome with no risk of misclassification, important for the patients and a relevant clinical measurement. All variables were available at the time the model was intended to be used, they were similar for all patients, and they were collected independently of knowledge of the outcome [28].

The existing prediction models for postoperative mortality after colorectal cancer are not specific for acute surgery. Several know models such as the physiological and operative severity score for the enumeration of mortality (POSSUM), the Portsmouth Possum (P-POSSUM), the colorectal POSSUM (CR-POSSUM) and the prediction model from the association of Coloproctology in Great Britain and Ireland (ACPGBI) have showed good results in predicting postoperative mortality in colorectal cancer [29] [30-33]. The main problem with the known prediction model is that they are not specific for acute surgery and that they all include perioperative and postoperative variables. Knowing the operative mortality after surgery is more of academic or statistic interest; thus, it is too late to change anything in the treatment strategy. It is important to decide when in the treatment, the model is to be applied to get most clinical impact [18]. The model developed in this present study is important in the perioperative decision and treatment strategies. It is important to test the model in a clinical trial with clinical consequences of a high score, to investigate the clinical impact of the model.

In conclusion, we have developed a model that predicts 90-day mortality after colorectal cancer surgery by age, performance status, smoking status, alcohol consumption, and primary procedure. In the interval validation, the model had a good discrimination, a good accuracy and a poor calibration. In the external validation, the mode showed good accuracy, acceptable discrimination and poor calibration due to underestimation of the baseline mortality risk.
References

- 1. Vos T, Abajobir AA, Abbafati C et al. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 328 diseases and injuries for 195 countries, 1990-2016: a systematic analysis for the Global Burden of Disease study 2016. Lancet 2017;390:1211-59.
- 2. Bray F, Ferlay J, Soerjomataram I et al. Global cancer statistics 2018: GLOBOCAN estimates of incidence and mortality worldwide for 36 cancers in 185 countries. CA Cancer J Clin 2018;68:394-424.
- 3. Arnold M, Sierra MS, Laversanne M et al. Global patterns and trends in colorectal cancer incidence and mortality. Gut 2017;66:683-91.
- 4. McArdle CS and Hole DJ. Emergency presentation of colorectal cancer is associated with poor 5-year survival. Br J Surg 2004;91:605-9.
- 5. Oliphant R, Mansouri D, Nicholson GA et al. Emergency presentation of nodenegative colorectal cancer treated with curative surgery is associated with poorer short and longer-term survival. Int J Colorectal Dis 2014;29:591-8.
- 6. Annual report of Danish Colorectal Cancer Group (DCCG) 2016. https://dccg.dk/wp-content/uploads/2017/10/Aarsrapport_2016.pdf. Accessed February 2019.
- 7. Elliss-Brookes L, McPhail S, Ives A et al. Routes to diagnosis for cancer determining the patient journey using multiple routine data sets. Br J Cancer 2012;107:1220-6.
- 8. McPhail S, Elliss-Brookes L, Shelton J et al. Emergency presentation of cancer and short-term mortality. Br J Cancer 2013;109:2027-34.
- 9. Degett TH, Dalton SO, Christensen J et al. Mortality after emergency treatment of colorectal cancer and associated risk factors-a nationwide cohort study. Int J Colorectal Dis 2019;34:85-95.
- 10. Huddart S, Peden CJ, Swart M et al. Use of a pathway quality improvement care bundle to reduce mortality after emergency laparotomy. Br J Surg 2015;102:57-66.
- 11. Tengberg LT, Bay-Nielsen M, Bisgaard T et al. Multidisciplinary perioperative protocol in patients undergoing acute high-risk abdominal surgery. Br J Surg 2017;104:463-71.
- 12. Vester-Andersen M, Waldau T, Wetterslev J et al. Randomized multicentre feasibility trial of intermediate care versus standard ward care after emergency abdominal surgery (InCare trial). Br J Surg 2015;102:619-29.
- 13. Vester-Andersen M, Waldau T, Wetterslev J et al. Effect of intermediate care on mortality following emergency abdominal surgery. The InCare trial: study protocol,

rationale and feasibility of a randomised multicentre trial. Trials 2013;14:37 doi: 10.1186/1745-6215-14-37

- 14. Moons KG, Altman DG, Reitsma JB et al. Transparent reporting of a multivariable prediction model for individual prognosis or diagnosis (TRIPOD): explanation and elaboration. Ann Intern Med 2015;162:W1-73.
- 15. Ingeholm P, Gogenur I and Iversen LH. Danish Colorectal Cancer Group database. Clin Epidemiol 2016;8:465-68.
- 16. Lynge E, Sandegaard JL and Rebolj M. The Danish National Patient Register. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:30-3.
- 17. Pedersen CB. The Danish Civil Registration System. Scand J Public Health 2011;39:22-5.
- 18. Moons KG, Kengne AP, Woodward M et al. Risk prediction models: I. Development, internal validation, and assessing the incremental value of a new (bio)marker. Heart 2012;98:683-90.
- Steyerberg EW, Vickers AJ, Cook NR et al. Assessing the performance of prediction models: a framework for traditional and novel measures. Epidemiology 2010;21:128-38.
- 20. Royston P, Moons KG, Altman DG et al. Prognosis and prognostic research: developing a prognostic model. Bmj 2009;338:b604.
- 21. Hanley JA and McNeil BJ. The meaning and use of the area under a receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve. Radiology 1982;143:29-36.
- 22. Harrell FE, Jr., Lee KL, Matchar DB et al. Regression models for prognostic prediction: advantages, problems, and suggested solutions. Cancer Treat Rep 1985;69:1071-77.
- 23. D'Amico G, Malizia G and D'Amico M. Prognosis research and risk of bias. Intern Emerg Med 2016;11:251-60.
- 24. Thygesen LC and Ersboll AK. When the entire population is the sample: strengths and limitations in register-based epidemiology. Eur J Epidemiol 2014;29:551-8.
- 25. Kyriacou DN and Lewis RJ. Confounding by indication in clinical research. Jama 2016;316:1818-19.
- 26. De Ceglie A, Filiberti R, Baron TH et al. A meta-analysis of endoscopic stenting as bridge to surgery versus emergency surgery for left-sided colorectal cancer obstruction. Crit Rev Oncol Hematol 2013;88:387-403.
- 27. Amelung FJ, de Beaufort HW, Siersema PD et al. Emergency resection versus bridge to surgery with stenting in patients with acute right-sided colonic obstruction: a

systematic review focusing on mortality and morbidity rates. Int J Colorectal Dis 2015;30:1147-55.

- 28. Wolff RF, Moons KGM, Riley RD et al. PROBAST: a tool to assess the risk of bias and applicability of prediction model studies. Ann Intern Med 2019;170:51-58.
- 29. Richards CH, Leitch FE, Horgan PG et al. A systematic review of POSSUM and its related models as predictors of post-operative mortality and morbidity in patients undergoing surgery for colorectal cancer. J Gastrointest Surg 2010;14:1511-20
- Ozkan O, Guner A, Kaya U et al. Evaluation of CR-POSSUM, original ACPGBI and new ACPGBI scoring systems for colorectal cancer surgery. Chirurgia 2014;109:800-5.
- 31. Richards CH, Leitch EF, Anderson JH et al. The revised ACPGBI model is a simple and accurate predictor of operative mortality after potentially curative resection of colorectal cancer. Ann Surg Oncol 2011;18:3680-5.
- 32. Kumar P and Rodrigues GS. Comparison of POSSUM and P-POSSUM for riskadjusted audit of patients undergoing emergency laparotomy. Ulus Travma Acil Cerrahi Derg 2009;15:19-22.
- 33. Mohil RS, Bhatnagar D, Bahadur L et al. POSSUM and P-POSSUM for risk-adjusted audit of patients undergoing emergency laparotomy. Br J Surg 2004;91:500-3.

Figure 1. Flow chart of patient exclusion in the development (dev) and validation (val) cohort.



* Abdominoperineal excision of rectum, transanal endoscopic microsurgery (TEM), and other local procedures including polypectomy

	Development cohort		Validation cohort	
	No of pat	tients (%)	No of patients (%)	
Total	535		554	
90-day mortality				
Yes	94	(18)	135	(24)
Sex				
Men	255	(48)	273	(49)
Women	280	(52)	281	(51)
Age				
Mean (+/- SD)	73	(12)	72	(12)
<65-70	132	(25)	144	(26)
>70-75	82	(15)	92	(17)
>75-80	74	(14)	91	(16)
>80	247	(46)	227	(41)
Performance status				
0	184	(34)	224	(40)
1	139	(26)	169	(31)
2	99	(19)	76	(14)
3+	64	(12)	34	(6)
Missing	49	(9)	51	(9)
BMI				
< 18.5	35	(7)	30	(5)
>18,5-24	290	(54)	278	(50)
25 - 30	117	(22)	157	(28)
> 30	53	(10)	58	(10)
Missing	40	(7)	31	(6)
Smoking				
Smoker	122	(23)	103	(19)
Former smoker ¹	137	(26)	151	(27)
No	156	(29)	196	(35)
Missing	120	(22)	104	(19)
Alcohol				
Within recommended ²	370	(69)	416	(75)
More than recommended	24	(4)	22	(4)
Missing	141	(26)	116	(21)
Educational level				
Long	96	(18)	109	(20)
Medium	260	(49)	234	(42)
Short	152	(28)	187	(34)
Missing	27	(5)	24	(4)

Table 1. Demography of development and validation cohort

Cohabitation				
Living with a partner	275	(51)	306	(55)
Living alone	259	(48)	248	(45)
Missing	1	(0)	0	(0)
Tumour localization				
Right colon ³	173	(32)	181	(33)
Transverse colon	42	(8)	60	(11)
Left colon ⁴	236	(44)	219	(40)
Rectum	57	(11)	52	(9)
Missing	27	(5)	42	(8)
Primary Procedure				
Stent	163	(30)	175	(32)
Surgery	372	(70)	379	(68)

1. Not smoked for minimum 8 weeks. 2. Recommended is categorized as less than 14 units per week for women and less than 21 units per week for men. 3.

	Risk group	Score
Age		
	<65	0.00
	>65-70	0.92
	>70-75	1.08
	>75	1.67
Performance Score		
i citormance Score	0	0.00
	1	1.11
	2	1.45
	3-4	2.14
Alcohol (weekly		
recommendation) ¹		
	Below	0.00
	Above	0.78
Smoking		
8	Never smoked	0.00
	Former smoker ²	0.45
	Smoker	0.89
Primary procedure		
~ -	Stent	0.00
	Surgery	0.48

 Table 2. Prediction Model.

1. Above weekly recommendation is defined as >14 units/week for women and >21 units/week for men. 2. Not smoked for minimum weeks. In(R/1-R) = -4.66788 + (score), where R is the risk of death

Lable 5. Internal and external valuation of the mode	Table 3.	Internal	and	external	validation	of the	model
---	----------	----------	-----	----------	------------	--------	-------

	Internal validation	Extern validation
Brier	0.12	0.16
AUC	0.80	0.72
Calibration slope (intercept)	1.0 (1.00)	1.0 (1.00)